Public Document Pack

Notice of Meeting:

North West

' VEaling

www.ealing.gov.uk London Joint
Health Overview &
Scrutiny
Committee
(JHOSC)

Meeting Location: Council Chamber, Ealing Town Hall, New
Broadway, Ealing W5 2BY

Date and Time: Wednesday, 8 March 2023 at 10.00 am

Contact for Enquiries: Email: democraticservices@ealing.gov.uk

Telephone: 020 8825 6253

Chief Executive: Tony Clements

Committee Membership: Councillors

Councillor Sheth (Chair) London Borough of Brent

Councillor Crawford (Vice Chair) London Borough of Ealing
Councillor Perez London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
Councillor Knight Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
Councillor Sharma London Borough of Hounslow

Councillor Denys London Borough of Hillingdon

Councillor Halai London Borough of Harrow
Councillor Piddock London Borough of Westminster
Councillor Vollum  London Borough of Richmond - non-voting

Page 1



AGENDA

1 Apologies for Absence
To note any apologies for absence and substitutions.
2 Urgent Matters

To consider any urgent matters that the Chair has
agreed should be considered at the meeting.

3 Declarations of Interest
To note any declarations of interest made by Members.
4 Matters to be Considered in Private
To determine whether items contain information that is
exempt from disclosure by virtue of Part 1 of Schedule
12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
5 Minutes (Pages 3 - 10)

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the
meeting held on 7 December 2022.

6 Elective Orthopaedic Centre - Summary of (Pages 11 - 168)
Consultation and Proposal

7 North West London Integrated Care System Update (Pages 169 -

178)

8 Inpatient Mental Health Bed Capacity across North (Pages 179 -

West London 186)

9 North West London JHOSC Recommendations and (Pages 187 -

Information Requests Tracker 198)

10 North West London JHOSC Work Programme (Pages 199 -

Update 202)

Published: 28 February 2023

Page 2



Agenda Iltem 5

Minutes of a meeting of the NWL Joint Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee held at the
Town Hall, Hornton Street, London W8 7NX
at 10am on 7t December 2022.

PRESENT
MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE

Clir. Ketan Sheth (Chair)

Clir. Daniel Crawford (Vice-Chair)
CliIr. Chetna Halai

Clir. Lucy Knight

Clir. Natalia Perez

CliIr. Angela Piddock

Clir. Marina Sharma

ClIr. Claire Vollum

OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE

Rory Hegarty, Director of Communications and Engagement, NWL NHS
Rob Hurd, Chief Executive of NWL ICS
Lesley Watts, Chief Executive of Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

VIRTUAL ATTENDANCE

Charlotte Bailey, Executive Director of Organisational Development and People.
Sanjeet Johal, Breast Screening Recovery Programme Director

Claire Murdoch, Chief Executive of the Central and North West London NHS
Foundation Trust

Public agenda

A1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Clir. Nick Denys.
A2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The Chair, Councillor Ketan Sheth (London Borough of Brent) declared that he
was the Lead Governor at Central & North West London NHS Foundation Trust
(CNWL).

A3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 12 OCTOBER 2022

The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 20 October 2022 were
confirmed as a correct record.

A4. ELECTIVE RECOVERY AND CANCER CARE BACKLOG
The report was introduced by Lesley Watts and Sanjeet Johal. They highlighted

Page 3



that these were challenging times recovering from the pandemic and more
needed to be done to address the dual challenge of the backlog from the
pandemic period and the increase in referrals. Work was underway to improve
the accuracy of the waiting list, known as the Patient Tracker List (PTL) amongst
other programmes.

The Committee discussed the report and the following points were made:

Members of the Committee sought clarity regarding the progress of validating
the data on the waiting list. Lesley Watts responded, stating that the work was
ongoing and regular reports were made through trust boards to communicate
how many patients were being taken off waiting lists.

Members asked for further information about the patient journey, how patients
were prioritised, and the impact of the backlog on patients. They were
informed that harm reviews took place whilst patients remained on the waiting
list. If symptoms worsened, they could go back to the GP and changes made
if needed. Patients could also contact the hospitals more directly if needed.
This was reviewed both locally and at a London-wide level on a regular basis,
through an escalating review process, and was also scrutinised by the
Integrated Care System. The waiting list had been brought together to cover
the whole of North West London to ensure care was prioritised where needed
most and inequalities minimized.

Members identified that NWL was performing better on numbers of patients
seen within 2 weeks and enquired what was driving this achievement. Lesley
Watts paid tribute to the work of her colleagues and stated that trusts were
trying to share risk and collaborate across organisations to meet demand.
North West London had seen the biggest increase in referrals of around 5%.
Lesley Watts stated that this reflected the amount of work GPs were
undertaking to meet the demand, and whilst evidenced that there was further
work to be done, noted that it was positive to see more people coming forward
to seek treatment. Programmes including a new advice and guidance service
and work to bring out the need in primary care contributed to this increase.
Members enquired what breast screening campaigns were being targeted
towards minority communities and those who did not fall within the specific
50-70 age gap. Sanjeet Johal stated that they were targeting daughters of
those in the 50-70 age bracket, educating them on recognising symptoms and
promoting them to encourage family members. Work was taking place with
specific faith groups, minority communities, places of worship, schools, and
community leaders to champion reast screenings. There were multiple
targeted interventions used to provide a nuanced and locally lead approach.
Workforce shortages provided challenges and so some targeted campaigns
were limited in their capacity. In response to a question about uptake,
following the pandemic recovery was in progress and in 12 months the aim
was for a 60% uptake. This was below the 70% optimal standard.

The Committee discussed inequalities and differential access depending on
specific needs such as learning disabilities, and the role of partnerships within
this. Lesley Watts and Rob Hurd explained that partners helped to contribute
to data about outreach, and work with the Royal Marsden Cancer Alliance
was very effective in bringing together of cancer services and tackling this
issue.

Page 4



The Chair summarised the discussion.

Information Requests:

- Toreceive the data validation figures on waiting lists numbers, that the NWL
system has sight of to be shared with the JHOSC.

- To receive details of best practice in terms of Breast Screening uptake broken
down by place for the NWL system.

- Toreceive data and information on best practice in elective recovery in regard
to North West London.

Recommendation:

- To recommend that JHOSC members and community leaders are utilised to
feedback and share messaging on Breast Screening and elective recovery
with our communities.

A5 WINTER PLANNING

Lesley Watts introduced the item and laid out the plan to meet increased demand.
She recognised that it was challenging and identified a small increase in Covid-19,
Flu and Strep A as potential challenges.

The Committee discussed the report and the following points were made:

e Members enquired how specifically the extra £3million allocated to funding
was going to be used. Rob Hurd stated that this was contained within the
£15million winter plan funding. There were two main pots for Winter Plan
funding, one of which is the £15million derived from £12million from national
government and an additional £3million provided more locally to help meet
targets for the year. The second pot of £16million was derived from 60% local
funding and 40% from local authorities. The 60% would be passed on through
the better care fund. The funds would be used to provide additional capacity
in community beds, care homes, and inpatient beds. This funding would be
spread across NWL with the criteria being applied that initiatives would create
extra capacity and ensure good flow. Work with Local Authority social
services would also be key to reduce lengths of stays and move patients to
more appropriate settings when needed.

e Members expressed concern about community care and support provided to
patients due to workforce shortages. Lesley Watts stated that this money
would help to improve this and that time was needed to evidence the
demonstrate improvements.

e Members enquired about the inclusion of annual funding to support mental
health and what that funding would be going forwards. Rob Hurd stated that
in addition to the Mental Health Investment Standard, funding would look to
support crisis centres and additional new models of care in Mental Health,
particularly around providing appropriate therapeutic settings. For NHS staff,
there was a health and wellbeing offer to staff, including therapy and support
with childcare. Lesley Watts acknowledged that more could be done for GPs

Page 5



but there were difficulties here as they were not directly employed by the
hospitals.

Members enquired about the impact to the Strep A crisis and the plans ahead.
Lesley Watts stated that Strep A reoccurred every year, to which children
could be vulnerable. This year, as due to the pandemic children had not been
at school, there was less natural build-up of immunity. Good campaigns had
been held by government and health authorities. Most cases would be a
normal respiratory illness, but health services would need to pick up problem
cases very quickly so concerned parents should request cases to be
reviewed. Rory Hegarty added that this was a live issue and key messaging
was being developed with regional and national colleagues.

The Committee discussed the impact of strikes upon the NHS and asked what
measures were being taken to mitigate any impacts. Rob Hurd confirmed that
they had set up mechanisms to ensure that urgent care services were
maintained during industrial action which also worked with London Ambulance
services.

The Chair summarised the discussion.

Information Requests:

To receive information on how additional winter funding will be used at a
borough level, and what the impact of this funding will be for our residents.
To receive more information on the collaboration between the ICS and Local
Authorities on winter planning.

Recommendations:

To recommend that JHOSC members and community leaders are utilised as
a way of communicating messages to our communities and for the NWL ICS
to review the opportunities to tackle inequalities together.

To recommend that information on winter planning is distributed more widely
than local authority communications teams.

A6 NWL WORKFORCE STRATEGY

The item was introduced by Charlotte Bailey and Claire Murdoch.

They summarised the report and stated that key to the strategy was partnerships,
such as ongoing work with Local Authorities, job centres and charities. Goals
included making joining the NHS easier through innovative programmes.

The Committee discussed the report and the following points were raised.

Members enquired how they were attracting longer term unemployed
individuals to NHS roles and how Local Authorities could add value to these.
Claire Murdoch stated that they were working with Local Authorities on job
centres to fast-track applications and remove barriers that may stop people
from applying. Positive work had also taken place with care leavers in
conjunction with Local Authorities

Page 6



¢ A health and social care academy had been mobilised which brought together
a number of organisations to consider recruitment in the local communities.
They had a target of 2500 learners by 2025 and had currently mobilised
around 300.

e Members noted that racism against BAME staff was not addressed in the
strategy and enquired how the NHS were feeding this issue into the strategy.
Claire Murdoch stated that a large amount of work focused on tackling
equalities. Key issues included tackling climate and leadership cultures, and
they were collectively working to set model employer goals. It was recognised
that there was a lower percentage of BAME staff in higher grade roles, and to
tackle this they had implemented programmes such as stretch targets and
supportive buddy systems. This was monitored through a monthly inclusion
board.

e Members enquired about staff shortages and how the NHS were being agile
to spread good practice and roll out successful schemes. Issues were
compared through the London People Board which was instrumental in
shaping and bringing back best practice.

e Members asked what the NHS were learning from the data about first year
leavers. Claire Murdoch responded that there was a focus on retention and
they had recognised that flexible working was valued by a huge number of
staff. They recognised how this issue also spoke to wider market changes and
how staff were often flowing into agencies or other trusts who were also
experiencing recruitment issues and therefore offering high salaries, which
due to the current economic crisis was tempting to many staff members.
Collaborative work with others was needed to level this issue. Charlotte Bailey
further clarified that the turnover figures also included staff who were
progressing. Consideration had been given to topics such as pay terms and
conditions and how to support progression across and within trusts through a
talent programme.

The Chair sent his thanks to all frontline staff for their great work.

Information Requests:

- To receive information on how NHS NWL is tackling racism towards its staff
as part of its workforce strategy.

Recommendations:

- To recommend that tackling racism towards NHS staff to be included and
highlighted as an explicit part of the NHS NWL workforce strategy.

A7 INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM UPDATE

Rob Hurd introduced the item. He outlined the importance of partnership working
and stated that work on a constitution for the Integrated Care Service (ICS) was
ongoing. The three priorities currently were to coproduce and agree a strategy, co-
ordinate delivery, and work in partnership with NHS England to monitor performance.

The Committee discussed the item and the following points were raised.

Page 7



Members welcomed the recognition given to Local Authority partners and
enquired about the timeline for the constitution. Rob Hurd stated that they
were operating upon the proposed constitution and the expected timelines
was a few months.

Members commented that engagement should be broad and accessible so
that specific community knowledge could feed into the plans and address the
breadth of the ICS.

The UTC procurement was ongoing, and a decision was expected shortly.
Members expressed the difficulties residents had reported getting GP
appointments and hubs, which was putting extra strain on hospitals. Current
figures showed around a 140% level of appointments compared to pre-
pandemic levels, 63% of which were face to face appointments, but
recognised the lived experiences that residents were reporting. GPs were
very overloaded and although there were more appointments available than
ever before and new systems to help provide better access, these systems
were quickly becoming overwhelmed by demand. Efforts to improve access
was ongoing. Rory Hegarty added that a large part of winter campaigns was
to communicate the best pathways to healthcare as to reduce pressure on
A&E services. Members emphasised that regular GP access was a key
resident concern.

Members enquired if there would be patient transport services available to the
proposed orthopaedic centres. Lesley Watts stated that this would be part of
the consultation to understand the need, considering the potential for
increased travel times for the low-risk patients affected by the proposed
changes. Members commented that the patient flow and available public
transport was an ongoing issue in North West London.

Members commended the work that had taken place around encouraging
vaccinations and enquired why flu vaccine uptake was not as hoped. Lesley
Watts identified a public exhaustion with vaccination, but this was a concern
as this added to winter pressures. She commended Local Authorities for their
work promoting vaccinations during the pandemic and stated that all platforms
were being used to promote uptake.

Members enquired about how feedback regarding the LNWH Sickle Cell
service was being monitored and actioned upon. Feedback was being
carefully considered and recommendations and actions were being published
going forward, as this was a key area of focus.

Information Requests:

To receive information on the proposed lengths of contracts as set out in the
procurement update on 3.9 of the update report.

Recommendations:

To recommend that the committee is consulted with on plans for the
upcoming primary care campaign. With a focus group of JHOSC members
explored as one of the methods of delivering this consultation piece.

A8: ANY OTHER ORAL OR WRITTEN ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIR CONSIDERS
URGENT

Page 8



There were none.

The meeting ended at 12.05pm.

Chair

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 6

Report to the North West London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny
Committee

8 March 2023

Report Title: Elective Orthopaedic Centre — Summary of Consultation and
Proposal

Report Author: NHS North West London

Purpose

To receive a report from on the results of the North West London London Elective
Orthopaedic Centre public consultation, the key themes and emerging responses,
and update on developing a ‘decision-making business case’ for the proposal and
next steps.

The North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to
provide its feedback following formal consideration of the proposal and the
consultation and other feedback at its 8 March 2023 meeting.

Detail
Summary of the proposal

The attached report provides a summary of the proposal to bring together much of
the routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery for the population of north west London
in a purpose-designed, centre of excellence at Central Middlesex Hospital,
completely separated from emergency care services. It draws on similar models of
care working successfully across the NHS.

Summary of public consultation and outcome

The public consultation period ran from 19 October 2022 to 20 January 2023. The
public consultation report was published and distributed on 8 February 2023 — it
was independently prepared by Verve Communications Limited. The public
consultation document is provided in full as an appendix. A summary of the public
consultation and outcome is provided in the attached report.

A total of 1,959 people participated in the consultation. Overall, participants
thought that the proposal for an elective orthopaedic centre for most routine
surgery was a good idea and hoped that it would help to reduce waiting times for
patients, while there were some people who would prefer to have all their
treatment at their local hospitals for convenience. Of the 807 people who
participated via an online survey, 59 per cent agreed with the proposal to develop
an elective orthopaedic centre in north west London and 31 per cent disagreed;
patients and carers were more likely to agree than staff or others. When

asked about siting the elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital,
39 per cent of people agreed with the proposal and 41 per cent disagreed with it;
patients and carers were more likely to agree than staff or others.

Feedback themes and emerging responses
The attached report sets out the key themes and issues from the consultation

Page 11



together with the integrated impact assessment, and reports from the London
Clinical Senate and Nuffield Trust (Mayor of London six tests for service change
proposals) which form important parts of the assurance process for the proposal.

The five key themes are:

Travel

Site location

Clinical model and patient experience
Workforce model and staff experience
Equity

aroDbd -~

The main issues under these key themes and the emerging responses which are
being progressed by NHS North West London in a ‘decision-making business
case’ are set out in the attached report.

Next Steps:

NHS North West London, the integrated care board for the sector and the North
West London Acute Provider Collaborative have been considering the consultation
and other feedback to help inform the development of a ‘decision-making business
case’.

The North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to
provide its feedback following formal consideration of the proposal and the
consultation and other feedback at its 8 March 2023 meeting.

Under the current timetable, the decision-making business case is due to go for
decision-making to the NHS North West London Board meeting on 21 March
2023.

Page 12




IFINAL DRAFT vO.7
Proposal to improve planned orthopaedic
Inpatient surgery in north west London

North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee
8 March 2023



Summary of proposal




Improving planned orthopaedic inpatient surgery in north m
west London

We want to bring together much of the routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery for the population of north
west London in a purpose-designed, centre of excellence at Central Middlesex Hospital, completely
separated from emergency care services. It draws on similar models of care working successfully
across the NHS.

It means that:

« patients would have faster and fairer access to the surgery they need and would be much less
likely to have their operation postponed due to emergency care pressures

GT abed

« care would be of a consistently high quality, benefitting from latest best practice and research,
provided by clinical teams that are highly skilled in their procedures

« patients would have better outcomes, experience and follow-up

» the centre would be extremely efficient, enabling more patients to be treated at a lower cost per
operation.

Capacity created in other hospitals would be able to be used for orthopaedic surgery patients with more
complex needs and for other specialties.




Proposed model of care (from consultation document) with inpatient

surgery at elective orthopaedic centre

Patient has concerns or symptoms

GP/community

Discussion with GP
or community MSK
team to decide
whether to seek
specialist advice
and/or review
(virtual where
possible)

Provide immediate
self-care advice
and support

Specialist advice
and review

Advice/discussion
to agree next
steps, including
diagnostics at
local community
diagnostics centre
(virtual/ face to
face)

Discussion to

agree need for
surgery and book
pre-operative
assessment at
'home’ orthopaedic
hospital (virtual
where possible)

Pre-operative
assessment

Patient assessed

- booked in for
elective orthopaedic
centre surgery

if needs in scope
(virtual where
possible)

‘Prehabilitation’

Joint school and
other information
and preparation
for surgery — mix
of virtual and face
to face at ‘home’
orthopaedic
hospital

v

Surgery undertaken
by 'home’
orthopaedic surgeon
with specialist
elective orthopaedic
centre team — with
flexible scheduling
to maximise theatre
utilisation

Immediate
physiotherapy

The 'home’ orthopaedic hospital refers to whichever of the north west London hospitals currently providing
orthopaedic surgery the patient chooses, generally their nearest one.

y

Second post
operative follow up

Planning and
preparation for
rehabilitation
and discharge

Six-week post
operative follow up

Rehabilitation

Community

physiotherapy

Six - 12 month
‘patient initiated

follow up’

Specialist outreach
support




/T abed

’

Maount Vemon

(12 1=

"

Hillingdan

L =

Current provision

of planned orthopaedic surgical

care in north west London

’

Northwick Park

09

A4

Central Middlesax

oo
4
Charing Cross
o GY: -1
Wiest Middlesex
0000

@ Inpatient surgery for low complexity needs
@ Inpatient surgery for medium complexity needs

@ Inpatient surgery for high complexity needs

"

St Mary's Hospital

e

4

Chekea and
Wastmiangter

0000

0 Day case surgery
0 Cutpatient care
Complexity level is based an the

Armerican Society of Anesthesiologists
Physical Status Classification system

Proposed provision
of planned orthopaedic surgical
care in north west London

"

Maoiift Vermdn

60

Northwick Park

oQ

M 0

Hillingdon Central Middbesex

o0 009
Elective orthopaedic centre
@
’
Charing Cross
o 00°
West Middlesex
009

51 Mary's Hospital

0o

Chelkeaa and
Westminster

009



Summary of public consultation and outcome




Introduction and overview

The consultation period ran from 19 October 2022 to 20 January 2023.

The public consultation report was published and distributed on 8 February 2023 — it was
independently prepared by Verve Communications Limited.

The report assesses views on:
« The main proposal to develop a single elective orthopaedic centre for north west London

d he preferred location for the centre at Central Middlesex Hospital
Q

(@)
TRe full report contains:
(@)
« A summary of the engagement process, the range of engagement channels available and

analysis methodology

A commentary on legal requirements and compliance with statutory guidance

Level and profile of those participating

Analysis of views received through questionnaire survey (quantitative)

Analysis of views received through face-to-face meetings and written contributions
(qualitative)

Consultation
Evaluation
Findl Report

Improving planned orthopaedic
inpatient surgery in North West




Summary of participation

Activities Number of

participants

Open meetings and drop-ins 247
Community outreach meetings 373
Staff events 450+
Fccus groups and interviews 70
Questionnaire 807
Responses from the public by email or telephone 5
7

NHS

The proposal was discussed at the JHOSC
meeting on 20 July 2022 and, from mid-
September 2022 onwards, we shared draft
pre-consultation business case documents,
consultation delivery plans and related
materials with health and adult social care
cabinet members and health scrutiny
committee chairs for the eight local authorities
in north west London.

Responses from the following local authorities

were received and reproduced in full in the

public consultation report:

» London Borough of Hammersmith &
Fulham

* Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea

» City of Westminster

We also submitted reports to and attended the following local authority meetings:

» Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee, London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham, 16 November 2022
* Children & Adults, Public Health & Voluntary Sector Policy and Scrutiny Committee, City of Westminster, 5 December 2022
+ Health and Social Care Select Committee, London Borough of Hillingdon, 26 January 2023




Summary qualitative responses m

Overall, participants supported the plan for an elective orthopaedic centre for routine surgery and understood the main
benefit was to reduce waiting times for patients.

There were some people who would prefer to have all their treatment at their local hospitals, generally for the sake of
convenience.

There were two main concerns raised:

A Travel to and from the proposed elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital. This was by far the most
S commonly made comment across all feedback channels.
N
H

« Services at home for people after they were discharged from hospital

Some participants would have preferred the hub to be located at Mount Vernon hospital — generally these were staff at
Hillingdon and Mount Vernon hospitals and people who lived near Mount Vernon.

As part of the adaptive consultation approach, people were recruited to take part in focus groups and interviews to boost
the representation of groups who, at the mid-point of the consultation, were underrepresented. The underrepresented
groups were: elderly patients; disabled patients; Black, Asian and minority ethnic patients for whom English is a second
language; and patients from deprived areas. The public consultation report summarises feedback from these participants
separately as well as incorporating it into the overall summary.



Headline quantitative responses

To what extent do you agree with the proposal to develop an elective
orthopaedic centre for most routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery in
north west London? [Responses by audience cluster]

2¢ obed

NHS

All (795) 23% 8% | 10%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers
0 0, 0,
(467) 17% 8% 12%
Cluster 2 — Staff (95) 35% 13%  [5% 16%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 m5=Strongly agree

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer (267)

Overall %
Net agree 59
Net disagree 31
Neutral 10
Net agree Net disagree
64% 25%
48% 48%
56% 36%



Headline quantitative responses

To what extent do you agree with the proposal to develop an elective
orthopaedic centre for most routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery in

north west London? [Responses by borough]

All (795)

Brent (63)

Harrow (46)

ez abed

Hounslow (60)

Ealing (111)

Hillingdon (225)

Westminster (53)

Hammersmith & Fulham (99)

23% 8%

10%

13% 10%

24%

22% 13%

0%

15% 3% 13%

7% |5% | 7%

40%

28%

37%

35%

YA

31%

28%

33%

41%

48%

14%

8%

16%

11% | 8%

2%

10% 10% | 9%

40%

28%

40%

42%

15%

Overall

%

Net agree

59

Net disagree 31

Kensington & Chelsea (50) | 10% |[6% 18% 36% 30%
Other (44) 16% 7% 16% 32% 30%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

Neutral 10
Net agree Net disagree
716% 13%

65% 35%

68% 18%

81% 12%

31% 62%

80% 13%

70% 20%

66% 16%

62% 23%



Headline quantitative responses m

To what extent do you agree with the preferred location of the
elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital?
[Responses by audience cluster]

Overall %
Net agree 39
All (792) 28% 13% 19% Net d |Sag ree 41
5 Neutral 19
Q
Q
o
N Net agree  Net disagree
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (462) 21% 13% 22% 449, 349%
Cluster 2 — Staff (95) 39% 15% 13% 16% 34% 54%
Cluster 3 — Others (231) 39% 12% 16% 21% 13% 349% 51%

O1=Strongly disagree o2 03 B4 B5=Strongly agree

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer



Headline quantitative responses

To what extent do you agree with the preferred location of the
elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital?
[Responses by borough]

All (792) 28% 13% 19% 24% 15%
Brent (63) 8% 3% 11% 35% 43%
o
Q Harrow (46) 26% 7% 13% 37% 17%
(@)
D
N Hounslow (58) 16% 3% 31% 34% 16%
6]
Ealing (113) | 9% | 10% 25% 35% 22%
Hillingdon (226) 61% 17% 20 10% 4%
Westminster (53) 11% 25% 28% 21% 15%
Hammersmith & Fulham (99) 16% 18% 24% 24% 17%
Kensington & Chelsea (48) | 10% 15% 19% 44% 13%
Other (44) 25% 36% 23% 14%
- 2%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 m5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

Overall %
Net agree 39
Net disagree 41
Neutral 19
Net agree Net disagree
78% 11%

549% 33%

50% 19%

57% 19%

14% 78%

36% 36%

41% 34%

57% 25%

37% 27%



I-eedback themes and our emerging responses

From the consultation plus integrated impact assessment, reports
from London Clinical Senate and Nuffield Trust (Mayor of London

SiX tests for service change proposals)




Key themes

1. Travel

Site location

N

Clinical model and patient experience

Workforce model and staff experience

O 1z 8Peq @

Equity



1. Travel

Journeys to Central Middlesex Hospital may be too complex, long or expensive for some patients.

gz abedr

w0

o o1

Central Middlesex is the most centrally located hospital in north west London but, wherever we place the centre, some
patients will face longer journeys. We think the benefits of a single centre of excellence outweigh the inevitable downside
of longer travel times for some patients.

However, we’ve been undertaking a much deeper analysis of potential journeys and travel times — moving on from
considering only median travel times by modelling the complexity and cost of a range of sample journeys — and we think
we could significantly minimise the impact on affected patients.

We would provide comprehensive travel information plus help with journey planning and in accessing existing support
schemes for all patients.

And, in cases where patients were unable to travel by their own means — weren't eligible for existing support schemes
and would have a long, complex or costly journey by public transport — we would provide transport at no charge.

We would like to work with patient and community groups to develop this approach if the proposal goes ahead.

We currently anticipate that we would extend a transport offer to around a third of elective orthopaedic centre patients,
including a small number of patients who currently have a complex journey to their local hospital and may not currently

be eligible for support.



2. Site location m

While the majority of respondents supported Central Middlesex Hospital as the location for the centre, some people
would prefer the centre to be located at Mount Vernon Hospital.

Our emerging response

We undertook a detailed site options appraisal to arrive at our preferred location of Central Middlesex. This included
consideration of the option of having two elective orthopaedic centres, one at Central Middlesex and one at Mount
Vernon (being our two existing orthopaedic surgery sites that do not have A&E departments). Details of the options
appraisal are included in the pre consultation business case which was published alongside the public consultation
materials.

We have been reviewing our assumptions for the site options appraisal to check the validity of our preferred location.
Central Middlesex continues to score highest against clinical criteria, has the shortest median travel time by car and
second shortest by public transport and meets a higher number of desirable criteria.

A two centre approach would not be able to deliver the patient outcome and access improvements through
standardisation at the same pace for routine inpatient surgery, which in turn could impede more complex orthopaedic
surgery and surgical specialties at “home” sites within north west London including Mount Vernon.

N gg 9bed +

w




3.

Clinical model and patient experience m

With the surgical operation being carried out at the centre, patients may experience care that is not joined up
between the elective orthopaedic centre and ‘home’ orthopaedic hospitals and/or between hospital and community
services.

w ogabes

o

The clinical model has been developed with consideration of the whole patient pathway, across musculoskeletal (MSK)
community services as well as within and between hospital services.

There has also been a strong focus on how digital platforms — such as our sector’s increasingly popular care information
exchange - could help to breakdown site and organisational silos.

All care, other than the actual surgery, would continue to be provided at a patient’s ‘home’ orthopaedic hospital or, where
appropriate, via digital platforms.

Patient information, including patient letters, would have a consistent approach in terms of content, terms, tone and
branding, helping patients to experience our care as a joined up pathway.

We would develop ‘patient navigators’, providing easy, direct access to information and support about all aspects of the
service, including transport.

We also have the opportunity of the Integrated Care Board'’s review and re-procurement of MSK services to help ensure
a consistent and joined up offer across the whole care pathway.

We would particularly want community improvements to focus on ensuring speedy access to specialist advice and
decision-making and seamless discharge and rehabilitation support.



4. Workforce model and staff experience m

Key issues

Some staff seem uncertain about or opposed to the proposal and there is a risk there wouldn’t be enough staff for
the elective orthopaedic centre and/or continuing orthopaedic services at the other hospitals across north west
London.

1. While the proposal has been led by senior clinicians from across the four acute providers, and we have been expanding

& engagement with wider staff groups providing orthopaedic care across our hospitals, it's clear we need to do more to

& involve all staff in detailed planning and implementation if we go ahead.

& This further input would help us develop the most effective workforce model and recruitment approach. We are
estimating an elective orthopaedic team totalling around 280, with most staff based permanently at the centre.
Consultants from each of the ‘home’ orthopaedic hospitals would travel with their patients to provide the surgery and we
would develop opportunities for some other staff to ‘rotate’ between — spend blocks of time in - the centre and other
orthopaedic services to develop experience and build skills across a range of care.

3. As orthopaedic services would continue at each of the ‘home’ orthopaedic hospitals, we do not expect that anyone would
have to move to the centre if they did not wish to do so although we anticipate that a significant number of staff would
want to move. If we did require specific groups of staff to move, we would consult affected staff formally and TUPE
arrangements would be put in place.

4. With any approach, we would need to recruit permanent staff — for the centre and/or for services at other hospitals - and
we have begun to explore a collective recruitment campaign that would emphasise the range of additional opportunities
provided by our integrated approach to orthopaedic care.



5. Equity —there is arisk that the proposal would exacerbate m
existing inequalities or creates new ones

Key issues

1.

w N

Greater use of digital options would make it harder for patients who aren’t digitally savvy or who don’t have easy or affordable
access to a private space with wifi and a suitable mobile device.

Patients whose conditions are too complex for the elective orthopaedic centre may have less priority and so wait longer.
Travel issues would particularly affect poorer patients or patients with additional accessibility needs.

zenbey

w

We have put a strong focus on ensuring equity throughout the development of our proposal — we have used the integrated
impact assessment alongside our consultation feedback to identify key challenges and possible responses.

We know that people from Black, Asian and other minority ethnic communities may be less likely to seek orthopaedic surgery
than other groups which the proposal will help tackle through even more detailed waiting list monitoring and improved
communications, engagement and support.

Potential digital exclusion: we want to make the most of digital and other technological advances - which can increase
convenience for some patients and avoid potentially painful or complex journeys to hospital - without leaving anyone behind. We
are tackling this issue across all of our services and would roll out new responses to support the new clinical model, including
tailored communications and face-to-face service options for patients who do not want — or are not able — to use digital platforms.
We would also offer interested patients help with building and using their digital skills to support their health and healthcare.
Patients with more complex needs: we have been modelling workforce requirements to ensure the proposed move of routine
inpatient surgery to the elective orthopaedic centre would support a greater focus on complex surgery at the other sites. The
efficiencies we would gain from consolidating low complexity care at a centre of excellence would be shared across all four acute
trusts for the benefit of all orthopaedic patients.

Travel: the additional support we would provide for patients who would have long, complex or expensive journeys to Central
Middlesex is being shaped particularly by the needs of patients who would find it difficult to travel by public transport and/or were
less likely to have private means of transport.



What happens next?




Next steps m

NHS North West London, the integrated care board for the sector and the North West London
Acute Provider Collaborative have been considering the consultation and other feedback to help
inform the development of a ‘decision-making business case’.

The North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is asked to provide its
feedback following formal consideration of the proposal and the consultation and other feedback
at its 8 March 2023 meeting.

¢ obed

« Under the current timetable, the decision-making business case is due to go for decision-making
to the NHS North West London Board meeting on 21 March 2023.



Consultation
Evaluation

Final Report

Improving planned orthopaedic
inpatient surgery in North West

London

Authors: Clive Caseley and Sue Clegg
Date: 06 February 2023




verve

CONTENTS
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 2
1.1 ABOUT THIS REPORT 2
1.2 SUMMARY OF PARTICIPATION 2
1.3 SUMMARY QUANTITATIVE RESPONSES 3
1.4  SUMMARY QUALITATIVE RESPONSES 6
2. ABOUT THE CONSULTATION 6
2.1 CONTEXT AND PRE-CONSULTATION 6
2.2 VERVE'S ROLE 7
2.3 EQUALITIES AND IMPACTS 8
2.4 ABOUT THE CONSULTATION ENGAGEMENT PROCESS 9
2.5 COMMUNITY OUTREACH 12
2.6 QUESTIONNAIRE 12
2.7 OPEN ENGAGEMENT MEETINGS 13
2.8 QUALITATIVE FIELDWORK 15
2.9  ANALYSIS 18
2.10  MEETING GUIDANCE AND BEST PRACTICE 18
3. FINDINGS 22
3.1 SURVEY RESPONSES 22
3.2 QUALITATIVE RESPONSES 26
3.3 RESPONSES FROM ORGANISATIONS 32
4. APPENDICES 36
4.1 APPENDIX — QUESTIONNAIRE 36
4.2 APPENDIX — SOCIAL MEDIA, METRICS AND OTHER CHANNELS OF COMMUNICATION
USED DURING THE CONSULTATION 44
4.3 APPENDIX — ENGAGEMENT WITH LOCAL AUTHORITIES 49
4.4 APPENDIX — QUANTITATIVE RESPONSE, ABOUT RESPONDENTS 51
4.5 APPENDIX — QUANTITATIVE RESPONSES, BY QUESTION 56
4.6 APPENDIX — QUANTITATIVE RESPONSES, DEMOGRAPHICS 79
47 APPENDIX - COMMUNITY OUTREACH 88
4.8 APPENDIX — DEMOGRAPHICS OF PARTICIPANTS IN THE QUALITATIVE RESEARCH 95
4.9 RESPONSES FROM ORGANISATIONS 98
4.10 APPENDIX — COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY GUIDANCE 129
MyOfﬁce(.:Iub REG. VAT G? 858230025 B +44 207 017 2011 @ hello@vervecommur.\ica.ﬁons.co.uk
67-71 Lewisham Registered in England Company www.vervecommunications.co.uk
High Street Number 05358457
London SE13 5JX Registered office:

24 Old Bond Street, Lon!i:o)ra\geM36


mailto:hello@vervecommunications.co.uk

1.2

verve

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

ABOUT THIS REPORT

OVERVIEW

This report presents and analyses comments received during public consultation on proposed

changes to planned orthopaedic inpatient surgery in North West London. It assesses views on:
O The main proposal to develop an elective orthopaedic centre for North West London, and
O The preferred location for the centre at Central Middlesex Hospital.

The consultation period was between 19 October 2022 and 20 January 2023. The process was
led jointly by NHS North West London!, which is the Integrated Care Board (ICB) responsible for
commissioning NHS care for people living in the eight North West London boroughs, and the
North West London Acute Provider Collaborative?,

The Collaborative, which also led development of the proposal, comprises the four NHS acute
frusts in North West London:

Chelsea & Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

The Hilingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust

London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust.

WHAT THIS REPORT CONTAINS
Based on analysis of the comments received, this report identifies perceived benefits, concerns
and issues for consideration. It should be noted that:

This includes both qualitative and quantitative information, and combines responses from a
variety of sources to provide a comprehensive overview of the feedback and comments
received

An indication of the relative weight of opinion is provided, broken down by different groups of
respondents where this is meaningful and justified by the data

In the detailed analysis, we have aimed to capture all substantive points made to provide a
checklist of engagement issues to consider.

COMPLIANCE

A range of statutory duties and other requirements govern consultation processes. These are set
out in this report which also includes a summary of engagement activity and commentary on the
extent to which these requirements were met.

This report was independently prepared by Verve Communications Limited to inform
development of a decision-making business case by the Collaborative for consideration by NHS
North West London.

SUMMARY OF PARTICIPATION

Consultation responses were received from individuals and organisations, and through a variety
of channels including: a questionnaire (print and online); face-to-face and virtual events; staff

! hitps://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/about-nhs-nw-london
2 hittps://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk

Final Report Page 37



https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/about-nhs-nw-london
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/

1.3

verve

engagement meetings; focus groups and one-to-one interviews; community outreach by the
Collaborative and the NHS North West London communications and engagement teams.

Table 1 shows a summary of the main consultation activities and level of participation.

Open meetings and drop-ins 247
Community outreach meetings 373
Staff events *450
Focus groups and interviews 70
Questionnaire 807
Responses from the public by email or telephone 5
Organisational responses 7

Total 1,959

Table 1. Summary of participation and response

*in online sessions with staff there were instances where several people joined from one laptop -
so numbers may be higher, and information on numbers attending was not supplied for all
meetings.

SUMMARY QUANTITATIVE RESPONSES

The survey received 807 responses. Please note, not all answers sum to 100% as respondents may
not answer all questions. It should be noted that 28% of responses were from people from
Hillingdon, this is twice as many as from the next largest responses (Ealing 14% and Hammersmith
& Fulham 13%). 8% of responses were from Brent, 7% were from Hounslow, 7% from Westminster,
6% from Kensington & Chelsea and 6% from Harrow. 11% of responses were from people living
outside of the 8 boroughs.

O 59% of responses were from patients and carers

O 12% of responses were from NHS staff

O 29% of responses were from ‘others’, that is, people who identified as ‘member of the public’
(28%) or ‘responding on behalf of an organisation’ (1%)

O Hillingdon had the greatest proportion of responses from people in the ‘other’ category —

with 43% in that category; 20% of Hilingdon responses were from patients and carers and 31%
from staff.

Final Report Page 38



verve

O Overall, 59% of respondents agreed with the proposal fo develop an elective orthopaedic
centre in North West London

All (795) 23% 8% | 10% 28% 31%

Cluster 1 - P?Atlga%ts and carers 17% 8% 12% 31% 33%

Cluster 2 — Staff (95) 35% 13% |5% 16% 32%
Cluster 3 — Others (229) 29% 7% | 8% 28% 28%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer (267)

O Peoplein 7 of the 8 boroughs were supportive of the proposal, whilst people from Hillingdon
were more likely fo disagree:

ot 09 [ | [ D
Harrow (46) ‘ 22% | 13% 37% 28%

0%

Hounslow (60)‘ 15% |3(J@ 13% 35% 33%

Ealing (111) 40% 41%
Hillingdon (225) ‘ 48% | 14% | 8% [T 15%
Westminster (53) I 40% 40%

2%
Hammersmith & Fulham (99) ‘ 10% 10% | 9% 28% 42%
Kensington & Chelsea (50) ‘ 10% |6% 18% 36% 30%
Other (44) ‘ 16% | 7% 16% 32% 30%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 39



verve

O When asked about the proposal to site the elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex
Hospital 39% of people agreed with the proposal and 41% disagreed with it; patients and
carers were more likely to agree than staff or others.

All (792) 28% 13% 19% 24% 15%

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (462) 21% 13% 22%
Cluster 2 — Staff (95) 39% 15% 13% 16%
Cluster 3 — Others (231) 39% 12% 16% 21% 13%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 B4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

More people in Hilingdon disagreed with the proposal o site the centre at Central Middlesex
Hospital than those from other boroughs.

Brent (63 % %

Harrow (46) ‘ 26% | 7% 13% 37% 17%
Hounslow (58) ‘ 16% |3‘+> 31% 34% 16%
Ealing (113) ‘ 9% | 10% 25% 35% 22%
Hillingdon (226) ‘ 61% | 17% | 7 10% 4%
Westminster (53) ‘ 11% | 25% | 28% 21% 15%
Hammersmith & Fulham (99) ‘ 16% | 18% | 24% 24% 17%
Kensington & Chelsea (48) ‘ 10% 15% | 19% 44% 13%
Other (44) ‘ 25% | | 36% 23% 14%
2%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 40



1.4

2.1

2.1.1

verve

O The main reasons given for disagreeing with Central Middlesex Hospital as the site for an
elective orthopaedic centre related to travel.

SUMMARY QUALITATIVE RESPONSES

Overdall participants thought that the proposal for an elective orthopaedic centre for most routine
surgery was a good idea and hoped that it would help to reduce waiting times for patients.

There were some people who would prefer to have all their treatment at their local hospitals,
generally for the sake of convenience.

There were two main concerns raised by people: the first related to travel to and from the
proposed elective orthopaedic centfre at Central Middlesex Hospital for patients, visitors and staff
and the second related to services at home for people after they were discharged from hospital.

Some participants would have preferred the hub to be located at Mount Vernon hospital -
generally these were staff at Hilingdon and Mount Vernon hospitals and people who lived near
Mount Vernon.

Some potential inequalities have been identified, and a list of mitigations put forward by
participants is presented.

ABOUT THE CONSULTATION

CONTEXT AND PRE-CONSULTATION

BACKGROUND
Orthopaedic surgery has some of the longest waiting times in North West London and faces a
variety of systemic challenges.

A Case for Change has been developed, which identified six key drivers for change:

1. Growing demand and increasing waiting fimes

2. Population health challenges, including large health inequalities

3. Underperformance against key quality indicators, wide variations in quality and disruption to
planned care caused by surges in unplanned care

4. Insufficiently joined-up care across primary, community and acute services and care that is
noft sufficiently focused on the needs of the patient

5. Unnecessary variations in theatre ufilisation and downtime

6. Staff recruitment and retention challenges.

Clinicians and managers from across the four acute frusts in North West London worked with GPs,
other healthcare professionals, patient representatives and partners to develop a solution to
meet these challenges.

This work was taken forward by the four acute trusts as a Collaborative following its formal
establishment in July 2022. The Collaborative led a detailed clinical design and options appraisal

Final Report Page 41



2.2

verve

process which culminated in the proposal, supported in principle by NHS North West London, to
develop an elective orthopaedic centre for North West London located at Central Middlesex
Hospital.

PRE-CONSULTATION BUSINESS CASE
The proposal and the process by which it was developed is contained in the Pre-Consultation
Business Case (PCBC) Improving planned orthopaedic inpatient surgery in North West London3.

Both NHS North West London and the North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (JHOSC) determined that the proposal constituted a substantial service change and
therefore required public consultation. NHS England gave authorisation to proceed, and NHS
North West London approved the PCBC at its public board meeting on 27 September 2022.

The PCBC contains as appendices four reports to inform consultation engagement plans
developed by the Collaborative:

O Appendix 1 — Equality Health Impact Assessment (May 2022)
Detailed review of the proposals and their potential impact on people sharing “protected
characteristics” and other identified groups experiencing health inequality or inequality of
access.

O Appendix 2 - Integrated Impact Assessment (Carnall Farrer, September 2022)
Demographic analysis of the North West London population, and potential barriers and
mitigations for key groups and communities as part of a wider assessment.

O Appendix 3 — Travel Analysis
Review of fransport access and journey time changes relating to the preferred location for
the elective orthopaedic cenftre.

O Appendix 4 — Public Engagement Report (Verve Communications, July 2022)
Pre-consultation engagement exercise to understand patients’ perceptions on the case for
change to inform development of the emerging proposals and plans for consultation.

VERVE'S ROLE

This report has been produced by Verve Communications Limited4, a company which specialises
in supporting consultation exercises and patient, public and stakeholder engagement by NHS
organisations. Verve was commissioned to support the consultation, to provide an independent
review and analysis of the comments received, and to prepare a summary report on the
consultation exercise and response. In delivering this, Verve was specifically asked to:

Facilitate a series of eight public ‘deliberative’ meetings organised by the Collaborative, record
the discussions and incorporate within the consultation analysis

Review notes provided to us from consultation meetings with patients, public and/or staff
undertaken by the Collaborative and ICB communications and engagement teams and analyse
the key points

3 hitps://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-
centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwi-
pcbc.pdferev=adf10acb7bd245f185ff2360c90ce054&hash=980FE4D11170F5E4EB40E8487 692FE19
4 hitps://vervecommunications.co.uk/

Final Report Page 42



https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-pcbc.pdf?rev=adf10acb7bd245f185ff9360c90ce054&hash=980FE4D11170F5E4EB40E8487692FE19
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-pcbc.pdf?rev=adf10acb7bd245f185ff9360c90ce054&hash=980FE4D11170F5E4EB40E8487692FE19
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-pcbc.pdf?rev=adf10acb7bd245f185ff9360c90ce054&hash=980FE4D11170F5E4EB40E8487692FE19
https://vervecommunications.co.uk/

2.3

23.1

23.2

verve

Undertake focus group meetings to explore the equalities impact of proposals on groups
experiencing inequality or health inequadlities, including those sharing ‘protected characteristics’
identified by the Collaborative, based on its equality impact assessment, as being most likely to
be impacted

Support development of the questionnaire hosted by the Collaborative and analyse the data
provided to us, including developing a ‘code frame’ for capturing and categorising free text
responses

Capture and evaluate all the feedback from all sources and summarise in a report.

Please note: Ourrole in respect of consultation feedback from those meetings not facilitated by
Verve was to give advice on collection of comments and analyse notes provided to us by NHS
engagement feams. Similarly, information on consultation promotion and the dates, times and
aftendance at events and meetings summarised in this report was provided to us by the
Collaborative.

We would like to put on record our thanks to our NHS communications and engagement
colleagues for their support and the information provided to us, and a very positive working
relationship throughout the consultation.

EQUALITIES AND IMPACTS

HEALTH AND HEALTHCARE INEQUALITIES - DUTIES

When major changes to NHS services are proposed there are statutory requirements derived from

both the NHS Act 2006 and the Equality Act 2010 fo consider equalities and health inequalities.

For those commissioning or providing public services there are two principal duties:

1. To meet the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)>

2. To take account of the likely implications for changes to services or the location or access
arrangements for groups or individuals protected under the Act.

In addition, the Mayor of London has set six tests for NHS service change, which include
consideration of health and healthcare inequalities.

A key objective for this consultation was to ensure that people sharing ‘protected characteristics’
defined by the Act who potentially face disproportionate impact are engaged in order to take
account of their views and specific needs.

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is part of a structured process to meet these duties by taking
equality of opportunity info consideration when proposing changes to services. As described
previously, a detailed Equality Health Impact Assessment (May 2022) was conducted to inform
the PCBC. This contained a detailed review of the proposal and its potential impact on people
sharing “protected characteristics” and other identified groups experiencing health inequality or
inequality of access.

The Equality Health Impact Assessment identified the following groups in particular as being aft risk
of disproportionate impact by the proposal:

O Elderly patients

O Disabled patients

O Black and minority ethnic patients for whom English is a second language

5 https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty

Final Report Page 43



https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty

233

2.4

241

verve

O Patients from deprived areas.

Informed by this analysis and drawing on the local knowledge and relationships of NHS North
West London's borough engagement leads, the programme of focus groups was organised
which is detailed in a later section of this report.

The questionnaire included demographic monitoring questions which, where justified by the
data, enables analysis of quantitative responses and categorised free text comments by
equadlities groups — hence providing the opportunity to identify similarities or differences in views
between different groups.

In addition, the community outreach activity to support the consultation also sought to ensure
that ‘duty to involve’ was inclusive of groups sharing protected characteristics and is detailed in a
separate section of this report.

COMMUNITIES AND TRAVEL

The PCBC also contains detailed analysis of the fravel and transport implications of relocating
surgery for some residents to an elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital,
including fravel fimes from all parts of North West London.

This analysis provided the information necessary for NHS North West London and the
Collaborative to identify communities likely to be particularly affected and we understand that
this underpinned the approach to engagement, particularly the community outreach activities.

ABOUT THE CONSULTATION ENGAGEMENT PROCESS

PRINCIPLES AND OVERVIEW

The consultation period was between 19 October 2022 and 20 January 2023. The process was
led by NHS North West London, which is the Integrated Care Board (ICB) responsible for
commissioning NHS care for people living in the eight North West London boroughs, and the
North West London Acute Provider Collaborative.

The consultation engagement built on work undertaken during pre-consultation to inform
development of the PCBC. In order to gain meaningful, timely feedback, relevant questions were
asked at each stage. During pre-consultation the focus was “what does good look like” while
consultation engagement focused more clearly on the clinical model and preferred location.
Independent reports analysing and summarising responses were commissioned for decision-
making meetings and published at each stage:
1. North West London orthopaedic services engagement, Verve, July 2022

(PCBC Appendix 4 — Public engagement report)
2. This document has been commissioned to inform the Decision-Making Business Case (DMBC)

Given the diverse nature of North West London’s population, the consultation engagement was
designed to be as accessible as possible and offer a wide range of ways in which people could
participate. This included promotion to encourage completion of questionnaire and support
aftendance at events; outreach through community networks; and providing support for those
who needed it, for example people for whom English is not a first language, people with learning
disabilities and people without access or confidence to engage online.

Final Report Page 44



24.2

verve

More detail of the communication and engagement activities is provided in later sections of this
report and Appendices. Verve's commentary on this activity showing relevant guidance is at 4.6.

The Collaborative and NHS North West London teams designed a comprehensive and proactive
engagement programme to support the consultation. They also sought feedback and advice
from the eight local authorities in North West London. A table in the appendices shows the
contacts made and engagements with local authorities.

In summary, the key elements of the consultation engagement programme were as follows, and
each is described in more detail in the following sections:

Open meetings and drop-ins

Community outreach meetings

Staff events

Focus groups and interviews

Questionnaire

People could also respond by email or telephone and organisations could submit written
responses.

Within this, the consultation programme included structured, facilitated ‘deliberative’ sessions to
ensure that participants were able to test the case for change and model as well as respond to
consultation questions, and to actively suggest solutions and mitigations.

0O00O00O

COMMUNICATIONS

Website and information available
During consultation, it is important that information is provided to enable informed responses.

The Collaborative website (linked to and from each of the acute trusts’ and the ICS’s websites)
included a summary of the case for change, clear information about the proposal and the
rafionale behind it and details of the consultation and how to take part.

This information was also contained in a consultation booklet which could be downloaded and
was also distributed in hard copy format.

It can be found here: https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/key-projects/nwi-
elective-orthopaedic-proposal

The Collaborative has printed and distributed a total of:
1,100 of the full consultation documents

8,250 of the summary documents

3.650 of the printed questionnaires

265 posters.

These were allocated to all four frusts in the Collaborative for their fotal of nine hospitals providing
orthopaedic surgery to distribute in selected clinical areas where a high footfall of orthopaedic
patients would be expected. The ICB communications and engagement feam were also given
an allocation to take to meetings/send to community organisations.

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust mailed a hard copy summary document and
questionnaire fo 2,094 people who were recent or current orthopaedic surgery patfients.

Final Report Page 45


https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/key-projects/nwl-elective-orthopaedic-proposal
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/key-projects/nwl-elective-orthopaedic-proposal

243

verve

For people interested in understanding the proposals in more depth, the full Pre-Consultation
Business Case and an Executive Summary could also be found on the Collaborative website.

These documents can be downloaded via the links below:
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-
centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-pcbc.pdf
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/welbsite/elective-orthopaedic-
centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-exec-summary.pdf

To inform discussion at engagement events, clinicians gave scene-setting presentations with a
clear and concise slide deck and were on hand to answer questions.

Communications including social media
To support engagement, the Collaborative and NHS North West London teams developed a
communications programme using a variety of channels. These included:

e Social media - paid and organic

¢ PR and news media/local publications

e Reach through partner communication channels

e Direct emails and other communication to patients.

A table in the appendices shows the channels and metrics for social media and other channels.

ACCESSIBLE INFORMATION
Accessibility of information was an important aspect of the engagement, both in encouraging
participation and providing a range of flexible opportunities through which to respond.

Support was made available to those who needed it to access information or compete the
qguestionnaire, which included:
Translated versions or access to interpreters for people for whom English is not a first language
or who need a BSL signer
The consultation materials stated that audio, large and Braille formats would be made
available on request. No requests for these were received.
Easy-Read was available in digital format on the consultation website. One request was
received for this to be shared digitally.
Support was offered to people with a learning disability or difficulty in communicating.

Different ways were offered in which people could participate. This included:

Events in a variety of formats

Outreach through community organisations and trusted networks in order to reach patient
groups and communities who may otherwise not participate

Flexibility of engagement, for example offering 1:1 interviews.

Promotional material emphasised that feedback was welcome through a choice of channels,
specifically mentioning:

Questionnaire (online or printed, with Freepost available)

Feedback direct to the Collaborative team via telephone (0203 number)

Email to dedicated consultation inbox or post, with Freepost.

Final Report Page 46


https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-pcbc.pdf
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-pcbc.pdf
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-exec-summary.pdf
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/-/media/website/elective-orthopaedic-centre/improving-planned-orthopaedic-inpatient-surgery-nwl-exec-summary.pdf

2.5

2.5.1

252

2.6

2.6.1

verve

COMMUNITY OUTREACH

BUILDING AND STRENGTHENING RELATIONSHIPS

The consultation was supported by community outreach organised at a borough level, engaging
with partners in the voluntary and community sector, for example offering to send speakers to
local meetings and attending events to encourage people fo complete the questionnaire.

The consultation was also an opportunity to further develop relationships, and a wide variety of
local groups were approached, informed by the networks maintained by the NHS North West
London engagement team as well as the Collaborative’s networks. Advice was also sought from
the eight local authorities in North West London and from the relevant Healthwatch teams.

This element is key to ensuring involvement by groups sharing protected characteristics or others
at risk of health inequality. Appended to this report are tables showing groups actively involved
and their constituent memberships, and a wider group of organisations invited to take part or
advertise the consultation.

REACHING PEOPLE WHERE THEY ARE

It was recognised that some groups of people mavy still find barriers to participation or may bring
specific experience or perspectives which it was important to ensure were included and heard
during the consultation.

A flexible approach was taken to engaging seldom heard groups, providing choices for
participation to suit them - for example working with and through frusted organisations and
organising events where people are, rather than expecting them to “come fo us”.

This method of outreach was particularly effective in arranging focus groups to gather views from
people in the priority groups identified in the Equalities Impact Assessment.

QUESTIONNAIRE

DEVELOPING AND HOSTING THE QUESTIONNAIRE

The PCBC sets out the consultation proposals including the preferred option for location of the
elective surgery centre. The questionnaire was developed by the Collaborative and NHS North
West London with support and advice from Verve. The draft questionnaire was also shared with
Capsticks who are providing legal advice on the proposed service change process.

The consultation questionnaire is shown in the Appendices. Key elements of the questionnaire

are:

O Monitoring questions (to determine participants’ status and location)

O Consultation options

Headline views on the clinical model (level of support, plus free text reasons)

Headline views on the preferred location (level of support, plus free text reasons)

Alternatives to the consultation options (free text)

O Potential benefits and challenges

Top 8 benefits identified in pre-consultation (priority list, plus free text reasons)

Top 8 concerns identified in pre-consultation (priority list, plus free text reasons)

Summary attitude questions (agree/disagree statements, plus free text reasons)

O Demographic monitoring, to provide a view on the reach of the engagement and to enable
responses to be cross tabulated with personal information, including relevant equalities
‘protected characteristics”.

Final Report Page 47



2.6.2

2.7

verve

A digital version of the questionnaire was hosted on the Collaborative website, and can be
reached through this link:
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/key-projects/elective-orthopaedic-centre-
consultation-survey

There was also a print version distributed by the Collaborative communications and engagement
team for return via the team or by FREEPOST; 244 questionnaires were returned via FREEPOST.

During a midpoint review of survey completion numbers by borough the consultation team

adapted plans to improve participation through this channel, whilst also promoting other

feedback mechanisms. This involved:

O Direct mailing from all four acute trusts promoting the consultation link online or through a
postal mailout of paper questionnaires to be returned to the Freepost address

O Promoting directly with patients in clinical areas and at hospital sites

O Utilising existing community meeting opportunities to promote the consultation

All guestionnaire responses were then collated into a single database by the Collaborative team
and provided to Verve as a datafile for analysis.

QUESTIONNAIRE ANALYSIS

Quantitative data collected through the questionnaire was analysed in two ways:

O Headline responses to each question or statement (all respondents)

O Differences of response according to the demographic and other monitoring questions (cross
tabulations).

For qualitative data (free text comments), a coding frame was developed from review of the first
n=269 responses and used to code and cluster all subsequent comments in order to understand
the most common themes expressed.

One established, the code frame was kept under review and updated as more substantive points
were made and/or more comments received, which enabled categories to be meaningfully sub-
divided.

Verve works with a specialist quantitative research company who use industry standard
methodologies to categories and quantify free text. The company is registered for, and works to,
the procedures set out in the quality standard for ISO20252 which governs coding and validating
free text comments derived from surveys.

Summary charts for questionnaire responses are shown in this report.

OPEN ENGAGEMENT MEETINGS

A programme of open engagement meetings was developed to support the consultations, with

the following objectives:

O To provide the opportunity for people to find out more about the proposals and find support
to respond through the questionnaire

O To engage inclusively across the eight North West London boroughs

O To enable more in-depth consideration of views.

Final Report Page 48


https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/key-projects/elective-orthopaedic-centre-consultation-survey
https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/key-projects/elective-orthopaedic-centre-consultation-survey

verve

26 open meetings and drop-ins were held during the consultation period; these were a mixture of
structured ‘deliberative’ events, facilitated by Verve and drop-in meetings run by the
consultation feam held across the eight boroughs of North West London. Two online deliberative
events were facilitated by Verve, open to people across all eight boroughs and beyond. The
table below gives details of the open engagement meetings.

Date ‘ Venue ‘ Attendance Borough Verve facilitated
31/10/22 | Chelsea & Westminster 3 Kensington Yes
Hospital and Chelsea
31/10/22 Ealing Town Hall 7 Ealing Yes
31/10/22 Brent Civic Centre 0 Brent Yes
01/11/22 Harrow Civic Centre 8 Harrow Yes
04/11/22 St Matthews Conference 1 Westminster Yes
Cenfre, Westminster
04/11/22 West Middlesex University 0 Hounslow Yes
Hospital
09/11/22 | Shepherd’s Bush Library 14 Hammersmith
and Fulham
09/11/22 | Chelsea Football Club 9 Kensington
and Chelsea
10/11/22 Hayes & Harlington 5 Hilingdon Yes
Community Centre
10/11/22 Hounslow Library 3 Hounslow
11/11/22 Maida Vale Library Westminster
14/11/22 Ealing Centfral Library 10 Ealing
15/11/22 | Online public event Cross-borough | Yes
16/11/22 Irish Cultural Centre, Hammersmith Yes
Hammersmith and Fulham
17/11/22 Old Lyonians Sports Centre Harrow
21/11/22 Uxbridge Library Hillingdon
01/12/22 | Chalkhill Community Centre Brent
12/01/23 | Online public event 35 Cross-borough | Yes
16/01/23 | Central Middlesex Hospital 10 Brent
16/01/23 | Charing Cross Hospital 15 Hammersmith
and Fulham
17/01/23 | Chelsea & Westminster 15 Kensington
Hospital and Chelsea
18/01/23 West Middlesex Hospital 20 Hounslow
18/01/23 Northwick Park Hospital 21 Harrow
18/01/23 | St Mary’s Hospital 13 Westminster
19/01/23 Hilingdon Hospitals 5 Hilingdon
20/01/23 | Ealing Hospital 18 Ealing

Table 2. Summary of open engagement meetings

A total of 247 people attended the open meetings and drop-ins.

Final Report

Page 49




271

2.8

verve

Eventbrite was used to promote the facilitated events and participants were asked to register,
using the platform (sample links are shown below).
https://www.nwi-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/events#eoc
https://www.eventbrite.com/e/brent-community-meeting-on-improving-bone-and-joint-surgery-
for-adults-tickets-444209842597

INDEPENDENTLY FACILITATED EVENTS
Within the open engagement meetings, the Verve team was asked to facilitate one
‘deliberative’ event per borough and two online workshops.

‘Deliberative’ refers to the process by which participants explore a subject informed by input and
questions/answer sessions with experts. It seeks to understand the reasons behind the opinions
people hold and to test whether these change as they become beftter informed. This approach
is commonly used to explore complex issues and frade-offs or where people may have pre-
conceptions but not fully formed views.

Clinical leaders gave scene-setting presentations to inform each session, followed by break-out
groups or 1:1 interviews, facilitated by Verve were used to gather comments using a structured
discussion guide.

All notes from every meeting were collected, and clustered around themes in a similar way o the
free text comments in the questionnaire for inclusion in the overall consultation analysis.

QUALITATIVE FIELDWORK

Following the first set of borough-based, clinician-led public meetings and community oufreach
drop-in sessions the consultation feam carried out a full review of activities at week five to
understand the demographics of people reached thus far in the consultation process, in order to
agree on adaptations to the approach and better reach priority target groups.

To hear the voices from as many people as possible the qualitative phase of the work specifically
targeted people who were underrepresented in the work to date. Informed by the Equalities
Impact Assessment and the analysis of participation to date Verve was able to draw on the local
knowledge and relationships of NHS North West London’s borough engagement leads, to
connect with local groups and organisations. The aim was to recruit from the following groups of
people to boost representation:

Elderly patients

Disabled patients

Black and minority ethnic patients for whom English is a second language
Patients from deprived areas.

O0O0O0O

We took a flexible approach to enable groups and individuals to take part in ways which suited
them, including:

Recruitment of group members to focus groups — online or in person

Facilitators attending groups’ extant meetings

One to one, or paired interviews in person, online or by felephone

These sessions were professionally facilitated, with tailored discussion guides. The qualitative
fieldwork consisted of 6 online focus groups, 2 in-person focus groups, 1 in person drop in to an

Final Report Page 50


https://www.nwl-acute-provider-collaborative.nhs.uk/events#eoc
https://www.eventbrite.com/e/brent-community-meeting-on-improving-bone-and-joint-surgery-for-adults-tickets-444209842597
https://www.eventbrite.com/e/brent-community-meeting-on-improving-bone-and-joint-surgery-for-adults-tickets-444209842597

verve

extant meeting, 1 online drop in to an extant meeting, 1 telephone interview and 1 in person
interview. A total of 70 people took part in the qualitative fieldwork. Table 3. shows a summary of
qualitative fieldwork

T gl omat Group/Org

30/11/22 Drop in fo extant meeting - Harrow Association of Somali
in person Voluntary Organisations
05/12/22 Telephone interview with Harrow Deaf United Club 1
deaf interpreter
08/12/22 Online focus group French African Welfare Association 8
12/12/22 Online focus group BME Health Forum 8
15/12/22 In person focus group Harrow Carers 6
15/12/22 In person focus group Age UK: Kensington and Chelsea 6
05/01/23 In person interview with Romanian and East European Hub 1
interpreter
09/01/23 Drop in to extant meeting - Action on Disability Kensington and 3
online Chelsea
09/01/23 Online focus group Mind in Harrow 6
10/01/23 Online focus group Westminster & Kensington and 3
Chelsea Carers Service
12/01/23 Online focus group Harrow Patient Participation 7
Network
20/01/23 Online focus group Heathrow villages 3

Table 3. Qualitative fieldwork meetings

People who took part in the fieldwork shown in the table above were asked to fill in a form to
collect demographic data. 18 people responded and their responses are shown in a table in the
appendices.

2.8.1 FORMAT AND DESCRIPTION OF METHODOLOGY
Experienced facilitators were briefed on the consultation and proposed changes to orthopaedic
care in North West London and used discussion guides to conduct semi-structured focus groups,
drop-in focus groups and one-to-one interviews. Please see Appendix for the topic guide.

Focus groups consisted of around six-to-eight people organised specifically for the purpose of
gathering feedback from groups identified in the EIA. Where facilitators dropped into pre-existent
group meetings the numbers have varied, but the facilitator has continued to conduct the
meeting as far as possible using the same methodology as with the focus groups.

Focus groups have been conducted online and in-person, dependent on the availability and or
preference of the organisations involved.

2.8.2 HOW SESSIONS WERE FACILITATED
Facilitators provided an overview of the proposed changes to orthopaedic care, including the
rafionale behind the proposed changes, intended benefits, information about the changes
themselves and the process of consultation. Please see Appendix for the topic guide.

Attendees were invited to infroduce themselves and state (if applicable and if comfortable)

whether they have any experience of receiving musculoskeletal care before beginning with a

Final Report

Page 51 m



verve

series of questions designed to prompt discussion and responses about the proposed changes to
orthopaedic care.

STAFF ENGAGEMENT MEETINGS

As well as internal news stories about the proposal and consultation, a schedule of staff
engagement meetings at all affected hospitals was arranged by the Collaborative to provide
the opportunity for staff to find out more and begin to feed in their views. Please note, a core
group of mainly senior clinical staff from across the Collaborative have been leading on the
development of the clinical proposal. The output of their clinical design meetings and wider
workshops are not included within the staff engagement report.

A similar set of presentation slides were given at these events, and a pro forma provided by Verve
for engagement leads to use to gather comments. The following information was supplied to
Verve by the consultation feam.

Trust Date Format Aftendance

Chelsea & Westminster 13/10/22 Online 18
Chelsea & Westminster 22/11/22 Online: Update at all- 182
staff meeting
Chelsea & Westminster Monthly Agenda item on 12-25
monthly sub
directorate MDT
meetings
Imperial College Healthcare 14/10/22 MS Teams 9 - Departmental
Leads
Imperial College Healthcare 14/10/22 MS Teams Clinicians - Surgeons
and Anaesthetists
Imperial College Healthcare 17/10- MS Teams Clinicians - Surgeons
21/10/22 and Anaesthetists
Imperial College Healthcare 17/10- MS Teams Operational Teams /
21/10/22 Wards
London North West University | 12/10/22 Online 32 - clinical
London North West University | 25/10/22 Online 23 - clinical
London North West University | 28/10/22 Online 143 - clinical
Hilingdon Hospitals 12/10/22 Online 7
Hilingdon Hospitals 13/10/22 Online 6
Hillingdon Hospitals 14/10/22 Online 5
Hilingdon Hospitals 18/10/22 Mount Vernon 6-10
Chelsea and Westminster September Online Operational Leads
2022
Imperial College Healthcare | September Online Operational Leads
2022
LNW September Online Operational Leads
2022
Hilingdon Hospitals September Online Operational Leads
2022

Table 4. Staff Engagement Meetings

Final Report Page 52



verve

2.9 ANALYSIS

2.9.1 HOW QUALITATIVE RESPONSES WERE ANALYSED
‘Qualitative’ responses refer to the free text comments which were received during the
consultation from a variety of sources:
O Questionnaire free text questions

Deliberative events — group discussions and Q&A session

Drop-in events — collected through pro forma

Focus groups — from facilitator notes

Miscellaneous comments — received by post, email, telephone.

O0O0O0O

Qualitative data was analysed by recurring themes, similarities and differences within and
between groups and types of participants. Data from the deliberative events, drop in events,
focus groups and miscellaneous comments were analysed using an analytical framework
devised using the main topic areas of the consultation and the themes arising. Data from the
open ended questions in the survey were analysed by developing a coding frame which
involved clustering similar answers together to develop categories. The coding frame was
constantly checked against new answers and modified if new categories were needed.

Responses to the consultation were also invited from Healthwatch and other partners and
stakeholder organisations and seven have been received and included within the analysis.

2.9.2 HOW QUANTITATIVE RESPONSES WERE ANALYSED
Closed questions in the survey were analysed numerically fo produce information about the
numbers answering. Further analysis was undertaken using cross tabulations to explore the
characteristics of people answering in particular ways; cross tabulations by borough were also
undertaken. Where numbers were sufficient to be meaningful cross tabulation data is discussed.

2.10  MEETING GUIDANCE AND BEST PRACTICE

2.10.1 RELEVANT DUTIES AND COMPLIANCE
Duties and statutory guidance relevant to this consultation are:
The NHS Act (amended - 514255 for ICBs) and statutory guidances$
The Gunning Principles’
The Government’s Consultation Principles®
The Equality Act 20107,

Also relevant are:
The Government's Four Tests'0, specifically, the requirement for strong public and patient
engagement
The Mayor of London’s Six Tests!!, which include requirements:
To take into account health and healthcare inequalities

¢ https://www.england.nhs.uk/get-involved/resources/docs/ Working in Partnership with People and
Communities - Statutory Guidance (NHS England, July 2022 Version 1. Publication reference: B1762)
7 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf

8 hitps://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-quidance

? https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents

10 http://gna.files.parliament.uk/gna-
attachments/446472/original/NHS%20E%20planning%20service%20chnage%20guidance.pdf

1 https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/health-and-wellbeing/champion-challenge-
collaborate

Final Report Page 53



https://www.england.nhs.uk/get-involved/resources/docs/
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAQQw7AJahcKEwioi6aw8vv7AhUAAAAAHQAAAAAQAw&url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.local.gov.uk%2Fsites%2Fdefault%2Ffiles%2Fdocuments%2FThe%2520Gunning%2520Principles.pdf&psig=AOvVaw2BbkhUnwyeK5DGNqmBd_UI&ust=1671202976455174
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAQQw7AJahcKEwjY2_Pr7vv7AhUAAAAAHQAAAAAQAw&url=http%3A%2F%2Fqna.files.parliament.uk%2Fqna-attachments%2F446472%2Foriginal%2FNHS%2520E%2520planning%2520service%2520chnage%2520guidance.pdf&psig=AOvVaw3mv4zOMxKjCs93H7AtOyRO&ust=1671202027394787
https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAQQw7AJahcKEwjY2_Pr7vv7AhUAAAAAHQAAAAAQAw&url=http%3A%2F%2Fqna.files.parliament.uk%2Fqna-attachments%2F446472%2Foriginal%2FNHS%2520E%2520planning%2520service%2520chnage%2520guidance.pdf&psig=AOvVaw3mv4zOMxKjCs93H7AtOyRO&ust=1671202027394787
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/health-and-wellbeing/champion-challenge-collaborate
https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/health-and-wellbeing/champion-challenge-collaborate

verve

For meaningful patient and public engagement, including with marginalised groups, in
line with Healthwatch recommendations.

The current statutory guidance is Working in Partnership with People and Communities (NHS
England, July 2022 Version 1. Publication reference: B1762), which can be downloaded from:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/get-involved/resources/docs/

This identifies ten principles for working with people and communities (see p.8, p.24) which are set
out below.

Final Report Page 54


https://www.england.nhs.uk/get-involved/resources/docs/

verve

Figure 1. Ten principles for working with people and communities
01

Centre decision-making and governance around the
voices of people and communities.

Involve people and communities at every stage and feed back to
them about how it has influenced activities and decisions.

Understand your community’s needs, experiences,
ideas and aspirations for health and care, using
engagement to find out if change is working.

%

Build relationships based on trust, especially
with marginalised groups and those affected
by health inequalities.

.........

05

ooooooooo —_—

Work with Healthwatch and the voluntary,
community and social enterprise sector.

10

principles for working
with people and
communities 06

ooooooooo —

Provide clear and accessible public
information.

07

--------- —

Use community-centred approaches that empower
people and communities, making connections to
what works already.

Have a range of ways for people and communities to
take part in health and care services

Tackle system priorities and service reconfiguration in partnership
with people and communities.

Learn from what works and build on the assets of all health and care
partners — networks, relationships and activity in local places.

Final Report Page 55 m



verve

In addifion, the courts have established guiding principles for what constitutes a fair consultation

exercise, known as the Gunning principles:

O Consultation must take place when the proposal is still at a formative stage

O Sufficient information and reasons must be put forward for the proposal to allow for intelligent
consideration and response

O Adeqguate time must be given for consideration and response

O The product of consultation must be conscientiously tfaken into account.

A table is attached as an Appendix to this report which sets out the ten principles and the

Gunning principles, and a short commentary drawn from this report to summarise how these have
been addressed.

Final Report Page 56



3.1

verve

FINDINGS

SURVEY RESPONSES

The survey received 807 responses. The tables with full details of the responses can be found in
the Appendices. The summary findings are presented here. For the sake of brevity, the numbers
given in this section do not include people whose responses were neither positive nor negative —
that is, the answers given at the midpoint in a Likert scale. The percentages shown below
represent the proportion of people answering each question, unless otherwise stated. Please
note: in some instances numbers do not total 100% as respondents may not have answered all
questions or all elements of a question.

It should be noted that 28% of responses were from people from Hilingdon. This is fwice as many
as from the next largest borough responses (Ealing 14% and Hammersmith and Fulham 13%). 8%
of responses were from Brent, 7% from Hounslow, 7% from Westminster, 6% from Kensington &
Chelsea and 6% from Harrow. 11% of responses were from people living outside the 8 boroughs
of North West London.

O 59% of responses were from patients and carers

O 12% of responses were from NHS staff

O 29% of responses were from ‘others’, that is, people who identified as ‘member of the public’
(28%) or ‘responding on behalf of an organisation’ (1%)

Hilingdon had the greatest proportion of respondents in the ‘other’ category at 43%; 20% of
Hilingdon responses were from patients and carers and 31% from staff.

Overall, 59% of respondents agreed with the proposal to develop an elective orthopaedic centre
in North West London.

All (795) 23% 8% | 10% 28% 31%

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers 17% 8% | 120 31% 33%
(467)
Cluster 2 — Staff (95) 35% 13% |5% 16%
Cluster 3 — Others (229) 29% 7% | 8% 28% 28%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 B4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer (267)

Final Report Page 57



verve

People in 7 of the 8 boroughs were supportive of the proposal, whilst people from Hilingdon were
more likely to disagree:

srent 3 | 13 [[ion [ a2

Harrow (46) ‘ 22% | 13% 37% 28%
0%
Hounslow (60) ‘ 15% |3J@ 13% 35% 33%

Ealing (111) 40% 41%
Hillingdon (225) ‘ 48% | 14% | 8% 16% 15%
Westminster (53) I

2%

Hammersmith & Fulham (99) ‘ 10% 10% | 9% 28% 42%
Kensington & Chelsea (50) ‘ 10% |6% 18% 36% 30%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B 5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

When asked about the proposal to site the elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex
Hospital 39% of people were supportive of the proposal and 41% of people disagreed with it;
patients and carers were more likely to agree than staff or others:

All (792) 28% 13% 19% 24% 15%

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (462) 21% 13% 22% 2 16%

Cluster 2 — Staff (95) 39% 15% 13% 16% 18%

Cluster 3 — Others (231) 39% 12% 16% 21% 13%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 58



verve

More people in Hilingdon disagreed with the proposal fo site the centre at Central Middlesex
Hospital than those from other boroughs:

Brent (63) 35% 43%

Hounslow (58) ‘ 16% |3‘+7 31% 34% 16%
Ealing (113) ‘ 9% | 10% 25% 35% 22%
Hillingdon (226) ‘ 61% | 17% | L7 10% 4%

Westminster (53) ‘ 11% | 25% | 28%
Hammersmith & Fulham (99) ‘ 16% | 18% | 24%

Kensington & Chelsea (48) ‘ 10%

206
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B 5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

The main reasons given for disagreeing with Central Middlesex Hospital as the site for the centre
related to travel, with staff and others being more likely to cite tfravel issues as a problem.

People had the opportunity to say why they had given the answer they had, using a free text
box. 27% of those who answered said they thought that the proposal was the best option for the
future of routine orthopaedic services in North West London, and 14% said they thought that
Mount Vernon Hospital would be a better choice for an elective orthopaedic centre, and 11%
wanted to keep things as they currently are.

Respondents were asked how well they thought the proposal would meet various challenges
Note, for brevity the data below sums agree/strongly agree and disagree/strongly disagree and
does not present the numbers of people who answered in the middle of the Likert scale, denoting
that they neither agreed nor disagreed. The full tables can be found in the appendices):

O Improving clinical outcomes by providing most routine surgery in a specialist centfre focusing
on best practice for this type of care
67% agreed
21% disagreed

O Providing the same, high quality services wherever patients live in North West London
62% agree
28% disagree

O Reducing waiting times between referral and surgery
63% agree

Final Report Page 59



verve

23% disagree

Improving efficiency, reducing the cost of surgery and providing more surgery for the same
cost

65% agree

23% disagree

Reducing the likelihood of last moment cancellations
57% agree
27% disagree

Help to join up care across hospitals and between hospitals, GPs and community-based
services by having simpler routes info and out of surgical services for example

60% agree

26% disagree

Help to improve health more generally by providing faster, better surgical care for everyone
who needs it

62% agree

25% disagree

Make it easier for patients by offering more services and communications online
48% agree
35% disagree

Breakdowns on these answers by clusters can be found in the appendices.

Participants had the opportunity to add some explanation for their answers in open text boxes.
18% said they had concerns about access to/the impact of digital technology, 17% expressed
concerns about the location of Central Middlesex Hospital and 11% wanted to keep services as
they are. A full breakdown of the answers can be found in the appendices.

People were asked which challenges were the most important to tackle (and being able to
choose up to 3), the top answers were:

(@)
(@)

o

(o)

Reducing waiting fimes between referral and surgery (68%)

Improving clinical outcomes by providing most routine inpatient surgery in a specialist centre
which focuses on best practice for this type of care (50%)

Helping to improve health more generally by providing faster, better, surgical care for
everyone who needs it (41%), and

Providing the same high quality service wherever people live in North West London (40%)

People were asked their opinions about siting the proposed elective orthopaedic centre at
Cenftral Middlesex Hospital with outpatient appointments remaining at local hospitals or online:

o

I would be willing to travel further for the best orthopaedic surgery and outpatients closer to
home

55% agree

34% disagree

| would prefer my orthopaedic surgery to be at my local hospital even if it meant | had to
wait longer

Final Report Page 60



3.2

3.2.1

verve

43% agree
42% disagree

| am concerned about travelling further for surgery, but overall | feel that patients would
benefit from the proposed changes

47% agree

37% disagree

| am concerned that some staff would need to move between hospitals regularly
61% agree
16% disagree

| am concerned that people with additional needs (such as those with a learning disability or
dementia) could find it confusing to have their inpatient surgery in a different, possibly
unfamiliar, hospital

70% agree

13% disagree

Breakdowns for each of the above statements by cluster can be found in the appendices.

The top reasons given for these answers related to transport and travel

QUALITATIVE RESPONSES

The qualitative responses presented in this section come from the focus groups, one to one
interviews and events facilitated by Verve, and the data gathered by NHS colleagues from other
engagement events. Quotations are used in this section fo illustrate points made by respondents

In general there was support for the proposed model of care, however, there were two major
caveats to that support; fransport and discharge to home.

PROPOSAL FOR CREATING AN ELECTIVE ORTHOPAEDIC CENTRE FOR MOST ROUTINE SURGERY
Support for the model

o

Generally, participants thought that creating an elective orthopaedic centre was a good
idea — and people understood that separating planned surgery from urgent and emergency
surgery was likely to reduce cancellations for planned operations

For many people the benefits outlined in the proposal outweighed the inconveniences of
needing to fravel further to the centre — however, travel was the biggest issue raised - the
complexity of journeys, longer journeys, more time needed and the costs
“Great idea - about time it needs to be done. | mean, ever since | heard there was an
elective centre in South East London, | thought, why don’t they get on with it? Obviously,
there’s a lot of detail that needs to be sorted out, but I think it’s absolutely necessary.”

Some participants pointed out that they already had to go to different hospitals for different
aspects of care (an example given was for MRI scans), so they did not see this model of care
as being different from their current experiences.

Final Report Page 61



verve

Reducing the chances of last minute cancellations of operations was seen as a benefit of the
model. It was deemed to be especially important for people who need to make
arrangements for when they leave the hospital. One person said she lived alone and would
need to get relatives from abroad to come and help her; a late cancellation would mean
loss of money as flights would not be able to be changed at short notice. Further, people
with mental health conditions said that cancellations led to great anxiety for them, so
reducing the chances of this happening would be beneficial fo them.

Some participants thought that the proposal would be of benefit for the majority of patients,
including those with complex needs for whom the elective orthopaedic centre would not be
suitable:

“Free up capacity locally to reduce waiting times for more complex issues”

Concerns about the model

o

Some people were sceptical about whether the proposal could work and, if it did work,
whether it could achieve its goals. There were some comments that basing the plan on the
model used for the South West London Elective Orthopaedic Centre was problematic
because the geography was very different and travel was more difficult in North West
London; further, people wanted to see evidence of how successful the model had been in
achieving its goals; there were comments that more evidence should be given on what
counted as success in South West London. Participants also requested clarity on what
constitutes ‘routine’ surgery and would have liked information about what the parameters
are for this.

People had strong concerns about discharge after routine orthopaedic surgery, from the
difficulty of gefting home from the hospital (and what transport arrangements there might be
to facilitate this) to what sort of care and support there would be in the community. Some
participants had had bad experiences of being discharged without support in the past;
there were queries about how the model was proposing to deal with issues such as these

There were people who were against the proposals in principle, believing that they would not
solve the problems the NHS currently faces; they saw patient choice (to be referred for
operations to hospitals with shorter waiting lists) and increasing staffing levels for current
services as the main requirements at the moment. They had concerns that an elective
orthopaedic centre would take staffing resources away from other hospitals.
“If this proposal goes ahead, there must be a full choice retained for patients in the
future”

There were some people who would prefer to keep the status quo and have surgery at their
local hospital:
“I want my hospital, not that one. There is nothing wrong with my local hospital so why do
I need to go there?”

Some participants raised concerns about staff needing to travel between sites, and some
clinical staff who attended were of the opinion that multisite working could mean losing
some skilled staff.

Participants who had complex needs queried how the proposals would affect them. Some
people worried that if resources were being put intfo routine operations for people with few or
no co-morbidities those with complex needs might face longer waiting lists.

Final Report Page 62



3.2.2

verve

o

Some people asked how the model would reduce health inequalities, saying that people
from some communities might be more disadvantaged than they currently are by having to
fravel further

PROPOSAL TO LOCATE THE ELECTIVE ORTHOPAEDIC CENTRE AT CENTRAL MIDDLESEX HOSPITAL
Whilst the model of an elective orthopaedic centre was generally seen in a posifive light, the
proposed location at Central Middlesex Hospital was less well received, in particular for people
who would have long, complex, or expensive journeys to the hospital

Experience of Central Middlesex Hospital

o

People with experience of Cenfral Middlesex Hospital felt that the facilities there were good

Travel

o

The most discussed issue across all of the qualitative fieldwork (and in the survey) was
fransport and travel to Central Middlesex Hospital. Many people pointed out that for some
patients the journey would be more difficult, complicated and costly than going to their local
hospital. There were many comments that people who could not afford the journey to and
from the hospital would be disadvantaged. Some participants commented that the median
fravel times, cited in the documentation and atf presentations, were not reflective of the
difficulty or cost of some journeys.

Whilst many people were willing to travel further for elective surgery getting to Central
Middlesex Hospital in particular was seen as problematic; this view largely depended on
where people lived and the public fransport from their area to Central Middlesex Hospital

“This kind of specialist centre... | think it's a good thing. In London they have UCL
and people come from all over... and they are not talking about transport there.”

For those with relatively easy journeys to Central Middlesex Hospital the proposed location
was not a problem, even if the journey was longer. However, for people whose journeys
were be complicated (for example, changing buses several fimes) or a great deal longer
than going to their local hospital the location was seen as problematic

“It's not for the benefit of the patient to ask them to travel an hour or two for the
operation. The need to not get stressed, nervous, and feel under pressure before
the operation.”

There were also concerns that visitors would have difficult journeys

Driving to Central Middlesex Hospital was seen as a problem as the traffic around the hospital
was said to be very busy, finding car parking was difficult and parking was expensive

Concerns were raised by many participants about travel for patients with mobility problems
or pain. People said that the nearest tube station did not have a lift and was a long walk for
people struggling with pain or movement problems

Overall, there was concern that those who could drive and afford parking, or who could
afford to take a taxi, would benefit more from the hub being at Central Middlesex Hospital
than those who would find travel very difficult, complex and/or expensive — and for the latter
group there were strong concerns that the service would be worse than that currently
offered.

Final Report Page 63



3.23

3.24

verve

O There were comments from those who had seen the presentations at events that the
transport information was not realistic; median distances were felt not to be a fair reflection
of reality. Peopled pointed out that journeys involved cost as well as distance and time, and
that people making the journey were likely to have orthopaedic pain and mobility issues.

Alternative sites
O Some people queried why Central Middlesex Hospital had been chosen rather than Mount
Vernon, which was said to have the advantage of being easier to access

DIGITAL SERVICES

O The proposals for having more digital engagement with patients were seen as good and
efficient ways of using people’s time for patients who were happy to use them, however,
participants were concerned that some people would not be able to utilise digital services
and were at risk of missing out. Strong views were expressed that there needed to be
alternatives to digital communications and appointments for all who wanted them

O There was some concern expressed about whether patient notes would be in the right place,
at the right time, if people were receiving care from more than one hospital.

SPECIFIC FEEDBACK FROM FOCUS GROUPS AND INTERVIEWS WITH UNDERREPRESENTED GROUPS
People were recruited to take part in focus groups and one to one interviews fo boost the
representation of groups who, at the mid-point of the consultation, were underrepresented in the
work to date — particularly after an analysis of the survey answers to that date. The
underrepresented groups were:

O Elderly patients

Disabled patients

Black and minority ethnic patients for whom English is a second language

Patients from deprived areas

00O

The feedback in this section is specifically from the focus groups and interviews with
underrepresented people.

O Some participants believed that the proposed model, and in particular the siting of the
elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital had the potential to create or
exacerbate inequadlities, rather than reduce them, for example people who did not have
access to their own fransport might find the journey to Cenfral Middlesex Hospital too
expensive to make by taxi and too arduous by public fransport. Even those who had access
to a car would have to pay for parking, which might be beyond their means. A concern
which came up across all of the focus groups was the potential for fravel problems to
disadvantage some of the most vulnerable people including older people, people with
disabilities, people who were economically deprived and carers.

O One group comprising Black and minority ethnic people said that people from some ethnic
backgrounds are less likely to seek elective surgery as they do not understand the benefits of
it and currently there is not the time or capacity for people in the system to explain fully why
they should consider orthopaedic surgery. The group felt that people from their communities
would need exira input from health professionals, and support in hospitals to ensure their
cultural needs were met. After surgery people would need support to undertake

Final Report Page 64



3.2.5

verve

physiotherapy. All these elements would need to be in the model to ensure more equity for
some communities.

People for whom English was not their first language sometimes struggled to understand
written and verbal communications. Interpreters, when available, were helpful, but they
were not there all the fime when people were in hospital. One parficipant described having
a problem booking a taxi fo get home after an operation because she did not know how to
ask for help on a busy ward.

Some participants said that people from their communities were already missing out on
elective orthopaedic surgery because there was a perception that it is for people who have
the time and lifestyle to be able to exercise before and after surgery:
“I always think of orthopaedic surgery as the most middle-class of surgeries. It’s not for
people where we're living.”
Participants said that for the plan to break down barriers and reduce health inequalities this

needs to be understood and acted upon.

People in jobs without sick pay said they would not be able to take several weeks, or more,
off work after an operation.

Concerns were raised by people with additional needs, who said that the complexities of
navigating care across different hospitals could stand in the way of them seeking, or going
ahead with, orthopaedic care. It was thought that travel fo Central Middlesex Hospital could
be particularly off putting for people with additional needs if the journey was unknown to
them or was thought to be too complicated to undertake.

People who lived on their own, especially older people and people with disabilities, were
concerned about the process of being discharged from hospital, and the level of support
they might get once they were at home. These people expressed worries that they would be
disadvantaged if they could not cope alone at home, and worried about what step down
care would be available for them. They felt that people who lived with others were at an
advantage as they would have help to hand.

Participants felf strongly that digital services should be a choice, as there were still many
people who could not use, or chose not to use, technology for many reasons. The general
opinion was that some people would be digitally excluded unless alternatives were
available, and non-digital access was easy.

GENERAL FEEDBACK NOT FOCUSSED ON SPECIFIC PROPOSALS

(o)

Some people felt the proposal was primarily focussed on surgery, and they felt that a more
holistic approach was needed to ensure good patient outcomes. They tended to talk about
care after surgery, including discharge practices, to ensure that people could get home
safely and have adequate support in their homes for day-to-day tasks

Physiotherapy after discharge was discussed, including the need to ensure that people were
able to undertake their exercises and have ongoing support from physiotherapists. People
said good outcomes could only be achieved with good aftercare:

“For example, if you haven'’t properly planned discharge with somebody with a hip
replacement and you send them home on a shuttle bus...and they dislocate that hip on
the way home, because they haven’t understood the physio instructions - they haven’t

Final Report Page 65



3.2.6

verve

had long enough to understand it - they’'d end up in an A&E department having to have it
put back. So, you're back on the revolving door circuit.”

Some concerns were raised about whether patients’ notes and information would be fully
available on all sites, in the right place at the right time

There were also a small number of issues raised about patient confidentiality and the safety
of their data if information was being shared between sites

There were queries about how GPs would be supported to help their patients when they
were discharged, and whether this sort of support was part of the plan

Participants felt that communications needed to be very good and co-ordinated in order for
the plan to work — for example, patients had to be sure of where their next appointment was

Communications in different languages was also raised — participants gave instances of
patients not understanding communications from hospitals and missing appointments which,
in turn, led fo them being taken off waiting lists

Some people asked about how people with dementia would be supported and how their
needs would be met

POTENTIAL MITIGATIONS RAISED BY PARTICIPANTS

Travel

O Planning with patients and their families/carers about how they will get to Central Middlesex
Hospital for operations, and back again

O Have anintegrated taxi service which could take two or three patients to Central Middlesex
Hospital in one journey

O Develop a fleet of trained taxi drivers who could fransport patients safely, especially post
operatively, and see them into their homes

O Promote community transport

O Have shuttle buses between hospitals. Shuttle buses should have lifts and grab bars to help
less mobile people

O Have local minibuses to pick people up en route to Central Middlesex Hospital

O Alltransport options put in place should be available for carers as well as patients

O Public fransport buses should drive into the hospital campus and stop directly outside the
hospital rather than on the road outside

O Reduce car parking fees for carers, for example, have the first 920 minutes free

O Allow patients to choose to have surgery at their local hospital

Communications

o

0O00O0O0

Invest in communications materials to ensure they are accessible, for example, in different
languages and easy read versions

Have BSL interpreters available at appointments and in hospitals whilst people are inpatients
Ensure there are hearing loops in reception areas

Systems should flag that deaf people need text messages not telephone calls

Hospital masks should have clear sections so lip readers can communicate

Ensure patient notes are available to all who need them

Final Report Page 66



verve

O Make sure patients know about systems which are in place, such as Patient Knows Best, so
that those who choose to can use them.

Support

O Consider doing pre-operative assessments online to minimise travel, or do them with GPs and
local pharmacists

O Patients should be put in touch with local services who can help them and their carers when
they get home, for example, to help with physiotherapy and emotional support

O Have areal person as a point of contact, not an automated service

O Ensure that people with additional needs have the support they need at appointments, whilst
in hospital and once they get home

O Discharge should be co-ordinated fo include social services, carers, pharmacists and any
other service needed, all of whom should be fully informed about the patient’s progress.
Care at home should be in place before discharge

O Have advocates for inpatients to help overcome cultural barriers during hospital stays

O Have arehabilitation centre for people who need care at home, as step down care after
their hospital stay, to reduce the stress for carers

O Putin place reablement packages for the first six weeks post-surgery, including
physiotherapy, occupational therapy and social care

O Ensure that Central Middlesex Hospital has a canteen which opens into the evening so visitors
and carers can get a hot meal.

O Some people with additional needs such as mental health issues had experienced support
from staff when they needed operations, such as having the contact details of a named
nurse who helped them throughout their patient journey, including helping them to arrange
fransport and managing appointments. This was seen as partficularly beneficial when a
patient had to go to different hospitals. Partficipants with additional needs would welcome
this level of support

O For some people with additional needs, for example people on the autistic spectrum, being
able to visit unfamiliar hospitals ahead of having surgery would be beneficial

O Planning with patients and their carers, well ahead of having surgery, would help them to
access the services being proposed

Other

O Research should be done to assess whether there is a reduction of the number of people
from Black and minority ethnic communities on waiting lists before and after any changes to
services.

RESPONSES FROM ORGANISATIONS

Seven responses were received from organisations. Generally the responses supported the
elective orthopaedic centre model, but concerns were raised about the proposal for the hub
being sited at Central Middlesex Hospital, as transport to and from the hospital was deemed to
be difficult.

The table below summarises the responses, all of which appear in full in the appendices.

Organisation name Borough Main points about the proposal
ClIr Sarah Addenbrooke, Kensington & e Welcomed the consideration of different models
Lead Member for Adult Chelsea of care building on best practice.

Final Report Page 67 m



verve

Organisation name Borough Main points about the proposal
Social Care and Public e Concerns about residents having to travel out of
Health at the Royal Borough borough for inpatient orthopaedic surgery — due
of Kensington and Chelsea to taking more time away from paid work and

increased fravel costs.

e Car ownership in the borough is relatively low,
raising a concern about reliance on public
transport to attend clinical appointments.

e Urged the Healthier North-West London team to
work with the Council on supporting local
employment and apprenticeship pathways re
local jobs in healthcare and continuing to consult
with residents in a meaningful way, and to have
meaningful engagement between the ICS and
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board in decision
making processes such as consultations.

City of Westminster — Westminster e The Chair and Committee support the plans and
Children, Adult Public recommendations

Health and Voluntary Sector ¢ The following were Highlighted for further

Policy & Scrutiny Committee consideration:

o Wasted time for staff, fravel distance for
patients and plans fo address these issues
with the opening of the orthopaedic in-
patient surgery in NW London

o Concerns about whether patients would
be able to choose fo aftended the
proposed centre

o Whether consideration will be given to
other personal requirements of patients

Hammersmith & Fulham Hammersmith = ¢  Endorsement of the proposal in general terms
Save Our NHS (HAFSON) & Fulham e Endorsement of Central Middlesex Hospital as the
site for the hub

e Concerns were raised about transport, from
several perspectives, including for patients, visitors
and staff.

e Welcomed the idea presented in the full business
case for developing a shuttle bus services, with
the caveat that trained staff would be needed to
ensure safe delivery home of post operative
patients.

e Called for greater clarity on what constitutes
‘routine’ surgery and patient choice in the model.

e  More detail on how the model will work in the
longer term was requested and the impacts on
hospitals other than Central Middlesex Hospital.

e Digital systems should not be the default and
patients should have choices, to avoid exclusion
of those unable to use technology for any reason.

e Would welcome more detail on staff
development, governance, finance

Final Report Page 68 m



verve

Organisation name Borough Main points about the proposal

arrangements and whether the service would
remain in public ownership.

Hammersmith and Fulham Hammersmith = ¢  The committee see the elective orthopaedic
Health and Adult Care and Fulham centre proposals as a welcome solution fo the
Policy and Accountability challenge of addressing the backlog of
Committee. orthopaedic services across NWL, however, the

plan would be further enhanced if patient
fransport and travel issues could be suitably
resolved.

e Patients should have choice about where to
have their operation, with no disadvantages.

e Public transport links to Central Middlesex Hospital
were of concern — and the committee urges the
Trust to confinue to explore the feasibility of
establishing a patient dedicated service.

e Travel costs and fransportation negatively impact
marginalised and economically vulnerable
groups.

e More detail on staffing provision would be
welcomed, including potential impacts on local
provision.

e There are concerns about digital inclusion, and
the committee would welcome measures to
ensure that those most affected are not further
disadvantaged.

Mayor of London e Broadly supportive of the proposed changes.

e Considers the final plans should:

o Account for the potential risks of
widening health inequalities identified in
the Nuffield Trust review, and offset these
risks with actions to improve equity in
elective orthopaedic cenfre in NWL

o Putforward a detailed workforce plan
addressing the risk that of shifting staff to
the new orthopaedic centre could
reduce capacity in surrounding hospitals
and services.

o Show how capacity freed up by the shift
in activity to the elective orthopaedic
centre will be used or redeployed to
realise the potential savings associated
with the proposal.

o Setout a detailed consideration of the
impact of the changes on social care
services in NWL.

Nuffield Trust (draft report NOTE: The Mayor's comments, above, are based on
commissioned by the Mayor the Nuffield Trust's draft report.
of London)

Final Report Page 69 m



verve

Organisation name
Adult Social Care and
Health Select Committee
Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea

Final Report

Borough
Kensington
and Chelsea

Page 70

Main points about the proposal

Welcomed an increase in healthcare resources
for orthopaedics and the setting up of a specialist
centre to reduce waiting lists for elective surgery
in orthopaedics.

A number of concerns were raised for
consideration:

@]

Transportation, particularly for those using
public transport, to Central Middlesex
Hospital more likely to be a barrier for
those in RBKC because of distance fo
fravel, and there could be further impact
for those with physical and financial
barriers to accessing fransport services
The business case presents some
mifigations to transport barriers but these
need to be explored in more detail as
part of the implementation

Careful monitoring will be needed of wait
fimes and differences between those
choosing to have elective surgery in their
local hospitals and those choosing to use
the proposed elective orthopaedic
centre

The business case acknowledges that
deprivation can be a barrier to accessing
healthcare - RBKC has areas of
deprivation in the north, south and south-
west of the borough.



verve

4.  APPENDICES

4.1 APPENDIX — QUESTIONNAIRE

Public consultation survey:

Improving planned orthopaedic inpatient surgery in
north west London

Which of the following best describes you? (Please tick one option)

Current | recent orthopaedic surgery patient in norh west London (within last fve yearns)
Carer | farmily member of a patient

Pleage tell us wiich RESpILaLE e e
Member af the pulblic
Member of NHS ataif
Responding on behall of an onganisation
Please tall us which organsation: . ... ..t

oo =

MOooOoao

Where you live

Uge your home address if answenng as an ndividual OR your ongansastion address if
answering as a representative of an organisation.

3. Please provide the following information from your postcode:

The first part of your postosds (his may have two 1o four charscbers, for axample Wid,
WOTML MW

5. Which boreugh do you live in?

Your views on the current proposal

The consuliation documeni sets oul the reasons we belsve we need o chanpge the way we
odfganise ofhopasedic surgery for people living in north west London. We are proposing thai
most routing, inpatient surgery should be carried out a1 a single specialist canire (elective
ehopaedic centre) while ather types of onhopaedic surgical care (such as outpatient care,
surgery for patients with complex needs, urgent erhopasdic surgery) would continue to be
peovided at the nine hoagitals that cumently provide onhopaedic surgical care.

After analysis, we have selected Ceniral Middlesex Hospital as the location for the proposed
eleclive orhopaedic centre (the consultation docurment explains how we selacted this

Final Report Pag e 7 1



verve

E. Towhat extent do you agres with the proposal to develop an elective arthopasdic
cenire Tor most routine, inpatient erthopaedic surgery in north west Londen 7

Flease indicate your level of agreement below, where a scofe of 1 = srongly dissgres and a
seode of 5 kB strongly agres. Plegse tick OME option

1 z 3 4 5 | Dont | Prefer nol
Strongly | Disagree | Neither Agres Agree kmow | Io say
disagres Bghes mod siromgly

disagres

7. Why do you think this? [You may leave this box empty il you have no olher comments)

B. Towhat extent do you agres with the preferred location of the elective arthopaedic
centre al Contral Middlesex Hospital?

Pleass indcabe your level of agresnment below, where a score of 1 B strongly dsagree and a
soode of 5 i strongly aghes. Please lick OME option

1 2 3 4 5 Deat  Prefer nat
Strengly | Disagree | Neither Agree Agrea krow 1o say
dizagres Bres noT sirongly

disagias

8. Why do you think this? [You may leave this box emgly il you have no olher comments)

10. Do you think there are any alternative options which should be considersd o mest
the challenges el out in the consultation doeurment?

Final Report Page 72



verve

The consultation document describes the key chalsnges a8 we see them for arthopasdic
surgical care in nofih west London and how we believe the proposal would help lackle these
chalanges.

11. How well do you think the proposal would help o mest each of the following
challenges?

Plaass indicate your level of agreemeant b each alatarment below, wheare a acoe of 1 -
strongly disagres and a score of 5 is sirongly agree.

1 beligve the proposal for 1 2 3 4 5 Don't | Prefer

orthopaedic surgery could... || | 2, | know | notito
C e =ay

Imprave clinical outcomes by

providing mos! routine inpatent

suRgery in a specialisl centre that
focusas on besl practice for this bype
of cane

Provide the same, high quality senice
wherever palients Bee in north weal
Londan

Reduce wailing Emes batweean referal
and surgesy

Irprove efficiency, reducing the cost
of surgery and providing mione surgery
for the same cost

Reduce the likelinood aof last momeant
cancellations

Help 1o join up care scross hospitals
and between hospilals, GPs and
cormmunity-based services, by having
simpler routes into and oul of sungcal
services for examgle

Help improve health mone genarally
by providing lastes, betler surngical
cane bor everyons who nesds it

Make it easéer for patients by offering
mone sendces and cormmunications
online

12. Please lel us know why you have given this response (You may leave this box emply
if you hawe mo ather comments).

Final Report Page 73



verve

13. Thinking abaut the follawing challenges, which do you believe are the most
impertant to tackle?

Fleagse put an X in the second column for UP TO THREE from the following list

| believe theze challenges are the most impartant to tackle. X

Irmprove elinical oulcormes by providing most rouline inpatient surgeny in 8
specialist centre thal focuses on beal practcs for this type of care

Provide the same, high quality service wherever patients live i norh west
Londan

Reduce waling mes babween raferral and sungesy

Irnprove effciency 1o reduce the cost of surgery and provide mose surgery for
the same oost

Reduce the likelihood of last moment cancekations

Help to join up care across hosgitals and batween hospitals, GPs and
community-based services, by having simgpler routes into and out of surgical
services fof example

Help improsve healkh mose generally by providing fasier, better surgical cane for
everyons wio needs it

Make it easier for patients by cllering more Services and communicalions enline

14. Please let us know why you have given this response (You may leave this box emply
il you have no other comments).

Final Report Page 74




verve

15. Thinking abeut a single elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middiesex Hospital

[with outpatient appeintments at & local hospital of online), plegss indicate how
strangly you agres with sach of U foll owing stabements.

In my opinien... 1 2 3 4 5 Den't | Prefer
SmTgey Dasgrsk | WEdss g Sragy
o Enow | mol bo
SN Ay

I would be willking to travel further io
receive the best erthopasdic
surgery. with rry cutpatient
appoantrents coser o home

"1 would prafer my orthopaed:
surgery 1o be at my local hospital
evien if it meant | had to wait longas

I am concerned about travelling
fusther far surgery, but overall | feel
it pathents woubd bemedit from the
proposed change

"1 am concerned that some stafl
wolld nead o move betwesn
hospitaks regulaty

"1 am concerned tat people with
additional needs {such as [hose
with a learning disability or
demertia) could Snd it confuging o
have thel inpatient surgeary in a
diffesent, posaibly unfamdiar,
hoapital

16. Please add any additional comments aboul travel and transport te Central
Middlesex Hospital. We are particularly keen to hear suggestions for how travel
and tranaport may be made sasier for patients, or the site made more accessible.
(You may leave this box emply il you have e olher commeants).

Final Report Page 75



verve

A_hnut you

We are commitied to ensuring everyone has the chance to participate fully in the activities
and decisions of our organisations. By completing the following section, you will help us io
understand who we are reaching and how to better serve everyone in our cormmunity. We will
cross-relerence this information with your answers, 1o help us understand the wiews of
diffepent groups within our Comimunity.

Please tick ONE oplion for each question. ANl responses are oplional and will rermain
ANOAYMouS.

17. Which age group are you in?

DDO0DDOO0DOO0D
EH B &EH
|
EEEE

18. Which of the following options best describes how you think of yourself?

Fefmala

kake
Mon-binary

In another way
Prefer nol to say

oDoooao

19. Is your gender identily the same as the gender you were given at birth?

20. Do you congider yourself to have a disability?

O Yes
O Mo
O Prefer mot to say

Final Report Page 76



verve

21. Please select what best describes your ethnicity

White: Welsh/English'ScatlishiMorthern shiBritish
White: Irish

White: Gypay of Insh Traveller

White: Any other White background

Miced: White and Black Caribbean

Mixed: Whibe and Black Alrican

Mixed: Whibe and Asian

Mixed: Any other mixed background

AzzandAsian British: Indan

AszandAsian Brilish: Fakstani

AsziandAsian Brilish: Bangladeshi

AsziandAsian Brilish: Any other Asian background
Black or Black Britssh: Black - Canbbean

Black or Black British: Black - African

Black or Black British: Any other Black background
Other ethnic background: Chinsse

Other ethnic background: Any other ethnic group
Prefer not to say

OoooO0oO0oOoOoOoOoooOooOooOooooaon

22. Please indicate which oplion best describes your religion or belief

Mo religion
Buddhist
Chrstian

Himndu

Jesaiigh

Mu=limn

Sikdh

Albfeeisd

Any other religion
Prefer not to say

oooooooooo

23. Please indicate the oplion which best describes your sexual orientation

Helerosaxual
Gay

oooooao
E

Final Report Page 77



verve

Keeping in touch with you

24. It would help us to know how you heard about this consullation

O My local hoapitsl websie

O Another website (please state)

O Newspaper

0O Posters in the cormimuniy

0 Social media (Facebook Twitleninstagram)
0O Word of mouth

O Don't know / can remember

O Other (please state)

Please provide your email address il you would like 1o be kept up to date with the
consultation and future development of orthopaedic surgery in north west London

Flease note, we will not link your email address (o the answess you have given to the
consuliation questions

You can read our privacy policy by visiting www_nwlondonics. nhs. uk.

Final Report Page 78



verve

4.2 APPENDIX — SOCIAL MEDIA, METRICS AND OTHER CHANNELS OF
COMMUNICATION USED DURING THE CONSULTATION

Social media Metrics

Platforms used NHS North West London
o Twitter
e Facebook

Imperial College Healthcare

e Twitter
e Facebook
e Linkedin
The Hillingdon Hospitals
o Twitter

e Instagram
e Facebook
e Linkedin

e Nextdoor

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital
o Twitter
e Facebook
e Instagram

London North West University Healthcare

e LinkedIn
e Facebook
o Twitter

Organic posts NHS North West London (ICB)
Twitter - 15 posts, 4895 impressions in total
Facebook - 15 posts —reach 287 in total

ICB Next ICB Citizen Where Date

Door Panel

15295 2711 NWL 15/11/2022
5027 1292 NWL 14/12/2022
4892 687 NWL 11/01/2023
1502 307 Hilingdon 28/10/2022
1259 221 Harrow 27/10/2022
1326 279 Hounslow 27/10/2022
1356 298 Ealing 26/10/2022
1430 447 Brent 25/10/2022
Total 32087 Total 6242

Imperial College Healthcare
Facebook:
Number of posts: 39

Final Report Page 79



verve

Reach: 25,980
Likes: 102
Click-throughs: 439

Twitter:

Number of posts: 44
Impressions: 22,507
Likes: 33
Click-throughs: 71

LinkedIn:

Number of posts: 12
Impressions: 8,599
Likes: 50

Clicks: 96

The Hillingdon Hospitals
Facebook:

Number of posts: 22
Reach: 8,259

Likes: 19

Staff Facebook Group:
Number of posts: 6
Reach: 344

Likes: 7

Twitter:

Number of posts: 28
Impressions: 7,219
Likes: 14

Link clicks: 17

Instagram:
Number of posts: 8
Reach: 2,230
Likes: 26

Nextdoor:
Number of posts: 3
Impressions: 3,428

LinkedIn:

Number of posts: 3
Impressions: 529
Likes: 5

Chelsea & Westminster Hospital

Facebook:
Number of posts 14

Final Report Page 80



verve

Overall reach 6,529

Twitter
Number of posts — 19
Total impressions — 5,317

Instfagram
Number of posts — 4 posts, 8 stories
Overall reach 3,347

London North West University Healthcare
LinkedIn:

Number of posts: 20

Impression: 9,531

Likes: 67

Clicks: 137

Facebook:

Number of posts: 25
Reach: 16,710
Likes: 58

Clicks: 67

Twitter:

Number of posts:21
Impressions: 8,340
Engagement: 148

Retweets: 9
Likes: 11
Paid posts run by  Campaign advertising public events:
Verve on Ad set name Impressions Reach Link clicks
Facebook Al 43,4826 73,440 4,403
North West London 31,8554 65,488 3.210
Hillingdon 53,193 21,527 504
Hammersmith and Fulham 36,325 16,000 411
Virtual Event 26,754 12,116 278

Campaign specifically advertising online public events

All 27,1246 72,896 1,872
Collaborative
website
Questionnaire 4022 page views to consultation homepage
hosted 1676 views to survey page

1442 views to proposal page
807 surveys completed online (of these, 244 surveys were received to the
Freepost address)

Final Report Page 81



verve

Documents
Print and
promotion
Consultation
documents and
leaflets

Printed surveys

Posters

Easy Read

Emails

Hospital site
activity

Direct mail to
patients

Final Report

267 combined downloads of consultation materials

Three print-runs over the consultation period — total printed:

1,100 full consultation documents

8,250 of the summary consultation leaflets (including 2,094 sent as part of
direct mailing to patients from Imperial College Healthcare)

3,650 in total over three print runs.

2,094 were sent as part of Imperial College Healthcare's direct mail, alongside
the summary leaflets. The rest were distributed evenly across the four acutes to
distribute across hospital locations and the ICB to take to meetings and share
with community organisations.

265 posters — allocated to each Trust to put up across ? hospital sites and to
the ICB to take to meetings and share with community organisations.

Made available in digital format on the consultation section of the acute
provider collaborative microsite and sent upon request to consultees.

Launch press release email sent to NWL MPs, local authorities, Healthwatches
and NHS campaign groups on 20 October

Further emails to NWL MPs, local authorities, Healthwatches, GP practices and
NHS campaign groups re: consultation events on 21 October 2022 (total
€.2,300 emails)

Further Stakeholder / Member / GP Letters re: consultation events on 25
October 2022 (total c.1,400 emails)

Final call emails sent to stakeholders / members / GP practices mailing lists for
submissions on é January 2023 (total ¢.2,300 emails)

Volunteers and patient experience representatives at Imperial College
Healthcare and Chelsea & Westminster Hospital were briefed to periodically
speak with patients in hospital waiting areas to raise awareness of the
consultation and encourage completion of the survey. A briefing was also
provided to patients attending Joint School clinics (in-person and virtually) to
encourage participation.

All four acute provider trusts sent a direct mail to patients who are either
currently on the waiting list for orthopaedic surgery or who have had their
surgery in the previous one year.

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital sent a text message via the DrDoctor
application to the waiting list. 1740 patients were contacted.

Page 82



verve

Media/Press
News releases

News coverage

Final Report

London North West University Healthcare sent an SMS message to 1477
patients. A further 109 hard copy letters were sent to patients without a mobile
number.

The Hilingdon Hospitals sent 2477 SMS messages to patients on the waiting list.

Imperial College Healthcare sent 2094 letters to patients on the waiting list with
surveys and a Freepost envelope enclosed.

A press release announcing the launch of the launch of the consultation with
details on how members of the public could share their views, was issued by all
acute provider trust to their local press contacts.

Imperial College Healthcare:

Three articles, including from one title pitched to (This is Local London):
https://www.thisislocallondon.co.uk/news/23090417 .super-surgical-centre-
planned-brent/

https://www kilburntimes.co.uk/news/23090417.super-surgical-centre-planned-
brent

https://london-post.co.uk/share-your-views-on-nhs-proposal-to-improve-
orthopaedic-surgery-in-north-west-london/

London North West University Healthcare:
Brent and Kilburn Times 31 Oct 2022
Harrow Times 31 Oct 2022

The Hilingdon Hospitals:
https://www.hillingdontimes.co.uk/news/23245770.plans-centralise-knee-hip-
replacement-ops---views-sought/
https://www.mylondon.news/news/west-london-news/west-london-hospital-
1200-patients-24541352

Page 83


https://www.thisislocallondon.co.uk/news/23090417.super-surgical-centre-planned-brent/
https://www.thisislocallondon.co.uk/news/23090417.super-surgical-centre-planned-brent/
https://www.kilburntimes.co.uk/news/23090417.super-surgical-centre-planned-brent/
https://www.kilburntimes.co.uk/news/23090417.super-surgical-centre-planned-brent/
https://london-post.co.uk/share-your-views-on-nhs-proposal-to-improve-orthopaedic-surgery-in-north-west-london/
https://london-post.co.uk/share-your-views-on-nhs-proposal-to-improve-orthopaedic-surgery-in-north-west-london/
https://www.kilburntimes.co.uk/news/23090417.super-surgical-centre-planned-brent/
https://www.harrowtimes.co.uk/news/23090417.super-surgical-centre-planned-brent/
https://www.hillingdontimes.co.uk/news/23245770.plans-centralise-knee-hip-replacement-ops---views-sought/
https://www.hillingdontimes.co.uk/news/23245770.plans-centralise-knee-hip-replacement-ops---views-sought/
https://www.mylondon.news/news/west-london-news/west-london-hospital-1200-patients-24541352
https://www.mylondon.news/news/west-london-news/west-london-hospital-1200-patients-24541352

verve

4.3 APPENDIX — ENGAGEMENT WITH LOCAL AUTHORITIES

Lead
organisation(s)
Integrated Care
Board with the
acute provider
collaborative

Imperial College
Healthcare

Chelsea &
Westminster
Foundation Trust

Final Report

Details of engagement

NW London Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee — Lesley Watts
(CEO Chelsea & Westminster Foundation Trust, accompanied by Rob
Hurd, CEO, and Rory Hegarty, Director of communications, ICB on 7
December 2022

Communications were sent fo all local authorities in North West London
prior to the start of the consultation and during the consultation period.
Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee,
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham — attended by Chief
executive Tim Orchard and stakeholder relations lead Mick Fisher on 16
November 2022 — consultation response received 18 January 2023

Children, Adult Public Health and Voluntary Sector Policy and Scrutiny
Committee, Westminster City Council — attended by Medical Director
Raymond Anakwe and stakeholder relations lead Mick Fisher on 5
December 2022 - consultation response received 16 January 2023

Other local authority and stakeholder meetings where the consultation
was discussed

Hammersmith & Fulham Save our NHS, Brent Patient Voice and Ealing
Save our NHS - attended by Tim Orchard on 14 November 2022

Clir Ben Coleman, London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham - attended
by Tim Orchard on 3 November 2022

Clir Natalia Perez, London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham — attended
by Tim Orchard on 4 November 2022

Clir Nafsika Butler-Thalassis, Westminster City Council — attended by Tim
Orchard on 8 November 2022

Clir Ketan Sheth, London Borough of Brent, - attended by Tim Orchard on
25 November 2022

Nickie Aiken MP met with Tim Orchard on 9 December 2022

Clir Ketan Sheth, London Borough of Brent — attended by Tim Orchard on
4 January 2023

CEO:s Brent, Hounslow, Westminster and NWL ICS - attended by Lesley
Watts on 17 November 2022

Meeting with Clir Campbell from RBKC - Lesley Waftts on 13 December
2022

All Local Authorities & CEO's of NWL - quarterly catch-up with Lesley Watts
on 12 January 2023

Page 84



verve

Lead Details of engagement

organisation(s)
London North West Presentation made to the LNWH Patient and Carer Participation Group —

University 11 November 2022

Healthcare

The Hillingdon Agenda item to discuss the proposal at the Hilingdon Council Health and
Hospitals Social Care Select Committee 26 January 2023 (falls outside of

consultation period)

Final Report Page 85



verve

4.4 APPENDIX — QUANTITATIVE RESPONSE, ABOUT RESPONDENTS

Which of the following best describes you?
Showing analytical clusters

Current or recent (within last five years) orthopaedic surgery

0,
patient in north west London 53%

Patients
and Carers

(Cluster 1)

Carer / family member of a patient

Member of NHS staff Staff (Cluster 2)

Member of the public

| Others (Cluster 3)

Responding on behalf of an organisation

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents (802)

Final Report Page 86



verve

Respondents’ local hospitals

Mount Vernon Hospital/ Bishops' Wood Hospital 16%

Charing Cross 14%

Hillingdon Hospital

Hillingdon Hospital NHS Trust (hospital not specified)
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital

Central Middlesex Hospital

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust (hospital not
specified)

Northwick Park Hospital

London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust
(hospital not specified)

West Middlesex
St Mary's Hospital
Ealing Hospital

Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital

Lister Hospital (East and North Hertfordshire NHS
Trust)

Other Trust (hospital not specified)

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust (hospital not specified)

Other

0% 10% 20%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All staff and patients (332)

Final Report Page 87



verve

Respondents’ local hospitals by clusters

. . , . 21%
Mount Vernon Hospital/ Bishops' Wood Hospital

Charing Cross

Hillingdon Hospital 19%

30
Hillingdon Hospital NHS Trust (hospital not specified) . ] 26%

’ ) 10%
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital 5%

11%
Central Middlesex Hospital 0% 0

Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust (hospital not 2%

specified) 118%

6%
Northwick Park Hospital 0% ’

London North West University Healthcare NHS Trust 9

(hospital not specified) 1%

West Middlesex

St Mary's Hospital

Ealing Hospital

Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital E Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (245)

Lister Hospital (East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust) BCluster 2 - Staff (84)

OCluster 3 — Others (0)

Other Trust (hospital not specified)

Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust 1
(hospital not specified)

0% 10% 20%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All paitents and staff who named their hospital

Final Report Page 88

30%



verve

Boroughs respondents lived in

Hillingdon 28%
Ealing

Hammersmith and Fulham
Brent

Hounslow

Westminster

Kensington and Chelsea

Harrow

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (806)

Final Report Page 89



verve

Boroughs respondent
Hillingdon

Ealing

Hammersmith and
Fulham

Brent
Hounslow

Westminster

Kensington and
Chelsea

Harrow

Other

s lived in by cluster

20%

31%

|

| 43%

17%

|

13%

9%

14%
9%
11%

8%
8%
7%

i

9%
4%
5%
8%
2%
7%
8% mCluster 1 — Patients and 474
2% uster 1 — Patients and carers (474)
0,
| A% BCluster 2 — Staff (95)
4%
3% OCluster 3 — Others (233)
9%
I
| 28%
5%
0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Final Report

Base: All Who gave a valid response

Page 90




verve

4.5 APPENDIX — QUANTITATIVE RESPONSES, BY QUESTION

Please note: these data were generated by choosing answers which were analysed on a Likert
scale. The middlemost answer denotes a response which is neither agree nor disagree.

To what extent do you agree with the proposal to develop an elective orthopaedic centre for most
routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery in North West London?

All (795)

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers
(467)

Cluster 2 — Staff (95)

Cluster 3 — Others (229)

23%

8%

10%

17%

8%

12%

28% 31%

31% 33%

35%

13%

5% 16% 32%

29%

7%

8%

28% 28%

O1=Strongly disagree

o2

o3

m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Final Report

Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer (267)

Page 91



verve

To what extent do you agree with the proposal to develop an elective orthopaedic centre for most
routine, inpatient orthopaedic surgery in North West London by borough.

10% 28% 31%

All (795) | 23% IEZ

srent63) | 10% || 200 L 2%
Harrow (46) ‘ 22% | 13% 37% 28%
0%

Hounslow (60)‘ 15% |3J@ 13% 35% 33%
Ealing (111) 40% 41%

Hillingdon (225) ‘ 48% | 14% 8% 16% 15%
Westminster (53) I
2%
Hammersmith & Fulham (99) ‘ 10% 10% | 9% 28% 42%
Kensington & Chelsea (50) ‘ 10% |6% 18% 36% 30%
Other (44) ‘ 16% | 7% 16% 32% 30%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 m5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 92



verve

Why do you think this? (analysis of open text from the survey)

Difficulty with distance of travel ie. For ongoing rehab

appointments 19%

Reduction of waiting times with centralised hospital 16%

More efficient to have one centralised hospital e.g. reduces
admin

Concentration of specialist skills/equipment in one hospital

Good idea/ Positive general comment

Difficulty travelling to hospital due to lack of transport facilities
e.g. tube station

Utilise Mount Vernon Hospital instead for centralised services
Inconvenient / Poor Location / Access concerns (Not specified)
Increased travel costs for patients e.g. CMH is within ULEZ
Centralising services will improve patient outcomes / experience

Previous experience of the benefits of a different localised centre

CMH has a convenient location

Travel constraints impacting patient visitors

Fewer cancellations with centralised hospital

Issues with staff commuting to new centre

Better to have 2 or more Centres of Excellence

No need to have Centre of Excellence

Put existing Orthopaedic staff out of work at existing centres
(hard to maintain existing skills there)

Previous experience of good care at CMH
Harder to manage workload/staff of one centralised hospital
One centre helps to clear Covid backlog of patients
Lack of car parking spaces at CMH
Difficulty travelling to hospital due to traffic
Centralising Services will increase/ won't decrease waiting times

Increase of costs for NHS with amalgamating services

Patient care could / will be compromised with a centralised
hospital

CMH offers / will offer greater capacity
Previous experience of poor care at CMH
CMH has good transport links

More beds available with centralised hospital

Support but at a different location (not Mount Vernon/not
specified)

Current system is not working generally
Prefer local hospital / hospital already had experience with
Lack of Orthogeriatric specialists at CMH
Lack of consultants at CMH
Lack of post operative facilities at CMH

Other

0% 10% 20% 30%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response 540)

Final Report Page 93



verve

Why do you think this, summarised by cluster

27%
23%
SUMMARY: Transport issues
| 33% BALL (540)
| a3%
B Cluster 1 — Patients and
7 carers (308)
38% DOCluster 2 — Staff (60)
40%
SUMMARY: Approval for centralised site OCluster 3 — Others (168)
27%
| 38%
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who made a comment

Final Report Page 94



verve

To what extent do you agree with the preferred location of the elective orthopaedic centre at

Central Middlesex Hospital?

i | oo
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (462) 21% 13% 22% 28% 16%
Cluster 2 — Staff (95) 39% 15% 13%
Cluster 3 — Others (231) 39% 12% 16% 21% 13%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 m5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

Final Report

Page 95



verve

To what extent do you agree with the preferred location of the elective orthopaedic centre at
Central Middlesex Hospital? By borough

All (792) | 28% IS 24% 15%

Brent (69 3% a3

Harrow (46) ‘ 26%

7% 13% 37% 17%

Hounslow (58)‘ 16% |3l+> 31% 34% 16%

Ealing (113) ‘ 9%

10% | 25% 35% 22%

Hillingdon (226) ‘ 61% | 17% | 7 10% 4%

Westminster (53) ‘ 11% | 25% | 28% 21% 15%
Hammersmith & Fulham (99) ‘ 16% | 18% | 24% 24% 17%

Kensington & Chelsea (48) ‘ 10% 15% | 19% 44% 13%
Other (44) ‘ 25% | | 36% 23% 14%
. 2%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B 5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 96



verve

Why do you think this?

Difficult to travel to / remote location 41%

CMH has a central location / convenient to all / no
transport or location concerns

Lack of public transport / transport links

Prefer a different hospital / continuation of current
care plan

Car parking limited
CMH is within ULEZ zone / Extra travel costs
Issues with Traffic around CMH
General positive comment
CMH offers Clinical Excellenece / Specialist Skills
Previous good experience / reputation of CMH
Against proposal regardless of location
Create 2nd hub at different hospital instead
CMH is larger than current hospital
CMH has good transport links
CMH is less busy than current hospital
Previous poor experience of CMH
CMH offers modern facilities
Decreased waiting times if centralised to CMH
No A&E facilities at CMH
Improved patient experience / outcomes
CMH lacks operating capacity
Issues with staff retention if CMH chosen
Concerns about patient experience / outcomes
CMH is cleaner than current hospital
Longer waiting times at CMH

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (503)

Final Report Page 97



verve

Why do you think this? Summarised and split by cluster

SUMMARY: Transport issues

SUMMARY: Approval for centralised
site

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Final Report

55%

46%

| 65%

| 67%

26%

31%

22%
17%

BALL (503)

B Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (290)
OCluster 2 — Staff (54)

OCluster 3 — Others (156)

0% 25%

Base: All who made a comment

Page 98

50% 75% 100%



verve

Do you think there are any alternative options which should be considered to meet the
challenges set out in the consultation document?

None / No alternative options / Best option 27%

Have centralised location at Mount Vernon/Hillingdon

Keep things as they are

Alternative option but not specified / general
comment e.g. Yes

Have more than one ‘centre of excellence'/'hub’ for
the service

Offer or focus on more local facilities/ local hubs e.g.
build more health centres

Expand existing services / extend one or more
current centres

Different / Centralised / connected location (no
mention of actual location)

Have centralised location at Charing Cross / St Marys
/1ICH

Improve patient transport arrangements
Needs further consideration / assessment

Make use of private facilities

Have centralised location at Chelsea Hospital / West
Middlesex

Have centralised location at Stanmore Hospital

Have centralised location at Ealing Hospital

Invest in staff / staff training - staff retention or short
staff an issue

Build a new centre of excellence
Have centralised location at Royal London/UCLH
Central London hospital for central hub instead

Have centralised location at Northwick Park Hospital

Make use of preventative programmes / Promoting
healthy living

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (464)

Page 99

Final Report



verve

How well do you think the proposal would help to meet each of the following challenges?

Improve clinical outcomes by providing most routine
inpatient surgery in a specialist centre that focuses on | 13% |8% | 12% 34% 33%
best practice for this type of care (754)
Provide the same, high quality service wherever o o o o
patients live in North West London (720) 16% | 129 o0 e
Reduce waiting times b(th%?en referral and surgery 14% | 9% | 14% 27% 36%
Improve efficiency, reducing the cost of surgery and 0 0
providing more surgery for the same cost (679) 14% | 99N
Reduce the likelihood of last moment cancellations 16% | 1100] 17%
(662)
Help to join up care across hospitals and between
hospitals, GPs and community-based services, by o % 5
having simpler routes into and out of surgical services 15% [ 11% S
for example (697)
Help improve health more generally by providing
faster, better surgical care for everyone who needs it 16% | 9%| 13% 31% 31%
(707)
Make it easier for patients by offering more services o o o o o
and communications online (672) e B0 She A Eel
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 100



verve

How well do you think the proposal would improve clinical outcomes by providing most routine
inpatient surgery in a specialist centre that focuses on best practice for this type of care — by

cluster

All (754)

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (437)

13% 8% | 12% 34% 33%

11% |50 12%

40% 32%

Cluster 3 — Others (222) 16% 11% | 9%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

How well do you think the proposal would provide the same, high quality service wherever patients
live in North West London - by cluster

All (720)

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (419)

16% 12%

11% 33% 29%

13% | 706| 11%

Cluster 2 — Staff (91) 21% 21% 13%
Cluster 3 — Others (209) 19% 16% 8%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 B4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

Final Report

Page 101



verve

How well do you think the proposal would reduce waiting times between referral and surgery — by
cluster

All (679) | 14% 9% | 14% 27% 36%

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (389) | 11% | gos| 15% 30% 39%

Cluster 2 — Staff (88) 19% 15% 14% 23% 30%

Cluster 3 — Others (201) 20% 11% 12% 24% 32%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

How well do you think the proposal would improve efficiency, reducing the cost of surgery and
providing more surgery for the same cost — by cluster

All (679) | 14% 9% | 13% 33% 32%

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (391) | 10% | 704| 14%

Cluster 2 — Staff (87) 20% 16% 10%

Cluster 3 — Others (200) 19% 9% 12%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 B4 B5=Strongly agree ‘
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 102



verve

How well do you think the proposal would help to reduce the likelihood of last moment

cancellations — by cluster

All (662) 16% 11% 17% 26% 31%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (380) 12% 9% 17% 28% 33%
Cluster 2 — Staff (89) 24% 19% 16% 18% 24%
Cluster 3 — Others (192) 22% 9% 17% 23% 28%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Base: All who gave a valid answer

How well do you think the proposal would help to join up care across hospitals and between
hospitals, GPs and community-based services, by having simpler routes into and out of surgical

services for example — by cluster

All (697) | 15% 11% 13% 32% 28%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (401) 12% | gop 15% 34% 31%
Cluster 2 — Staff (92) 17% 20% 11% 29% 23%
Cluster 3 — Others (203) 22% 12% 11% 31% 25%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Final Report

Base: All who gave a valid answer

Page 103



verve

How well do you think the proposal would help to improve health more generally by providing
faster, better surgical care for everyone who needs it — by cluster

All (707) | 16% 9% | 13% 31% 31%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (413) | 12% | gop| 12% 34% 35%
Cluster 2 — Staff (90) 23% 14% 13% 24% 24%
Cluster 3 — Others (203) 21% 9% 16% 29% 25%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Base: All who gave a valid answer

How well do you think the proposal would help to make it easier for patients by offering more
services and communications online - by cluster

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (385) 16% 12% 19%
Cluster 2- Sttt (89 _
Cluster 3 — Others (197) 27% 16% 15%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 B4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Final Report

Page 104

Base: All who gave a valid answer



verve

Please let us know why you have given this response (open text responses)

Concerns about access / impact of digital technology 18%

Distance / Remote location of CMH 17%

General supportive comment

Keep services as they are / local hospitals provide
same service

Reduced waiting times with centralised service /
improve supply and demand

Elements unproven / Lack of data / Contradicted by
experience

Overall improved efficiency with centralised service
One site can't cope / patient experience will deteriorate

Positive previous experience

Will negatively impact NHS staff e.g. having to move /
join new teams

Won't reduce DNA or waiting times

Need to improve communication / Joining up pathway /
Coordination

Disagree with proposal / General negative comment

A different location to proposal would be superior for
centralised service

Specialists all located in centralised service improves
service / outcomes

Poor public transport links for CMH

Waste of public money / no efficiency gains to
centralise services

Poor post-operative facilities at CMH

Cost of transport (e.g. ULEZ) to CMH

Historical evidence of poor delivery with centralised
services

Utilise technology more e.g. NHS app
Poor car parking facilities & capacity at CMH

Other

0% 10% 20% 30%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (370)

Final Report Page 105



verve

Thinking about the following challenges, which do you believe are the most important to tackle?

Reduce waiting times between referral and surgery 68%

|

Improve clinical outcomes by providing most routine
inpatient surgery in a specialist centre that focuses on
best practice for this type of care

50%

Help improve health more generally by providing

0,
faster, better surgical care for everyone who needs it 41%

Provide the same, high quality service wherever

0,
patients live in north west London 40%

Reduce the likelihood of last moment cancellations - 24%
Improve efficiency to reduce the cost of surgery and 2%
provide more surgery for the same cost 0

Help to join up care across hospitals and between i
hospitals, GPs and community-based services, by 24%
having simpler routes into and out of surgical services °

for example

Make it easier for patients by offering more services

o g 9%
and communications online

o

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (749)

Final Report Page 106



verve

Please let us know why you have given this response (open text responses)

Quicker access to healthcare / short wait times
important

Joined up / more efficient care / good patient
experience throughout pathway is important

31%

High quality / specialist healthcare important

Proposal doesn't address these challenges / address
any better than currently / Don't agree with proposal

Reducing costs / efficiency savings a priority
Reducing cancellations important

Local access for all to healthcare is important

Unhappy with amount of information given / questions
asked

More than three ticked / all important

Reliance on online services will limit access for some
Correct staffing levels / training a priority

Improving outcomes important

Good communication is important

Improving patient involvement

More local services instead of one central service
Concerns over two-tier / not equal access
General comment (e.g. making NHS better)

Preventative approach is important

Spending money on existing services should be a
priority

Other

No particular reason 3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (240)

Final Report Page 107



verve

Thinking about a single elective orthopaedic centre at Central Middlesex Hospital (with outpatient
appointments at a local hospital or online), please indicate how strongly you agree with each of the
following statements.

I would be willing to travel further to receive
the best orthopaedic surgery, with my
outpatient appointments closer to home
(762)

20% 14% 11% 33% 22%

| would prefer my orthopaedic surgery to be
at my local hospital even if it meant | had to 14% 28% 16% 20% 23%
wait longer (730)

| am concerned about travelling further for
surgery, but overall | feel that patients would 16% 21% 17%
benefit from the proposed change (708)

I am concerned that some staff would need

0, 0,
to move between hospitals regularly (647) |07| 10% e

| am concerned that people with additional
needs (such as those with a learning
disability or dementia) could find it 5%]| 8% 16%
confusing to have their inpatient surgery in a
different, possibly unfamiliar, hospital (689)

O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 108



verve

I would be willing to travel further to receive the best orthopaedic surgery, with my outpatient
appointments closer to home — by cluster

All (762) 20% 14% 11% 33% 22%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (449) 15% 13% 11% 37% 24%
Cluster 2 — Staff (91) 30% 15% 13% 21% 21%
Cluster 3 — Others (219) 26% 16% 8% 30% 21%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Base: All who gave a valid answer

I would prefer my orthopaedic surgery to be at my local hospital even if it meant | had to wait

longer — by cluster

All (730) | 14% 28% 16% 20% 23%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (435) 16% 2004 18% 18% 19%
Cluster 2 — Staff (88) 14% 2204 13% 23% 30%
Cluster 3 — Others (206) | 10% 28% 14% 21% 28%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 m5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Final Report

Base: All who gave a valid answer

Page 109



verve

Final Report

Page 110



verve

I am concerned about travelling further for surgery, but overall | feel that patients would benefit
from the proposed change - by cluster

All (708) | 16% 21% 17% 35% 12%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (419) 14% 20% 18% 37% 11%
Cluster 2 — Staff (87) 22% 21% 16% 29% 13%
Cluster 3 — Others (201) 16% 23% 14% 31% 15%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Base: All who gave a valid answer

I am concerned that some staff would need to move between hospitals regularly — by cluster

All (647) 6% | 10% 23% 35% 26%
Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (377) |6%| 109 27% 37% 20%
Cluster 2 — Staff (87) 5% 794 10% 26% 52%
Cluster 3 — Others (182) |5%| 12% 20% 36% 27%
O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 m5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023

Final Report

Base: All who gave a valid answer

Page 111



verve

I am concerned that people with additional needs (such as those with a learning disability or
dementia) could find it confusing to have their inpatient surgery in a different, possibly unfamiliar,
hospital — by cluster

All (689) [5%| 8% | 16% 35% 35%

Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (407) [6%| gos 18% 39% 29%

Cluster 2 — Staff (87) | 7% | gu| 8%

Cluster 3 — Others (194) 4% 7% 16%

O1=Strongly disagree o2 o3 m4 B5=Strongly agree ‘

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid answer

Final Report Page 112



verve

Please add any additional comments about travel and transport to Central Middlesex Hospital site.
We are particularly keen to hear suggestions for how travel and transport may be made easier for
patients, or the site made more accessible. (open text responses)

Insufficient / poor public transport options to CMH (e.g.

0,
no underground or overground services) 16%
Improved public transport links to CMH set up e.g. 15%
shuttle bus from Royal Park 0
Free / more accessible parking
Long travel distance to CMH for patients / difficulty to
access e.g. disabled patients
Issues with traffic / travel around CMH
No travel concerns / travel concerns shouldn't stop
proposal
Provide transport (general)
Transport too expensive to CMH (e.g. ULEZ costs)
Need free / arranged transport services between
hospitals
Poor parking facilities around CMH
Comment / part of comment does not relate to travel
and transport
Taxi service
Don't know / Not sure of transport available
Subsidised travel
Difficulty for patient/ visitors travelling to CMH
Question the feasibility of spending money on travel
Difficulty for NHS staff travelling to CMH
A different hospital is easier to travel to
Transport provided / help with transport for vulnerable
patients e.g. dementia
Two or more Centres of Excellence would improve
travel accessibility
Doesn't give equal access / some demographics will
find it harder
Central London location for central hub more
accessible
Negative Impact on carbon footprint / negative effect on
environment
Other
0% 10% 20% 30%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (352)

Final Report Page 113



verve

4.6 APPENDIX — QUANTITATIVE RESPONSES, DEMOGRAPHICS

Age groups of respondents

11to 15

16 to 18

19to 24

25t0 34

35t0 44

45 to 54

55to 64

65to 79

80 or older

41%

8%

10% 20% 30% 40%

50%

0%
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response (744)
Age groups by clusters
1%
19to 24 4%
0%
I
25to 34 | 249%
5%
4% .
ECluster 1 — Patients and carers (452)
35to 44 18%
8% OCluster 2 — Staff (82)
10% OCluster 3 — Others (207)
45 to 54 20%
[ 17%
21%
55to 64 28%
| 279%
50%
65to 79 6%
| 35%
I o
80 or older | 0%
%
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60%
Source: Marketing Means 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response (276)

Final Report

Page 114

70%



verve

Gender

Female 64.9%
Male 34.8%
Non-binary | 0.3%

In another way | 0.0%

0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (758)

Gender by cluster

64.5%
Female 64.7%
| 66.4%
35.3%
Male 35.3%
| 33.2%
0.2%
Non-binary | 0.0%
| 0.5%
1 B Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (453)
0.0%
0 B Cluster 2 — Staff (85)
In another way | 0.0%
0.0% OCluster 3 — Others (217)
0.0% 25.0% 50.0% 75.0% 100.0%
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response

Final Report Page 115



verve

Disability
Yes 31%
No 69%
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (742)
Disability by clusters
379 B Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (444)
OCluster 2 — Staff (83)
Yes 10%
OCluster 3 — Others (212)
25%
_ 630/0
No 90%
75%
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response

Final Report

Page 116



verve

Ethnicity

White: Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 61%
White: Irish

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller

White: Any other White background

Mixed: White and Black Caribbean

Mixed: White and Black African

Mixed: White and Asian

Mixed: Any other mixed background

Asian/Asian British: Indian

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi

Asian/Asian British: Any other Asian background
Black or Black British: Black - Caribbean

Black or Black British: Black - African

Black or Black British: Any other Black background

Other ethnic background: Chinese

Other ethnic background: Any other ethnic group 2%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All respondents who gave a valid response (744)

Ethnicity by clusters

Final Report Page 117



verve

White: Welsh/English/Scottish/Northern Irish/British
White: Irish

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller

White: Any other White background

Mixed: White and Black Caribbean

Mixed: White and Black African

Mixed: White and Asian

Mixed: Any other mixed background

Asian/Asian British: Indian

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi

Asian/Asian British: Any other Asian background
Black or Black British: Black - Caribbean

Black or Black British: Black - African

Black or Black British: Any other Black background
Other ethnic background: Chinese

Other ethnic background: Any other ethnic group

60%
55%

| 66%

| 1%
0%
0%
1%
1%
0%
| 1%

0%
0%

1%
2%
1%

12%
12%
10%

B Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (449)
OCluster 2 — Staff (84)

OCluster 3 — Others (209)

0%

25% 50% 75%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response

Final Report Page 118

100%



verve

Religion or belief
Christian 54%

Muslim

Jewish

Hindu

Buddhist

Any other religion

Atheist

No religion

0.00% 10.00% 20.00% 30.00% 40.00% 50.00% 60.00% 70.00%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response (732)

Religion or belief by clusters

54%
Christian 46%

| 55%
5%
Muslim 11%
6%
2%
Jewish 3%
2%
5%
Hindu 6%
2%

Buddhist ECluster 1 - Patients and carers (443)

OCluster 2 — Staff (80)

Any other religion
OCluster 3 — Others (206)

Atheist
27%
No religion 29%
| 30%
T T T T T T 1
0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response

Final Report Page 119



verve

Sexual orientation

Heterosexual 91%
Gay 2%
Lesbian 0%
Bisexual 2%
None of the above 4%
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%
Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response (698)
Sexual orientation by clusters
91%
Heterosexual 88%
93%
Gay
2%
Leshian
Bisexual 5%
J B Cluster 1 — Patients and carers (424)
4% DCluster 2 — Staff (74)
None of the above 5%
OCluster 3 — Others (198)
4%
0% 25% 50% 75% 100%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response

Final Report Page 120



verve

How people heard about the consultation

My local hospital website 25%
Post

Word of mouth

Social media
(Facebook/Twitter/Instagram)

Another website (please state)
At hospital/ outpatient clinic
Email

Text/SMS

Library

Posters in the community

NHS engagement manager or staff
member directly

Newspaper

Other

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response (682)

How people heard about the consultation — by clusters

Final Report Page 121



verve

My local hospital website ] 61%

38%
Post

Word of mouth

Social media (Facebook/Twitter/Instagram)

Another website (please state)

At hospital/ outpatient clinic

Email

Text/SMS

Library

Posters in the community .
B Cluster 1 - Patients and carers (384)

NHS engagement manager or staff member directly OCluster 2 — Staff (89)

Newspaper OCluster 3 — Other (207)

Other

25% 50% 75% 100%

Source: Verve Communications 2023 Base: All who gave a valid response

Final Report Page 122



4.7

4.7.1

verve

APPENDIX - COMMUNITY OUTREACH

The NHS consultation feam engaged with groups and organisations across North West London.
The following tables, supplied by the team, shows the groups and organisations visited by the
team, the protected characteristics of the groups and the numbers of people who attended the
outreach meetings and all of the community organisations contacted during the consultation.

COMMUNITY MEETINGS MAPPED TO PROTECTED CHARACTERISTICS

27/10/22

27/10/22

01/11/22

1/11/22

08/11/22

08/11/22

09/11/22

10/11/22

11/11/22

14/11/22

14/11/22

Final Report

11.00 -
12.30

9.00 -
10.00

10.00 -

12.00

9.00 -
15.00

13.00 -
14.00

10.00 -
12.00

09.00 -
09.45

10.00 -

13.00

10:30

12.00 -
13.00

12.00 -
13.00

Ethiopian
Women's
group

Harrow
Community
Leader
Touchpoint
KCSC

United Anglo-
Caribbean
Society

Brent, Harrow,
Hillingdon
Healthwatch
meeting
Hounslow
Integrated

Care Patient &

Public
Engagement
(ICPPE)
Committee
meeting
Internal staff
huddle

Quality Food
supermarket -
Southall
Marylebone
Bangladeshi
association

Healthwatch
H&F Health

Care
Partnership —

Protected

characteristic
represented
Race, religion,
sex, disability

Carers, race,
areas of
deprivation,
disability
Race, religion

Race, sex

All

Age

Internal
Hounslow NHS
and council
staff

Race, religion

Race, religion

Mixed patients
and local
residents

Race - Arange
of ethnic
backgrounds

better working and patient

together

MBR office

Online MS Teams
meeting

Kensington Town
hall, Horton

street, Westminster
Face-to-face
engagement

Online MS Teams

meeting

Online MS Teams
meeting

Online MS Teams
meeting

Face-to-face
engagement
Telephone
conversation
Online MS Teams

meeting

Online MS Teams
Meeting

Page 123

Number
aftended

Westminster, 1

RBKC,

Hammersmith

& Fulham

Harrow 15
Westminster 45

Ealing 8
Brent, Harrow, 5
Hillingdon

Hounslow 25
Hounslow 38
Ealing 14

Westminster, 1
Hammersmith

& Fulham,

RBKC

Hammersmith |Approx. 5
& Fulham

Hammersmith 11
& Fulham



verve

15/11/22

17/11/22

21/11/22

22/11/22

23/11/22

23/11/22

28/11/22

05/12/22

15/12/22

17/01/23

17/01/23

17/01/23

Final Report

10.00 -
11.00

11.00 -
12.00

11.00 -
12.00

18.00 -
20.00

13.30 -
15.30

13.30 -
15.30

2.30 -
3.00

11.00 -
12.30
13.00 -
15.00

11.00 -
12.30

13.00-
14.00

15.00 -
16.00

Building trust
project

Brent Health
Matters
Stakeholder
Forum
Community
Champion
Project
Leaders
Hyde Park
Estates
Association

BME Health
Forum

BME Health
Forum -
Interpret and
Advocacy
service

Patient and
carer
participation
group

POPS Health
Forum, SOBUS

Collaborative
space
engagement
meeting
Harrow
Community
Engagement,
Wealdstone
Library
Harrow
Community
Engagement,
Pinner library
Harrow
Community
Engagement,
Greenhill
library

representatives,

CVOs

Race - Black Online MS Teams
community and Meeting
protected

characteristics

Brent community (Online MS Teams
and BHM meeting
colleagues - all

Face-to-face
engagement

Mixed ethnicity
and — deprived
local residents

Abasto restaurant,
55-57 Connaught
St, W2 2BB
Westminster

Age

Race, religion,

sex Woodfield Rd,
London

Race, religion - [Face-to face-

Black, Asian and engagement

ethnic minority
Ethnicity: Other
white, Middle
eastern, North
African, Black
African, Asian

Age Online MS Teams
meeting
Age, disability  Online MS Teams

meeting

Race, religion -
BAME, Patient

Hybrid - Online MS
Teams meeting

representatives, and face-to-face
residents, CVOs engagement
Area of Face-to-face
deprivation engagement
Area of Face-to-face
deprivation engagement
Area of Face-to-face
deprivation engagement

Page 124

Hammersmith
& Fulham

Brent

16

Hammersmith | Approx é

& Fulham

Westminster

Paddington Arts, 32/Cross-sector

Westminster,
Hammersmith
& Fulham,
RBKC

Brent, Ealing
and Harrow
Hammersmith
& Fulham
Westminster,

RBKC

Harrow

Harrow

Harrow

Approx.
20
people

Approx.
30
people
25

Approx.
10

26

17



4.7.2

verve

COMMUNITY ORGANISATIONS CONTACTED
The consultation team provided the following information about the organisations they

contacted.

Name of group
CVS Brent

Man Down Project

Romanian and East European Hub Race, areas of deprivation, carers

Iragi Welfare Association
Brent Health Matters

Brent Mencap

Asian Women Centre

Brent Local Authority (incl. all
councillors)

Harrow Local Authority (incl. all
councillors)

Hilingdon Local Authority (incl. all

councillors)

Ealing Local Authority (incl. all
councillors)

Hammersmith & Fulham Local
Authority (incl. all councillors)

Hounslow Local Authority (incl. all

councillors)
Kensington & Chelsea Local
Authority (incl. all councillors)

Westminster Local Authority (incl.

all councillors)
Ashford Place

Almis Association
SAAFI
Brent Multi Faith Forum

Romanian Culture and Charity
Together
Mind, Brent, Harrow, Hillingdon

French African Association

Harrow Carers

Brent Harrow Deaf United Club

Harrow Youth Foundation

Harrow Citizen Advisory Bureau
Horizon Youth Action

Harrow Hestia Cove Cafe
Harrow Association of Somali

Voluntary Organisations (HASVO)

Voluntary Action Harrow

Final Report

Protected characteristic group
represented

All - carers, areas of deprivation,
age, disability

Areas of deprivation

Race

All, areas of deprivation, age, race

Carers, areas of deprivation,
disability

Race, age, carers

All

All
All
All
All
All
All
All
Mental Health and carers, age,

areas of deprivation
Race, carers, areas of deprivation

Race, carers, areas of deprivation
Religion/faith

Race, carers, areas of deprivation
Carers

Race

Carers

Disability, carers

Carers, areas of deprivation

All, areas of deprivation
Race
Areas of deprivation

Race, religion, carers, areas of
deprivation
All

Page 125

Borough(s)
Brent

Brent
Brent and Harrow
Cross-sector

Brent
Brent

Brent
Brent

Harrow

Hillingdon

Ealing

Hammersmith & Fulham
Hounslow

Kensington & Chelsea
Westminster

Brent

Brent
Brent
Brent

Brent and Harrow

Brent, Harrow and
Hilingdon
Brent

Harrow

Harrow and Brent

Harrow

Harrow
Harrow
Harrow

Harrow

Harrow



verve

Name of group Protected characteristic group Borough(s)
represented

Hilingdon Autistic Care Society Carers, disability Hilingdon

[HACS]

Hilingdon Alliance of Residents’ All Hillingdon

Associations

Ruislip Residents Association and Al Hillingdon

Northwood Residents’ Association

Austin and Silverdale Road All Hillingdon

Residents Association

Cowley Mill Road (West) Residents’ Al Hillingdon

Association

Hilingdon Asian Women's Group  Race Hillingdon

Refugees in effective and active  Race, areas of deprivation Hillingdon

partnership REAP

Eastcote Residents’ Association All Hillingdon

Garden City Estates Residents’ All Hillingdon

Association

Harefield Tenants and Residents’ Al Hillingdon

Association

High Point Village Residents’ All Hillingdon

Association

Hilingdon Association of Council  All Hillingdon

(Domestic) Leaseholders

Ickenham Residents’ Association Al Hillingdon

North Uxbridge Residents’ All Hilingdon

Associatfion

Northwood Hills Residents’ All Hillingdon

Associafion

Oak Farm Residents’ Association Al Hilingdon

Hayes Town Partnership All Hillingdon

Uxbridge Community Association All Hillingdon

Connaught Residents’ Association All Hilingdon

Warren Park Residents’ Association Al Hillingdon

Yiewsley and West Drayton Town Al Hillingdon

Centre Action Group

South Ruislip Resident's’ All Hillingdon

Associatfion

Disability Association Hillingdon Disability Hilingdon

(DASH)

Hilingdon Parent Carer Forum Carers Hillingdon

H4ALL All Hillingdon

Hilingdon Mind Mental health Hillingdon

Age UK Hillingdon Age Hillingdon

Middlesex Association for the Blind, Disability, carers Hillingdon

Hillingdon

Hilingdon Women's Centre Sex Hilingdon

Final Report Page 126



verve

Name of group

Protected characteristic group

Borough(s)

Borough Based Partnership PPE
meeting
Network PPG

Age UK Hounslow

Liesel Angel Trust

Centre for Armenian Information &

Advice
Ealing and Hounslow CVS

TAHA

The Asian Health Agency
Disability Network Hounslow
Rethink Mental lliness

Bait — U — Noor (Mosque)

Asian Family Counselling Service

Calvary Free Grace Baptist
Church
Ghanaian Community Forum

Nepalese Ladies Community
London Borough of Hounslow
Sunrise Radio

Polish Radio

Quality Foods Southall

represented
Community

Network PPG Chairs and vice

chairs
Age

Age

Race, religion

All

Race, religion
Race, religion
Disabled

All
Religion/faith
Race, religion

Religion

Race, religion

Race, religion
Race, religion

Race, religion

Community

Home - London Development Trust All

(Acton Gardens Community
Centre)

Engagement Oversight Group
Ealing (includes VCS)

Ealing Library

Ealing Town Hall

Dominion Centre

Ealing shopping centre
Superdrug Ealing

Boots the Chemist Ealing
Ethiopian Women's group
Kensington and Chelsea social

Council
POPS health forum, Sobus

Marylebone Bangladeshi
Associafion

Collaborative space engagement

meefting
H&F Health Care Partnership —
better working together

Voluntary community sector

organisations
All

All
All
All
All
All
All

All

All
All

All

All

BME Health Forum - Interpret and  All

advocacy service

Final Report

Page 127

Hounslow
Hounslow

Hounslow
Hounslow

Hounslow

Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow
Hounslow

Hounslow

Hounslow

Hounslow
Hounslow

Hounslow
Ealing
Ealing

Ealing

Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing
Ealing

Westminster, RBKC,
Hammersmith & Fulham
Westminster, RBKC,
Hammersmith & Fulham
Hammersmith & Fulham

Westminster, RBKC

Westminster, RBKC,
Hammersmith & Fulham
Hammersmith and
Fulham

Westminster, RBKC,
Hammersmith & Fulham



verve

Name of group Protected characteristic group Borough(s)

Healthwatch All Brent, Harrow, Hounslow,
Ealing, Hillingdon,
Westminster,
Hammersmith & Fulham,
Kensington & Chelsea

Community Champion project All Hammersmith and

leaders Fulham

Building Trust project All Hammersmith and
Fulham

French African Women's All Westminster, RBKC,

Association Hammersmith and
Fulham

Hammersmith & Fulham Save Our All Hammersmith & Fulham

NHS

Ealing Save our NHS All Ealing

Brent Patient Voice All Brent

4.7.3 OTHER ORGANISATIONS CONTACTED WITH A REQUEST FOR FORMAL FEEDBACK

Name of organisation

London Councils

Greater London Authority

Care Quality Commission

Sobus

Academy of Medical Royal Colleges
Royal College of Anaesthetists

Royal College of Chiropractors

Royal College of Emergency Medicine
Royal College of General Practitioners
Royal College of Infensive Care Medicine
Royal College of Nursing

Royal College of Physicians

Royal College of Surgeons

Royal Society of Medicine (orthopaedics section)
Royal Society of Acute Medicine

British Orthopaedic Association

Faculty of Intensive Care Medicine
Faculty of Sport and Exercise Medicine
Society for Acute Medicine

Academy of Medical Sciences
Association of Clinical Societies

Medical Schools Council

British Society of Rehabilitation Medicine
British Chiropractic Association

Final Report Page 128



verve

Name of organisation

Institute of Osteopathy

National Axial Spondyloarthritis Society
Royal Osteoporosis Society

Health Education England (London)
GIRFT

Kings Fund

Nuffield Trust

Primary Care Rheumatology and MSK Medical Society
National Orthopaedic Alliance

Arthritis and Musculoskeletal Alliance
Arthritis Action

Final Report Page 129



4.8

verve

APPENDIX — DEMOGRAPHICS OF PARTICIPANTS IN THE QUALITATIVE
RESEARCH

The following table shows the demographic data of the eighteen people who completed a form

after taking part in qualitative fieldwork.

Sub-category Frequency

Age group

11-15

16-18

19-24

25-34

35-44

45-54

55-64

65-79

80+

Prefer not to say

ol Ml MO Ml O]l O]l O] O] O

Gender

Female

Male

Non-binary

In another way

Gender ID same as at birth

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

Do you consider yourself fo have a
disability?2

Yes

No

11

Prefer not to say

Ethnicity

White: Welsh/English/Scottish/NI/British

—_

White: Irish

White: Gypsy or Irish Traveller

White: Any other White background

Mixed: White and Black Caribbean

Mixed: White and Black African

Ol O]l w|l O] ©

Final Report Page 130



verve

Category

Sub-category

Mixed: Any other mixed background

Frequency

Asian/Asian British: Indian

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi

ol ol M| O

Asian/Asian British: Any other Asian
background

—_

Black or Black British: Black-Cariblbean

Black or Black British: Black-African

Black or Black British: Any other Black
background

Other ethnic background: Chinese

Other ethnic background: Any other ethnic
group

Prefer not to say

Religion or belief: Total of 20 (more
than 1 opfion chosen by some
participants)

No religion

Buddhist

Christian

Hindu

Jewish

Muslim

Sikh

Atheist

Any other religion

Prefer not to say

Ol Ol Ol O]l Wl O] M|l O] O] W

Sexual orientation

Heterosexual

Gay

Lesbian

Bisexual

None of the above

Nl O] O] Of »

Prefer not to say

How did you hear about this
consultation?

My local hospital website

Another welbsite

Newspaper

o]l ol ©

Posters in the community

—

Social media

Final Report

Page 131



verve

Category Sub-category Frequency
Word of mouth
Don't know
Other
Final Report Page 132



verve

4.9 RESPONSES FROM ORGANISATIONS

THE ROYAL BOROUGH OF

KENSINGTON
AND CHELSEA

Healthier North West London
By email: nhsnwl.eoc@nhs.net

Date: 19 January 2023

Dear Healthier North-West London team,

Re: Public consultation on Improving planned orthopaedic inpatient surgery in North-
West London

We welcome the acknowledgement by Healthier North-West London that we can achieve
significant positive impacts on the lives of our residents through collaboration across health, the
local authority, and other partners. We also recognise the significant challenges facing our
residents with increases in demand for services. It is therefore right that we consider different
models of care, building on best practice, to support people to access the services they need,
when they need them, to genuinely improve health outcomes for residents.

As a local authority, being an advocate and representative of our residents, we welcome the
opportunity to comment on your pre-consultation business case and planned consultation.

At a time when residents are facing increased challenges with the current cost-of-living crisis and
existing travel challenges due to regular travel strikes and bus route changes, we are concerned
about residents having to travel out of the borough for inpatient orthopaedic care surgery, taking
more time away from paid work and with increased travel costs. Additionally, we know that car
ownership is relatively low in Kensington and Chelsea, so we are concerned about resident and
their supports relying on public transport to travel to clinical appointments.

We would urge you to work with the Council on supporting local employment and apprenticeship
pathways, to keep local residents in local jobs in healthcare, and to continue consulting with our
residents throughout this process in a way that is meaningful to them. Additionally, with the
Integrated Care System now in place, we would like to see meaningful engagement of our Joint
Health and Wellbeing Board in decision-making processes such as these.

We look forward to continued collaboration with you as this project progresses, and to our
residents being consulted and informed as to any changes to their care provision.

Yours faithfully,
{

' A lg-Y AL ‘;@',LNL;C;{»\ g

Councillor Sarah Addenbrooke
Lead Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health
The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea

Final Report Page 133



verve

804 Proposal Response

City of Westminster

Subject: Orthopaedic In-Patient Surgery NW London
Proposal

Approved by: Chair, Children, Adult Public Health and
Voluntary Sector Policy & Scrutiny Committee

Date: 17 January 2023

Summary Response from the Committee Meeting 5 December 2022

Following a presentation provided to the Committee by Raymond Anakwe (Medical Director
for Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust) and Mick Fisher (Head of Strategic
Communications & Stakeholder Relationships| Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust) on the
plans to improve orthopaedic in-patient surgery and care in north west London, the Committee
reviewed and considered the following topics:

The consultation process to date, including feedback from service users, the
community, and partners, and the programme for the remainder of the
consultation period.

The importance of a joined-up approach between patient care services
across the borough.

The current waiting lists for orthopaedic care and the issues with addressing the
backlog of patients in the borough.

The costs to patients in travelling for treatment and the plans to transport
patients between services, including, the possible involvement with voluntary
services to facilitate assistance for patients.

Targeting minority groups or vulnerable residents, understanding their specific
needs, building confidence, and ensuring they are supported through other
services such as, childcare, the voluntary sector, and translators.

The complimentary, digital aspect of the service to improve communication with
patients, including, online discussion and follow-up with medical staff, and

addressing the issues around patients that are not digitally confident.

How follow-on treatment like physiotherapy will take place.

The committee highlighted the below points were areas for further consideration:

Final Report

Wasted travel time for staff, the travel distance for patients and the plans to address
these issues with the opening of the Orthopaedic In-Patient Surgery in NW London.

Page 134



verve

s Concerns were raised about whether patients were able to choose to attend the
proposed Orthopaedic In-Patient Surgery in NW London.

¢ Whether consideration will be given to other personal requirements of patients.

The Chair and Committee support the plans and recommendations made by Imperial College
Healthcare NHS Trust for the Orthopaedic In-Patient Surgery in NW London.

Final Report Page 135



verve

IMPROVING PLANNIED ORTHOPAEDIC INPATIENT SURGERY
IN NORTH WEST LONDON

RESPONSE FROM HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM SAVE OUR
NHS (HAFSON)

Final Report Page 136



verve

INTRODUCTION

This is HAFSON'’s response to the consultation papers about improving planned
orthopaedic surgery in NW London.

We have read all the published documents, attended at least one of the
engagement events organised by Imperial Trust, contributed to a discussion on
the proposals at the H&F Health and Social Care Scrutiny Panel, received
written comments from supporters and discussed our draft at a HAFSON
general meeting.

We recognise the context from which the proposals have emerged: close
collaborative work between trusts during the Covid pandemic; the alarming
backlog of patients awaiting orthopaedic treatment; and the evidence that
high volume, low complexity treatment at specially designed hubs with
dedicated staff could speed up treatment of patients and reduce waiting lists.
We also note, as the published papers make clear, that current orthopaedic
services show significant weaknesses across trusts in NW London. The papers
also admit that currently there is insufficiently joined-up care across primary,
community and acute services and that care is not always sufficiently focused
on the needs of patients.

HAFSON welcomes the fact that broad consultations to test the proposals for a
new orthopaedic hub have taken place.

HAFSON endorses the proposal in general terms as we recognise that this
could help tackle the backlog and begin to structure a more coherent patient
experience.

However, we also have a number of important concerns which we believe
need to be addressed as the proposal is taken forward.

EQUALITY, ACCESS AND QUALITY ISSUES

The papers make a strong case for situating the proposed hub at Central
Middlesex Hospital rather than at any of the alternative sites considered, such
as Mount Vernon. We think, overall, this is the right choice.

Travel

NW London has a population of more than 2 million people spread over a very
wide area. Whatever site is chosen may be easy to get to for some people but
will cause travel difficulties for many other patients and their visitors. NW

Final Report Page 137



verve

London has a slightly older population, a somewhat poorer population and a
greater ethnic mix than other parts of London; and also has a very large
number of people living in deprivation. These groups will be a significant
number of those needing orthopaedic care.

For many patients, Central Middlesex (CMH) has poor public transport links
and people from the above groupings are less likely than others to have access
to private transport. There are no train or tube stations near CMH. And
although there are good bus links from several parts of NW London, very many
people may require several bus changes to get to the site. It will also be an
unfamiliar site to very many people.

Travel is therefore an important access and equality issue. Taxi fares will be
beyond the means of many. We note in the papers that there is mention, on p.
58 of the full business case, of developing a shuttle bus service to get patients
to and from home hospitals. We endorse this proposal as a possible positive
solution to many of the above travel problems. We would also suggest that it
would enable properly trained staff to be in attendance to assist patients, post-
surgery, to return safely to their homes. In support of this, we know of taxis
being used when patients have had to struggle to get from a taxi into their own
homes without trained assistance. Getting home safely, post-surgery, poses its
own problems which need to be considered in planning transport solutions.

The development of, for example, a shuttle bus system could also help the
trusts meet their green targets.

Although we have concentrated on the needs of patients, some consideration
of the travel needs of visitors also needs attention, taking the above into
account. It is worth noting that many of the patients will be elderly and having
visitors will be a significant factor in recovery.

Similar travel difficulties may be faced by staff accessing this site. Due to
increased cost of living, rent etc., staff tend to live close to transport links to
hospitals. Thus, increasing their journey times to the new hub may make
recruitment and retention more difficult.

Choice

We understand that patients needing low complexity treatment may be able
to choose to be treated at the proposed hub or at their home hospital. There
needs to be greater clarity about the consequences of any choices that
individual patients might make. And any consequences for patients who do not
meet the ‘low complexity’ threshold and therefore would anyway remain at

Final Report Page 138



verve

the home hospital. Many ‘low complexity’ patients may be white and affluent
and it is not clear that, in itself, the hub will help poorer and minority ethnic
patients. More detailed analysis of equalities impact would be welcome here.

More explicit explanation is needed on how pressure on home hospital lists
might be dealt with if large humbers choose to stay with the home trust — both
for the low complexity cases and for high complexity cases. If many low
complexity patients choose to remain with their home hospital, will this make
the viability of the hub questionable?

Digital

HAFSON understands the very real advantages of digital developments in
medical treatment both for patients and for staff. However, the papers seem
to adopt the position that this is the default position in dealing with patients —
with the only example given, Samira, being entirely dependent on digital.

But many patients do not have the requisite technology, cannot afford the
technology, lack digital competence or confidence, may have language issues
etc. Additionally, it is often older people who develop orthopaedic problems
and who also can lose competence in digital matters as part of the ageing
process. It is not just older people — poor vision, impaired hearing etc can make
use of mobile technologies very difficult. Patients should not be forced to use
this technology when they feel uneasy about its use, Patient choice is vitally
important here and digital, however welcome, should not be the default
position. Equality of access is a key issue here.

Patients who are uneasy with digital modes should not be made to feel that
they should have to apologise for their choice.

More complex cases

The proposals give welcome detail about how the hub could speed up access
to treatment, improve the quality of treatment by having a highly trained staff
based there, but it says little about how the hub might also lead to
improvements to treatment for patients with more complex conditions who
will remain at their home hospital. It would be helpful to have more detail on
how the hub is expected to also facilitate improvements for those with more
complex needs.

Final Report Page 139



verve

Community MSK

The papers make clear that there is recognition that there are fundamental
difficulties, particularly from a patient point of view, with existing MSK
services. HAFSON would concur with this assessment, particularly in relation to
services in H&F. We have, over several years, received more complaints and
concerns about poor quality of treatment, unfocused treatment, long
unexplained delays between treatments, little follow up, generic advice rather
than specific advice relating to an individual problem, about the absence of any
treatment plan, about only being dealt with by phone (and not only during the
height of covid), about incorrect information ... and more.

We therefore welcome the proposal that there is to be a new procurement
process initiated soon. We recommend that the new MSK service is fully
integrated into a high quality and, above all, coherent service with clear
institutional links to both primary and acute services and with a transparent
management structure accountable to both the ICB and to the public which it
should serve. However, given the widespread dissatisfaction with the current
service, we strongly recommend that any new service needs to start from
patient experience and needs to be co-produced from the outset, so thata
system that is fit for patient need can be developed. This may help prevent
conditions developing that may require surgery at a later date. (It is only this
week that some of us have been able to see a ‘Business Case’ for MSK services
across NW London which is wholly systems-based and no recognition whatever
of patient experience etc.)

Coherence across NHS services

The business case points to gaps, delays, failures to send on appropriate
information, marginalisation of the patient etc in a very complex system.
However, at the end of the paper there is no detail as to how all the key
elements of the orthopaedic service, with patient experience at its centre, is to
be brought together in a coherent way —to include primary, secondary and
community services. This needs further early development.

Final Report Page 140



verve

Ongoing co-design

We welcome the fact that the proposed orthopaedic service is being envisaged
as a co-designed model. We recommend that the new service retains key
features of co-design as services will need to evolve to meet changed
demographics and new treatment demands. This is of great importance in that
members of the most deprived communities who make a large proportion of
those using orthopaedic services rarely have a voice in the development of
NHS services.

STAFFING

The papers are clear that staffing the hub will present its own challenges.
Given the national shortages of staff in this area, is it clear that the proposed
hub can recruit and retain sufficient highly trained staff so that the hub can
function fully from November 2023, and that the services to remain at home
trusts are not undermined?

It seems clear career development, academic research, teaching possibilities
etc for staff working at both the hub and at home trusts will be a draw i.e. that
consultants and other doctors will have clear career development possibilities.
However, from the papers, it does not seem clear that such opportunities to
develop careers and develop skills will be available to all staff since it seems
that nursing and therapy staff are to be appointed to the hub and will
therefore have fewer opportunities for broadening of skills.

We are aware that many of these issues are for ‘staff side’ consultation.

GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT

The outline graphic on p.84 of the full business case is quite bare. We would
welcome much more detail on how in practice such a complex structure might
work and how the hub will be held accountable to the general public.

Management on both a strategic and a day-to-day level

We have several questions here.

Final Report Page 141



verve

How will the hub be managed on a day-to-day level given that many of the
leading surgical staff (i.e. consultants and accompanying junior doctors etc) will
be in attendance, presumably on a rota basis, from their home trusts?

Who will take responsibility for deployment, scheduling etc of such staff? And
who will supervise the quality of their work?

As there will be a team of staff working permanently at the hub, as well as staff
coming to work from home trusts, how will day-to-day oversight of the work
be undertaken? If there is disagreement or conflict between hub staff and staff
from the different home trusts, how is this to be managed? It needs to be
noted that the actual “teams’ will be changing on a frequent basis and this
could lead to tensions.

Will the site be wholly managed, on a day-to-day level, by CMH management?
Or will there be a separate management structure? And how will this relate to
the home trusts? Will there be dedicated partnership meetings to ensure
coherence of approach and full staff commitment to the hub. This whole issue
of management of the hub needs significant fleshing out.

To work, the hub will need public trust. We feel that the publication of a clear
management structure would be helpful and reassuring.

Finally, we note that mention is made of the transfer of patient electronic
records between different parts of the system. We would, with appropriate
data protection safeguarding, be very much in favour of this — but will this be
in place by November 20237

FINANCE

The funding for setting up a new hub seems to be clearly organised and
detailed. And there is some fairly clear data on the ongoing costs for the first
few years of operation — not least while the large backlog is being tackled.
However, given the continuing high rate of inflation, is it clear that there will
be sufficient money available for all the necessary estate investment required
for the hub to function as an orthopaedic site?

If the backlog is successfully tackled, the papers provide no clear information
on possible patient numbers in future years that would guarantee that the hub
would be viable. We recognise that, given population changes, there may not
be a ‘steady state’ as such, but we think it is important to see figures for

Final Report Pag e 142 1 07



verve

possible patient numbers and ongoing costs, therefore, for the hub for the
future. We raise this issue because, in H&F, there has previously been the
failure of a ‘flagship’ hospital, Ravenscourt Park Hospital, which was forced to
close because of lack of demand for services — a victim of its own success.

A further query about financing of the hub: we know that there is an
outstanding PFI contract at CMH. Could this act as a financial drag on the
viability of the hub, or will the financing of the hub be kept entirely separate?

Given the specialism of the hub, we would seek reassurances that the service
would remain a fully publicly owned and provided NHS service and that there
would be no intention at any time to sell the hub to private providers. We
know that stand-alone facilities with narrow specialisms are particularly
attractive to private investment. We would very strongly resist any moves in
this direction. In the mid-2000s, hundreds of millions of pounds were invested
in establishing new ‘Independent Sector Treatment Centres’ to treat the
simplest elective cases. These were NOT a success, cost the NHS a great deal of
money, and were then shut down. We need assurances that the hub will not
be taken in that direction.

CONCLUSION

It would be useful and reassuring for the public to get feedback on the issues
that have been raised during the consultation period — on both the outcomes
of the consultation AND answers to issues that have been raised both by
individuals and by any organisations that have responded.

We think the above issues are important but we raise them in the context of
broad support for the proposed hub.

Jim Grealy, Chair, HAFSON

Merril Hammer, Secretary, HAFSON

Final Report Page 143



verve

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham I /f_\_( /

Governance and Scrutiny

Hammersmith Town Hall, hammersmith & fulham
King Street, London, W6 9JU

For the attention of Prof. Tim Orchard, Chief Executive Officer, Imperial College
Healthcare NHS Trust

Cl/o Mick Fisher, Head of Strategic Communications & Stakeholder Relationships

Dear Tim,

Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability — response to Improving
Planned Orthopaedic Inpatient Surgery In North West London consultation

The committee at its meeting on 16 November 2022 (draft minutes are attached as an
appendix) received a proposal to consolidate orthopaedic services at an elective
orthopaedic centre (EOC). This plans to deliver inpatient surgery by establishing a hub at
Central Middlesex hospital. An elective orthopaedic hub could efficiently manage a large
volume of cases with clinically low complexity. The committee notes the details of the
consultation and welcomes the Trusts efforts and commitment to engaging with community
stakeholders and residents to ensure that their views are considered in shaping the
proposal.

The committee agrees with your view that the integral concerns of residents and
stakeholders need to be alleviated and the following points explore the key areas of our
concern:

1. Pre and post operative care patient pathways

Operationally, procedures would be undertaken at Central Middlesex hospital, with
follow-up treatment pathways identified locally. The committee feels that clear
signposting to the options and post operative care pathways is important as it informs
individual decision making about which route is most appropriate for their
circumstances. There should be continuity of care between the procedure and post
operative care and given that this will be potentially delivered from two sites —the EOC
and a local site, there must be robust framework in place so that patients are aware of
treatment options throughout their care. Local signposting to post-operative support and
rehabilitation should ensure that every patient understands what their support looks like
and how to access it.

Supporting patient choice is fundamental but there is a balance to be sought between
the effective management of resources and the provision of accessible services so that
there is no disadvantage to the “patient” should they choose to refuse a fast-track
elective option.

Final Report Page 144



verve

2. Transport

There was strong agreement during the committee’s discussion that public transport
links from the borough to Central Middlesex hospital were a concern and members
concurred with your view that an imaginative and sensible approach was needed. The
committee recognises that pre-operative patient transport is distinct from post operative
patient transport. Cross borough public transport links are not good and traffic
congestion throughout the day can vary significantly. Travel costs and transportation
were known to negatively impact marginalised and economically vulnerable groups.
Dealing with the consequences of an untreated health conditions and the combined
stresses of an impending procedure and concerns about transport difficulties are not
ideal and could in some cases exacerbate symptoms or impede recovery.

The proposal is intended to provide an efficient clinical solution, but this should not be
delivered at the further expense of those groups that are already experiencing hardship.
As part of its cost of living response, the council is delivering support via the Household
Support Fund. Would it be feasible for the Trust to explore a similar solution to ensure
equitable and supported access to services by meeting any treatment related travel
costs incurred.

Any patient transport solution will require considerable innovation and the committee
would urge the Trust to continue to explore the feasibility of establishing a patient
dedicated service that could be developed across the NWL sector.

3. Clinical Expertise

The concentration of clinical expertise at Central Middlesex could impact on local
diagnostic services and the committee welcome assurances that local capabilities will
be unaffected. The need for strict patient protocols to identify suitable candidates for
fast-tracked elective surgical care means that not all patients will be eligible.
Recruitment and workforce retention in the NHS are a concern and concentrating
clinical expertise on one site infers that there may be additional pressures on local
provision which will remain in place as an option. The committee would welcome more
detail about how EQC will be provisioned given the current known pressures on clinical
staffing and what the impact on localised provision might be once expertise is
centralised at the EOC.

4. Digital Inclusion

Some communities experience difficulties in engaging with digital goods and services
through lack of knowledge, access to the internet or a suitable device. Prompted by a
response to the pandemic, the move to digitise has been fast and there is a concern
that groups who struggle to be digitally included will be further excluded unless there
are alternative in-person options, both in terms of treatment and the communication of
information. The committee welcome the implementation of any measures that can
ensure that those who are most affected by digital inclusion are not further

Final Report Page 145



verve

disadvantaged. The committee would particularly support measures which would
proactively reach out to underrepresented communities.

The EOC proposals are a welcome solution to the challenge of addressing the significant
backlog of orthopaedic cases across NWL. The fast-track hub model approach of tackling
high volume low complexity procedures, coupled with robust clinical assurance has the
potential to ensure that treatment is offered before the condition of those awaiting
treatment further deteriorate. However, the advantages of this configuration could be
further enhanced if patient transport and travel issues can be suitably resolved.

In addition, there needs to be clear access to information and signposted patient
pathways, including initial, localised diagnostics and post-operative recovery. The patient
voice is sometimes excluded from the process of shaping and informing “new” services.
Removing barriers to information, listening to the patient voice, and combining this with
broad engagement across a range of diverse communities is essential if health inequalities
are to be resolved.

The committee commends the Trusts efforts to engage with the community, voluntary
sector and stakeholders. This commitment that has been actively supported by the council
through sharing information about the consultation across council communication channels
and its wider network of partner organisations.

Kind regards,

ClIr Natalia Perez
Councillor for White City
Chair of Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Appendix — Draft minutes of the Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability
Committee, 16 November 2022

Final Report Page 146



verve

MAYOR OF LONDON

Helen Pettersen

Regional Director for London
NHS England

Penny Dash
Chair
North West London Integrated Care System

Matthew Swindells Date: 19 January 2023

Joint Chair
North West London Acute Hospitals

Rob Hurd
Chief Executive Officer
North West London Integrated Care System

Dear Helen, Penny, Matthew and Rob,

| want to start by thanking the North West London Integrated Care System team for their helpful
engagement with the process to apply my six tests to the proposals for ‘Improving planned
orthopaedic inpatient surgery in north west London’. This has supported my team to better
understand the proposed changes and the objectives and analysis behind them.

As Mayor, | have committed to using my influence and role as a political leader to champion,
challenge and collaborate with the NHS and other health partners on behalf of all Londoners. As
part of this role, | have developed six tests to apply to all major health and care transformation and
reconfiguration programmes. These tests are designed to help me challenge the NHS to
demonstrate that major changes are in the best interests of all Londoners.

In November 2022, | reviewed and refreshed my six tests. However, given that the public
consultation for these proposals was launched before the six tests were refreshed, | am assessing
them against the previous version of the tests. Those tests cover:

¢ health inequalities and the prevention of ill health
hospital beds

financial investment and savings

social care impact

clinical support

® patient and public engagement.

In November 2022, | commissioned the Nuffield Trust to carry out an independent expert review of
the proposed changes against the six tests. | have used this analysis to inform my position on the
proposals. A copy of this review is attached to this letter.

This letter sets out my view on the proposed changes against the first four of my tests. Following

the publication of the consultation report and final plans in the forthcoming decision-making
business case (DMBC), | will share my final position on the proposed changes against all six tests.

City Hall, Kamal Chunchie Way, London E16 1ZE
mayor@london.gov.uk # london.gov.uk « 020 7983 4000

Final Report Page 147



verve

MAYOR OF LONDON

Overall, I am broadly supportive of the proposed changes. They represent a significant opportunity
to improve patient outcomes, reduce waiting times, tackle the elective care backlog and deliver
care more efficiently. The model of care being developed has the potential to be adapted and
emulated by both other systems and other types of service across London, to the great benefit of
patients. However, in part because of the major potential these changes hold, it is crucial to ensure
that the benefits they generate for the health of Londoners and towards efforts to reduce health
inequalities are optimised. It is in that spirit that | share my position on the proposals at this stage
of their development.

To allow me to support the DMBC, | would like to draw your attention to several key points for you
to consider during the next phase of developing the proposals. In particular, the final plans should:

e Account for the potential risks of widening health inequalities that are identified in the
Nuffield Trust review, and offset these risks with actions to improve equity in elective
orthopaedic care in north west London.

® Put forward a detailed workforce plan that addresses the risk that shifting staff to the new
elective orthopaedic centre (EOC) could reduce capacity in surrounding hospitals and
services.

® Show how capacity freed up by the shift in activity to the EOC will be used or redeployed,
in order to realise the potential savings associated with the proposed changes.

® Set out a detailed consideration of the impact of the changes on social care services in
north west London.

Test 1: Health inequalities and the prevention of ill health

The pre-consultation business case (PCBC) for the proposals claims that elective orthopaedic
surgery use in north west London is currently skewed towards the most deprived population group,
and implies that, since their use of these services is disproportionately high, improvements to
elective orthopaedic care generated by the proposed changes will disproportionately benefit this
group. However, indicative analysis by the Nuffield Trust suggests that the share of elective
orthopaedic surgery in north west London used by the most deprived parts of the population is
broadly in line with population size, rather than being disproportionately high. This would mean
that, at best, the activity rate is proportionate to the relative level of need in that population
group. However, given that the PCBC for these proposals identifies a higher musculoskeletal
disease burden in the most deprived groups, this proportion of activity may in fact indicate a
relatively high level of unmet need for elective orthopaedic care. This entails a risk that the
changes will disproportionately benefit less deprived groups, and thereby widen health inequalities.
Given this, the DMBC should revisit this analysis to ensure that the risk of widening health
inequalities is appropriately considered and mitigated.

The proposed new EOC is a “high volume low complexity” hub, where patients with multiple
comorbidities, particularly if these are poorly managed, will be ineligible for treatment. Since the
incidence of multiple comorbidities increases significantly with deprivation, there is a substantial
risk that the group of patients eligible for treatment at the new centre will be less deprived than
those deemed ineligible. This would appear to mean that the benefits generated by the creation of
the new centre, such as improved clinical outcomes and reduced waiting times, would accrue
disproportionately to less deprived parts of the north west London population. In this respect, the
proposed changes risk widening health inequalities. The PCBC argues that patients ineligible for
treatment at the new EOC will experience equal clinical outcomes. However, since the chief clinical
benefit of the changes appears to be that treatment in the new centre will involve lower rates of

City Hall, Kamal Chunchie Way, London E16 1ZE
mayor@london.gov.uk # london.gov.uk « 020 7983 4000

Final Report Page 148



verve

MAYOR OF LONDON

complications, more evidence is needed to explain how patients treated outside of the centre will
experience improved clinical outcomes. As things stand, this risk should be offset by wider actions
to improve healthcare equity in orthopaedic care in north west London. These actions should be
clearly set out in the DMBC, alongside health inequality metrics and targets for the scheme.

It is positive that analysis in the PCBC shows that median travel times to the new EQC by both car
and public transport are lowest for the most deprived groups in north west London. However, it is
crucial to understand differences in travel costs, as well as travel times, associated with the
proposed changes, and | would want to see evidence on this in the DMBC. | am pleased to see the
commitment in the PCBC to pay particular attention to the travel needs of patients and carers from
deprived areas and to explore solutions to support affordable access. Attention should also be paid
to the needs of groups who may struggle to travel long distances, such as disabled people, older
people and those who do not speak English.

Test 2: Hospital beds

The proposed changes will involve a significant increase in bed and theatre capacity for elective
orthopaedic patients in north west London, as well as opening up bed capacity for other forms of
care in hospitals from which inpatient elective orthopaedic care will be transferred to Central
Middlesex Hospital (CMH). However, | note that analysis by the Nuffield Trust suggests that
without further actions in addition to those set out in the proposals, demand for elective
orthopaedic care in north west London will continue to outstrip NHS capacity.

The proposed changes involve a substantial shift in clinical resource from surrounding hospitals to
CMH, in order to staff the new centre. This risks diminishing clinical staff levels in those hospitals,
as well as destabilising interdependent services, including emergency care — potentially leading to
an effective reduction in bed capacity for other forms of care. Since more deprived groups
disproportionately use emergency care, such an impact on emergency care would generate a health
inequalities risk. These risks are helpfully raised in the proposal documentation published to date.

However, given the gravity of the risks, | would anticipate that the DMBC will include a more
detailed workforce plan that sets out how the risks will be addressed and monitored over time,
including mechanisms for tracking the effects of the changes on capacity in surrounding hospitals.

Test 3: Financial investment and savings

| welcome the fact that the EOC can be established at CMH with capital investment that is fully
funded in the local acute capital programme. It is also positive that this change would enable the
NHS to more efficiently use assets at CMH that it is already contractually committed to paying for,
and that annual revenue savings of £4m are anticipated once the centre is fully established.

Under the proposals, £17m of elective orthopaedic activity is being moved from three north west
London trusts to the new centre at CMH. For the potential ICS-wide savings of this shift to be
realised, these three trusts will need to either be able to export the full cost of the “referred”
patients out of their own cost bases when activity is moved, or re-use existing capacity for other
forms of patient care in a way that is fully funded. The PCBC rightly acknowledges this as a critical
challenge, but the DMBC should set out in detail how this challenge will be addressed — including
outlining how, where costs cannot be exported, capacity will be redeployed or activity reduced.

City Hall, Kamal Chunchie Way, London E16 1ZE
mayor@london.gov.uk # london.gov.uk « 020 7983 4000

Final Report Page 149



verve

MAYOR OF LONDON

Test 4: Social care impact

One of my priorities for any major service change is that the impact on adult social care is well
considered. | note that the PCBC does not set out how the proposed changes will affect adult
social care services. This should be considered in detail in the DMBC. It is important that this
includes modelling of the expected impact of the changes over time on the size and profile of
demand for local social care services, as well as setting out how risks associated with potential
shortfalls and inequalities in social care support will be monitored and mitigated. Given the shift in
patients from multiple boroughs to CMH, it is also important that the DMBC sets out appropriately
resourced plans to develop relationships between CMH and the full range of adult social care
services that it will be working with if the EOC is established.

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on the proposals. | will be publishing this letter on the
Greater London Authority website in the next few days. | plan to share my final position against all
six tests once | have reviewed the consultation report and the revised proposals that will follow in

the DMBC.

Yours sincerely,

O\Q’c‘—j]ﬂi’\

-

Sadiq Khan

Mayor of London

Cc: Geoff Alltimes, Independent Chair, London Estates and Infrastructure Board
Dr Roger Chinn, Chief Medical Officer, Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust

Dr Michael Gill, Chair, London Clinical Senate

Toby Lambert, Executive Director of Strategy and Population Health, North West London
Integrated Care System

Martin Machray, Executive Director of Performance, NHS England — London

Dr Chris Streather, Medical Director, NHS England — London

City Hall, Kamal Chunchie Way, London E16 1ZE
mayor@london.gov.uk # london.gov.uk « 020 7983 4000

Final Report Page 150



verve

Nuffield Trust assessment of North West London’s proposed elective orth dic care centre against the first four of the Mayor's Tests. January 2023

Summary of proposal:

The establishment of an Elective Orthopaedic Centre (EOC) at Central Middlesex Hospital, which will operate as a stand-alone “High Volume, Low
Complexity” surgical hub, with a strict separation of elective from emergency care. Such a separation is recommended in the “Getting it Right First Time"”
literature and national programme?® and follows a widely-regarded example of good practice in SWL (based at Epsom hospital). Such EOCs are viewed both
cost and clinically effective (allowing meore standardisation to best practice, lower length of stay (LOS) and more preductive use of theatre time) with better
outcomes for patients, primarily in the form of shorter waiting times (as theatre slots are not cancelled due to emergency demand surges) and lower rates
of complications (due to fewer site infections — as theatres and wards are not shared with emergency patients who cannot always be screened for
infections).

In the NWL case, Central Middlesex has been selected as a preferred site for the centre because it does not have an emergency department at all, meaning
the elective ring-fence will not be undermined. Further, CMH has unused physical capacity to open additional theatre slots and beds.

Under the proposed operating model, all NWL elective orthopaedic inpatients requiring “high volume, low complexity” surgical procedures will receive their
operation at the EOC in Central Middlesex. For comparison, there were approximately 4,200 such procedures carried out in NWL NHS hospitals in 2019, of
which around 3,700 were carried out on NWL residents.” Those who have higher complexities (measured in terms of multi comorbidities) will continue to
have their operations at their existing hospitals. Day case procedures, spinal surgery and hip and knee revisions {when an original joint replacement is
replaced or revised for a second time) would also be out of scope for the EOC with procedures remaining at their current locations, where clinical teams will
specialise in emergency care and higher complexity elective orthopaedics. Patients will continue to attend pre and post operative assessments and
outpatient clinics at their current local hospitals (with an increased emphasis on virtual clinics) with consultants “following™ their patients to the EOC to
perform surgeries.

Context:

As of September 2022, the total NWL elective orthopaedic waiting list stood at just over 15,000 patients. The PCBC estimates that of these, just under 2,500
were waiting for elective orthepaedic surgeries that are within the scope of the propesed changes. At present, average waiting times from the decision to

1 https://gettingitrightfirsttime co_uk/
2 North West London Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee meeting pack, 7 December 2022: shorturl.at/wGPQ3

admit for surgery for elective orthopaedic patients at NWL hospitals ranges between 11 and 19 weeks for day case surgeries and 14 to 35 weeks for
inpatient surgeries.

The PCBC envisages the establishment of the EOC will reduce waiting times by around 7 weeks for inpatients and by 8 weeks for day cases by October 2025.

Charts presented in the PCBC suggest that without the proposed changes, the ~2,500 NWL waiting list of in-scope patients will grow to around 7,500 by
September 2030. With the changes, data modelled in the PCBC suggests the relevant waiting list will be eliminated in full by 2029. Although the precise
activity projecticns for in-scope patients are not set cut clearly in the PCBC, this radical reduction in the waiting list appears to be based on the
establishment of the EOC leading to approximately 1,300 more elective orthopaedic inpatients being treated a year in NWL by 2024 than at 2019 levels ®

The establishment of the EOC will involve CMH itself treating 3,250 more inpatient elective orthopaedic patients a year by 2024 than at 2019 activity levels,
of which figures presented in the PCBC suggest just under 2,900 would currently be expected to be treated at one of the other NWL hospitals, but would
instead be transferred to the new EQC.

Test 1: Health inequalities and the prevention of ill health

Background Commentary Things for the
Mayor to
consider (to
come)

Supplementary questions 1&2, do | The PCBC appears to frame the proposed changes and the associated improvements in in-scope

proposals: elective orthopaedic surgery as necessarily falling under the national “CORE20PLUS5” policy to

1. Setout the heaith fiocus on the “most deprived 20%" of the population, as it presents statistics showing
inequalities issues in their | disproportionate take up of such surgery in the most deprived group. By implication, this group
local population? would also be the main beneficiaries of improvements (including shorter waiting times and

2. Consider their impact on improved clinical outcomes) resulting from the reconfiguration.

health inequalities in a
systematic, documented
way?

* It would be useful if NWL could darify activity projections (induding the split between inpatient and day case procedures). The figures presented in the PCBC are at times
confusing, particularly the activity figures and capacity options presented in figure 21.

Final Report Page 151



verve

The PCBC sets out the population
health challenges for NWL and
describes MSK disorders as one of
the maost common comorbidities
amongst the most deprived
quintile of the population, as
defined by the national Index of
Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2019)
although this is not quantified or
explored in any detail.

The PCBC further notes the recent
NHS England CORE20plus5
framework, which identifies the
most deprived quintile as “the key
target cohort for health
interventions”.

The PCBC then goes on to state
that in 2021, patients from “the
most deprived quintile of the

The statistics presented require some clarification. The 37-39% figure is derived from an analysis
using Carstairs deprivation scores which are reliant on data from the 2011 census and are
considered to be poorly suited to London as they use the lack of car ownership, and only male

North West London population”* {rather than male and female) unemployment as markers of relative deprivation.” Indeed, based
made up 37 percent of NWL on 2019 population estimates, approximately 38% of the NWL population resides in

#In fact, the analysis does not focus on “the most deprived 20% of the NWL population”, but rather on the neighbourhoods of NWL that fall within the 20% most deprived
in England which ranges between 12% and 38% of NWL, depending on the measure of England-level deprivation used. We address this point further below, but correct the
terminology here to avoid confusion.

% See https://eprints whiterose ac uk,/286164/7/DeprivationHealth-Full-18-01-2015.pdf and hitos:/ fwww ncbinlm nib sov/pmo/arides PMCA29779/ and hittp://s3-eu-
west-

Lar o istics.digitalresources. jisc.ac.uk/dkan//files/ T |_Deprivation_Scores/UK3 1d%200eprivation®a205coresa2 (from®:202011%20census
%:20data.pdf
3
patients undergoing orth di ight hoods which the Carstairs measure would categorise as within the “most deprived 20%
procedures (and 32 per cent in of England” — roughly proportionate to elective orthopaedic hospital episodes involving patients
2019). from the same neighbourhoods ® This provides an indication of the lack of suitability of the

Carstairs measure to London and further suggests that elective orthopaedic activity in NWL is not
dispropertionately focused on the poorest fifth of the population, but is merely in line with a

Additional analysis presented in crude measure of population share.

the PCBC further claims that while

only around 2% of the NWL As with the Carstairs fysis, the IMD lysis pr din the PCBC suggests a significant “pro-
population live in neighbourhoods | deprivation” skew in elective orthopaedic activity in NWL, which would be remarkable if correct,
falling within the 10% most as nationally, patients living in the most deprived deciles are underrepresented in elective
deprived nationally {under the hospital admissions in general, and in particular for elective orthopaedic admissions™.

Index of Multiple Deprivation)
patients living in these However, The Nuffield Trust has been unable to replicate the findings by national IMD decile
neighbourhoods account for 6% of | reported in the PCBC. Instead, The Nuffield's Trust analysis of elective orthopaedic activity
elective orthopaedic activity. involving patients resident in NWL postcode areas in 2019 and 2021 suggests activity rates were
broadly in-line with crude population shares, with scme indication of higher than expected
activity rates for patients living in areas that fall within the two least deprived deciles nationally —
which increased further in 2021 — and lower than expected rates in decile 4 {which falls within
the second most deprived quintile nationally). *

% Carstairs scores for Lower Super Output Areas in England were derived from: Wheeler, Benedict (2019). “Carstairs Index 2011 for Lower-layer Super Output Areas” [Data
Collection]. Colchester, Essex: UK Data Archive. 10.5255/UKDA-SN-851497 https://reshare_ukdataservice.ac.uk/851497/

? For national figures on admitted patient care, see https://digital.nhs uk/dats-and-information/publications/statistical/hospital-admitted-patient-care-activity. Elective
orthopaedic specific rates for England were expl in ished backgr analysis by the Nuffield Trust and are indicative. A thorough analysis of inequalities in
hospital care would need to take into account differences in need between population groups, including — but not limited to - those indicated by the age profile of
individual neighbourhoods.

& Chart Source: Hospital Episode Statistics; ONS mid-year population estimates for 2019; IMD 2019. Nuffield Trust analysis using elective spells for admitted patient care
where treatment spedialty is 110" {trauma & orthopaedics). IMD 2019 scores are at LSOA level for patient residence and activity is NWL commissioner-based (ie excludes
patients trezted in NWL hospitals but commissioned by non-NWL NHS commissioners). Population estimates for 2021 are not yet available at LSOA level. However there
were only very minimal changes in national IMD decile population share between 2019 and 2020. Hospital Episode Statistics data (years 2018/19 to 2020/21) Copyright @
{2021), NHS Digital. Re-used with the permission of NHS Digital. All rights reserved.

Final Report Page 152



verve

Proportion of elective trauma & orthopaedic spells in NWL, 2019 and
2021, by national IMD dedile and population share (1= most
deprived)
18.0%
16.0%
14.0%

12.0%

10.0%

BO%

6.0%

4.0% II

2.0%

ol | [ il

1 2 3 a 5 6 7 B 9 10

M population share (mid 2019 estimate) Mactivity share 2019 M activity share 2021

Activity rates for elective hip and knee procedures — which will form the bulk of activity affected
by the NWL proposals — indicate a more pronounced and widening differences in activity shares
relative to the share of the NWL population that falls into the most and least deprived deciles
nationally in 2021. %

* Chart Source: Hospital Episode Statistics; ONS mid-year population estimates for 2019; IMD 2019. Nuffield Trust analysis using elective episodes for admitted patient care,
with a procedure code W37 through to W42, which span hip and knee replacements induding revisions. Hospital Episode Statistics data (years 2018/19 to 2020/21)
Copyright & (2021), NHS Digital. Re-used with the permission of NHS Digital. All rights reserved.

Proportion of elective hip and knee procedures in NWL 2019 and
2021 by national IMD decile and population share (1 = most
deprived)

10.0%
vox Mn all
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 k]

10

E NWL population share (mid 2019) Mshare of activity 2019 M share of activity 2021

This analysis of crude activity rates is only indicative. A thorough analysis of potential inequalities
in elective orthopaedic activity rates would need to account for the different age structures of
each population decile {with the least deprived deciles having a higher proportion of over 65
year olds, for example, but also longer healthy life expectancies); higher levels of private
healthcare use in the least deprived deciles; and significantly higher rates of clinical risk factors

relevant to the need for elective orthopaedic surgery— including higher rates of cbesity —in the
more deprived deciles®.

There is a tendency in the PCBC to refer to “the most deprived 20% of the NWL population”
when actually what is being presented is the much smaller proportion of the NWL population
that falls within the 20% most deprived neight hoods in England as a whole, which in NWL
comprises just 12% of the population, when assessed against the IMD for 2019.

18 For more information on MSK risk factors by a variety of social and other variables, see Public Health England’s “Fingertips” resource
hittps:/ ffingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/msk

Final Report Page 153



verve

While the CORE20PLUSS policy instructs health systems to pay particular attention to the most
deprived 20% nationally, a systematic exploration of health inequalities at an ICS level would also
require an interrogation of healthcare access and outcomes relative to local social inequalities, in
order to ascertain if a social gradient is present in healthcare.

By way of illustration, the below presents NWL commissioned elective trauma and orthopaedic
episodes by patient IMD scores, which have been ranked into deciles relative to NWL, rather
than England as a whole. In this presentation, the expected share of activity for each group —all
other factors being equal — would be 10%, if activity was in line with population share **

Trauma and orthopaedic elective episodes in NWL 2019 and 2021,
by NWL-specific IMD deciles {1 = most deprived)

14.0%
12 0%
10.0%

B.O%
6.0%
4.0%
2.0%
0.0%
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

M share of activity 2019 M share of activity 2021

1 Chart source: Hospital Episode Statistics; ONS mid-year population estimates for 2019; IMD 2019. Nuffield Trust analysis using elective episodes for admitted patient care
where treatment specdialty is 110" (trauma & orthopaedics). IMD 2019 scores are at LSOA level with deciles ranked according to the NWL range. NB this analysis focuses
on episodes of care under a named consultant, rather that spells in hospital. One spell may consist of multiple episodes. Hospital Episode Statistics data (years 2018/19 to
2020,/21) Copyright © (2021), NHS Digital. Re-used with the permission of NHS Digital. All rights reserved.

This analysis of crude activity rates suggests that the share of elective T&O activity consumed by
patients living in the poorest 10% of NWL fell between 2019 and 2021 while the share consumed
by the least deprived 10% in particular grew. This crude data would again need adjusting to take
account of different age and underlying needs within each population decile before a fuller
understanding of any inequities could be ascertained.

The indicative nature of these crude activity rates notwithstanding, they do cast significant doubt
on the claim in the PCBC that elective orthopaedic surgery in NWL is currently skewed towards
the most deprived population group and the implication that benefits stemming from the
proposals will similarly accrue disproportionately to that group. At best, the crude activity rates
suggest activity shares are only broadly in line with population share. Given the higher MSK
disease burden the PCBC highlights as present in the most deprived groups, it may be that an
activity rate only proportionate to population share in those groups is indicative of unmet need.

There is therefore a risk that the choice of deprivation indicator and analytical approach used in
the PCBC has distorted both an understanding of current inequalities in access to elective
orthopaedic surgery in NWL as well as of the likely distribution of benefits resulting from the
proposed changes, which are intended to both reduce waiting times and improve clinical
outcomes (for example through reduced surgical infections —a key benefit stemming from the
separation of emergency and elective surgery). This potential distortion is a concern because it
may mean opportunities to address existing inequities and to ensure a fairer distribution of
benefits from the proposals (or from parallel initiatives) have not been fully explored. As the
burden of MSK disease is disproportionately experienced in more deprived groups, changes to
the MS5K pathway that disproportionately benefit better off groups will, without mitigating action
elsewhere, increase inegualities, including against the Mayor’'s key measure of Healthy Life
Expectancy™.

An allied concern is that the proposed NWL EOC is conceived as a “high volume low complexity”
hub which will not be co-located with emergency care facdilities. As such, the PCBC is clear that

1 For a discussion of the evidence linking the elimination of arthrosis (the key diagnosis associated with elective orthopaedic surgery) to tangible increases in Healthy Life
Expectancy, see: Ritsuno, Y., Kawado, M., Morita, M. et al. "Impact of musculoskeletal disorders on healthy life expectancy in Japan”, BMC Musculoskelet Disord 22, 661
(2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/512891-021-04539-4

Final Report Page 154




verve

patients with multiple comorbidities — particularly those with conditions that are poorly
managed — and/or have ASA scores® of 3 or above —will be ineligible for treatment at the
proposed EOC.

A recent retrospective analysis of high volume low complexity (HVLC) surgical hubs in London
found that before the pandemic, approximately 25% of elective orthopaedic patients were
classified as ASA 3 or 4—indicating a level of complexity which would currently exclude patients
from the scope of the propased EOC at Central Middlesex!®. By the time of the analysis
{completed in 2021) the proportion had increased to around 35% although it is not yet known if
this increase is temporary and due to patients being deconditioned through long waits, or if the
marked increase is likely to be sustained, as part of a demographic shift. In either event, the
proportion of patients ineligible for treatment at the EOC is likely to be substantial and more
needs to be known about these patients, their relevant characteristics (including, but not limited
to those protected under the 2010 Equality Act) their needs and the likely outcomes they can
Supplementary guestions 384, do | expect from their elective surgeries in NWL, including waiting times.

proposals:

3. Ensure that services do not | As the incidence of multi-comerbidities increases significantly with deprivation (and also with old
become less accessible to age)™ it would be reasonable to expect that, all other factors being equal, the cohort of patients
vulnerable groups? eligible to be treated at the EOC would likely be less deprived than those deemed ineligible.

4. Ensure that unwarranted While the PCBC does acknowledge that patients ineligible for treatment at the EOC will be less
varigtions in outcomes do | likely to benefit directly froem reduced waiting times, it claims they would still experience “equal”
not worsen? clinical outcomes compared to patients treated in EOCs. As the chief clinical benefit to treatment

in a ring-fenced EOC is lower rates of complications such as surgical site infections due to the

2 ASA grades are the American Society of Anaesthesiologist’s patient dassification system, indicating level of complexity linked to the patient’s condition and diagnoses,
with 1 indicating low complexity. The ASA grading system is standardly used throughout the NHS. For more information, see Anaesthesia UK : ASA Physical Status

Qazsification Svstem (f¢a.co Ukl

# *Equality and Health Inequalities Impact Assessment: High volume low complexity surgical hubs — Orthopaedics” — Health Innovation Network South London and Imperial
College Health Partners, Dec 2021

* See for example: “The influence of socioeconomic deprivation on multimorbidity at different ages: a cross-sectional study”, McLean, G et al., British Journal of General
Practice 2014; 64 (624): e440-e447. DOI: 10.3329/bjep14X680545; and “Inequalities in incident and prevalent multimorbidity in England, 2004-19: a population-based,
descriptive study”, Head, A, et al, The Lancet, Vol 2 (8), 2021

The proposed EOC will be for “high | separation of elective and emergency care™, it is unclear how this benefit will be secured by
volume, low complexity” cases elective patients who continue to be treated in non-ringfenced theatres and wards.

It is relevant to note in this regard that while South West London’s EOC is widely regarded as a
successful “high volume low complexity hub”, the aforementioned 2021 retrospective equity
analysis found that in the first three months of 2021, South West London patients falling into the
poorest national IMD quintile made up just 4% of elective orthopaedic patients treated in the
area (with no patients coming from the poorest 10%). While it is not clear what population
denominators are relevant to this unpublished study, ¥ this is likely to represent a significantly
lower than expected share of activity relevant to population size. More analysis is needed to
establish the impact of HVLC hubs on equitable access to care, including the impact on patients
with more complex needs who do not qualify for treatment in these centres.

It is impertant to stress that an unegqual distribution of the direct benefits resulting from the
proposals are not in themselves a reasen to reject or devalue them. However, where implicit
trade-offs have been made between different patient and demographic groups (as well as
between competing NHS priorities, such as health equity, waiting times, and limited resources) it
would be useful to set these out, as doing so can help inform discussions and investment
decisions about other related services, where there may be an opportunity to address or
mitigate the imbalance in benefits and outcomes.

The PCBC flags risks to the stability | A risk that is particularly pertinent to the trade-offs entailed in competing NHS priorities and

of urgent and emergency care pressures is noted throughout the PCBC as the risk to urgent and emergency care services at
services at surrounding hospitals. “referring” hospitals, if staffing arrangements at the EOC lead to a depletion of available staff for
emergency care. This is explored in more detail in the bed test below. However, as emergency
care is disproportionately consumed by patients from the poorest quintile (while elective care is

& https://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/surgical_specialties/orthopaedic-surgery/

17 The Nuffield Trust has been unable to verify the analytical approach used in this unpublished Londen-wide study, elements of which are reproduced in the NWL PCEC. In
particularly, it is not clear which version of the IMD was used to assign London ICS populations to national deciles. However, under all likely possibilities it seems the most
deprived two dedles were underrepresented in South West Lendon's EOC activity. In IMD2010, roughly 1.3%: and 6.2% of SWL's population fell into the two most deprived
deciles, whereas in IMD 2019, this reduced to 0.7% for the most deprived dedile and remained constant for the second most deprived decile.

10

Final Report Page 155



verve

Travel

The PCBC assesses whether or not
situating the proposed EOC at
CMH might exacerbate healthcare
access inequalities by making
travel times for patients deemed
particularly vulnerable to
healthcare inequalities longer than
the general population. The
analysis shows that the CMH
location will offer the shortest
median travel time by car and the
second shortest median travel
time by public transport for all
NWL residents, although all
residents will need to travel
through the ULEZ to access the
site, incurring a charge if their
vehicle is non-compliant.

It is notable that the median travel
times ta CMH by both publicand
private transport are expected to

under-consumed by the same group) this operational and resource risk also poses a risk to
healthcare equity. Nationally, in 2019, 24 4% of all emergency admissions were of patients living
in the poorest quintile of the population, whereas only 16.1% were of patients living in the least
deprived quintile

While travel times under the preferred location {CMH) will be shortest for the poorest
neighbourhoods, these are defined in the travel analysis within the PCBC as the "CORE20" group,
which comprise (under IMD 2019) 12% of the NWL population. It is not clear what the impact will
be on relative deprivation beyond this group —that is, on the further 8% of the NWL population
whe do not live in the most deprived neighbourhoods nationally, but who, together with the
“CORE20" neighbourhoods, make up the most deprived 20% of NWL neighbourhoods.

It is alse unclear how the assessed future travel times differ from current travel times from the
highlighted neighbourhoods, which may be an important factor to consider alongside an analysis
of any current inequalities in elective orthopaedic surgery, as what is relevant to obstacles to
accessing care is not just how ene group’s travel times (and costs) might differ from another’s,
but perhaps more importantly, the differing abilities of different groups to absorb or tolerate
travel time and costs. 12

The PCBC notes that some patients travelling by car will need to pay the ULEZ charge (if their
wehicles are non-compliant) as well as substantial car parking charges. Travel cost as well as time
are factors which will need to be examined in more detail through the public consultation,
paying particular attention to low income groups and groups who may struggle to travel longer
distances — such as disabled people, older people and those who do not speak English and so

may find it harder to navigate public transport. In order to explore how travel issues affect access
inequalities (including how they affect patient decisions to seek elective care) it is vital that the
consultation involve people whao are not currently and have never been elective orthopaedic

patients, as well as those who are already on the waiting list or who are receiving care.

% For example, a low paid worker on a zero hour contract may find it significantly harder to spend two hours travelling and attending an outpatient appointment than a
patient working in a salaried profession. Even if both were required to take unpaid time off work to ttend the appointment, the relative hit of this income loss their

household disposable incomes would likely differ very widely

11

be lowest from the poorest
neighbourhoods.

Supplementary guestion 5, do
proposals set out specific,
measurable goals for narrowing
heaith inequalities and
mechanisms for achieving this, for
example through credible plans to
make services more accessible to
vulnerable groups {and/or to)
reduce unwarranted variation in
outcomes?

The revised elective orthopaedic
pathway will include investment in
virtual outpatient clinics including
“joint school” appeintments to
prepare patients for surgery. To
address the digital divide,
outpatient appointments will also
be available face-to-face at their
current local hospital.

Concerns about travel times have been flagged by local councillors. In particular, councillors
sitting on Hammersmith and Fulham's Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability
Committee have raised concerns about transport, with some proposing that the ICS provides a
dedicated transport service to alleviate potential inequalities. Councillors on the same
committee have also raised concerns about the potential over-reliance of virtual dlinics both in
the proposed model and more generally since the Covid-19 pandemic as a potential source of
inequalities and poorly coordinated care *®

Initiatives designed to widen access to outpatient clinics are likely to help reduce healthcare
inequalities, for example if they lessen inequalities driven by low-wage or insecurely employed
patients finding it harder to take time of work (or caring responsibilities) to access appointments
{provided they are made available alongside face-to-face appointment options for the cohort of
the population that experiences difficulties using or accessing technology). However research by
the Institute of Fiscal Studies suggests that significant inequalities in follow-up outpatient activity
persist, even when inequalities in working-time flexibility are controlled by focusing on retired
patients_ In a 2020 study, the IF5 found that retired patients with the highest educational
attainment level attended 17% more outpatient appointments than patients with the lowest

educational attainment level, after adjusting for need®. This suggests that nationally thereisa

hitp://d documen

¥ | BHF, Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Acc ility C

Draft Minutes Wednesday 16 November 2022

-Moy-

DoCracy 1o0n o K 1 il
2022%:2019.00%:2 0Health®:2 Dand¥a2 DAdult?a2 0Social?a2 0Care3a2 0Policy?e2 0and¥a20Accountability¥a2 PCommitt. pdf? T=1. Other scrutiny committee meetings were

monitored over the course of The Nuffield Trust applying the first four tests, however LBHF was the only committee to publish the minutes of relevant meetings
* Stoye, G., Zaranko, B., Shipley, M., McKee, M. and Brunner, E. {2020, “Educaticnal Inequalities in Hospital Use Among Older Adults in England, 2004-2015" The Milbank
Quarterly, 98: 1134-1170. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12479

12

Page 156

Final Report



verve

stark social gradient in patient abilities to seek and take up outpatient care, even after the
impact of loss of earnings has been remowved or limited.

As Joint School is conceived as playing a key role in preparing patients for procedures (“pre-
habilitation”) this will be a key area for NWL te monitor to ensure equitable access to the entire
surgical pathway. Due to the higher incidence of comorbidities in both the most deprived group
as well as in the Black Caribbean group, well-resourced and readily accessible pre-habilitation
care, through outpatient clinics and community services will be particularly significant to these
groups, especially if they can improvement the management of comorbidities and thus lower
patient ASA risk sceres. More infermation on specific plans for this would be useful.

One emerging form of good practice with regards to inequalities in access to outpatient
appointments is the monitoring of “did not attends™ by factors such as deprivation and ethnicity.
This can provide insights into the accessibility of services for different groups as well as guide
targeted and r ble action on addressing access inequalities. 2

Itis notable that at present, none of the KPIs proposed for the proposed scheme relates to
healthcare equity.

The starting point to addressing this would be a more comprehensive analysis of existing rates of
access to elective orthopaedic surgery, relative to need, to identify unwarranted gaps and
establish appropriate means to close them and measures of progress in doing so.

4 See for example hitps://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads,/2022/07/B1779-Actionable-Insights-Tackling-inequalities-in-healthcare-access-experience-and-

outcomes-guidance-July-202_pdf

13
Test 2: Hospital beds
Background Commentary Things for the
Mayor to consider
{to come)
Supplementary guestion 1: Do proposals While dedicated clinical capacity for dealing with elective orthopaedic
intain/i current bed ity? activity that is in-scope (that is, surgery for patients with an ASA score at or
below 2 and who do not require spinal or revision procedures) is set to
increase under the proposals, there is substantial uncertainty about clinical
The PCEC envisages a substantial increase in bed | capacity for related and co-dependent services, including trauma and
and theatre capacity at CMH, from 13 dedicated | paediatric care; elective orthopaedic care for out-of-scope conditions and
inpatient beds at 2019 levels to 41 by 2024. This | multi-merbid patients; and alsc for in-scope activity that will remain at
will represent a marked increase in bed capacity | patients’ “local” hospitals (for example outpatient clinics and therapists).
available for elective orthopaedic patients in
NWL, as beds at CMH will be ringfenced forthis | At present, such activity makes use of beds and clinical capacity that the
activity only, whereas current practice is for this | proposals will see strictly ringfenced and mowved to CMH. This creates a risk
capacity to be frequently absorbed in dealing and uncertainty for those co-dependent services and the PCBC is unclear
with surges in emergency admissions, leading to | how much dlinical capacity will transfer to CMH and how much will remain
elective care cancellations. Beds and theatre and be available for continued use by the NWL healthcare system. Regardless
slots at other NWL hospitals “freed up” by the of decisions over funding for the remaining capacity, the chief concern will be
transfer of inpatient elective orthopaedic staff availability to maintain service safety and sustainability.
patients to CMH are expected to remain open
but be made available for other forms of care
(including emergency care and more complex This uncertainty is flagged at several points throughout the PCBC which notes
elective orthopaedics). The productive use of the risk that “residual services” at Chelsea and Westminster, Imperial and
these beds (and the staffing capacity which goes | Hillingdon hospitals trusts may be "denuded” of relevant staff if the
with them) will be a challenge and will be establishment of the EOC was to lead to a reduction of staff available to work
considered under the finance test at these “referring” haspital trusts. The concern was also been raised by
Hammersmith and Fulham councillors.®
* LBHF, Health and Adult Social Care Policy and Accountability Committee Draft Minutes Wednesday 16 November 2022
hitp.//democracy Ibhf sovuk/documents/g7304/ Prin pinute Gth-Noy-
2022%:2019.00%:20Health#:2 0and¥a? 0Adult?2 0Social#e? 0Care¥a? 0P olicy¥s2 0and%a2 0Accountability¥a? 0Committ. pdfP T=1.
14

Final Report

Page 157



verve

Although the proposals do not include any
reduction in bed or clinical capacity over all, they
will involve a substantial shift in clinical resource
from “referring” hospitals to CMH, to staff the
new EOC. The PCBC estimates that in total, the
EOC will require a staff of 351, including 243
nurses and 53 doctors. Some of these staff will
transfer permanently to the CMH from other
NWL trusts while others (particularly
consultants) will “follow™ their patients to CMH
when they receive their inpatient procedure, but
will continue working also at their current
hospitals (where they will treat day case
patients, run outpatient clinics and work
emergency care rotas). NWL is also clear that a
substantial component will need to be additicnal
staff, but flags that qualified and unqualified
nursing posts are currently particularly hard to
fill.

This risk is three-fold:

1. Recruitment into EOC posts might come at the cost of staffing levels in
surrounding hospitals. The PCBC envisages that EOC recruitment will lead to
additional staffing levels across NWL. However, this may prove overly
optimistic for socme staff groups.

2. For some staff groups at referring hospitals, there may not be sufficient
elective orthopaedic patients left — or a sufficient case mix of activity left—to
sustain local services and retain staff. The PCBC flags this risk in particular in
relation to some allied health professional staff working with elective and
emergency care patients at The Hillingdon Hospital;

3. The provider collaborative is yet to complete its workforce modelling and
baseline analysis of its current workforce establishment. This means the
PCBC does not provide any detail on what proportion of time staff currently
working at “referring hospitals” spend dealing with “in scope™ activity that
will be transferred to the EOC, and what propertion of their working time is
spent on out-of-scope activity, including surges in emergency admissions.
This information is vital to the safe and sustainable staffing of services — both
in and out-of-scope.

The PCBC states that this data collection is ongoing and will be used to
monitor staffing levels at referring trusts This is vital information that should
be made transparent before any final decision is made on the proposals.
Transparent metrics should also be developed so this risk can be monitored
throughout any implementation of the EOC model.

Until this work is completed and made transparent, it is unclear whether or
not the proposals will lead to an over-all reduction in clinical capacity in NWL
hospitals as there is a risk they will increase capacity for low complexity

15

Supplementary question 2: Do any proposed bed
closures meet at least one NHSE common sense
condition

elective care at the price of reduced capacity or resilience for higher
complexity care, urgent and emergency care and other related services.

For some staff groups — particularly consultants — staffing levels will be
contingent on service ability to offer attractive job plans, including
opportunities to develop through an appropriate mix of patients, and to
undertake research.

These issues will need to be explored further under test 5. Pay rates —in
particular the difference between inner and outer Lendon weighting - may
also be a factor and this is explored in test 3 below.

The proposals also flag the potential use of new dlinical roles — including
advanced clinical practitioners. These roles require careful planning and
supervision to ensure safe practice’ and there are currently uncertainties
around the future regulatory framework for them. Successful introduction of
the roles will require detailed consultation with the wider clinical team.

The PCBC does not present explicit mitigations to bed closures as its base
case is that staffing levels for non-transferred services will be maintained.

However a potential mitigation would be increased efficiencies for in-scope
activity, which would mean that activity could be carried out with relatively
lower staffing requirements than at present (or that increased activity could
be achieved on relatively static staffing levels).

The PCBC indicates that activity and capacity modelling has been premised
on a bed occupancy rate of 90% for the EOC and the achievement of an

* For a wider discussion, see "David Oliver: Could separating NHS “hot” and "cold” inpatient sites work?” BNU 2021; 374 :n1814 doi:10.1136/bmj.n1814

= https:/www.hee.nhs.uk;/sit

t/ffiles/documer

Final Report

1ts/multi- i kforadvanceddlinicalpracticei d pdf

Page 158

16



verve

The relevant NHSE test is for proposals to do one
or more of the following®:

A) Demonstrate that sufficient alternative
provision, such as increased GP or
community services, is being put in place
alongside or ahead of bed dosures, and
that the new workforce will be there to
deliver it;

Show that specific new treatments or
therapies, such as new anti-coagulation
drugs used to treat strokes, will reduce
specific categories of admissions;

Where a hospital has been using beds
less efficiently than the national average,
that it has a credible plan to improve
performance without affecting patient
care (for example in line with the Getting
it Right First Time programme).

B

C]

Supplementary guestion 3: Does revised bed
medelling take full account of the latest
" hi iections?

P

average length of stay of 2.3 days — upper quartile performance for the NHS
as a whole. At present LNW Trust {which runs CMH) appears in the second
and third quartile of England-wide performance for hip and knee
replacement lengths of stay, whereas NWL's overall performance is 3.7 days
for knee replacements and 3.4 days for hip replacements. This suggests that
the EOC will need to see a marked decrease in NWL's average length of stay
if it is to meet the assumptions within the activity and capacity modelling.

Performance metrics for five established EOCs in England presented in the

PCBC show a range of performance on length of stay, ranging from EOCs in
South West London, Royal Cornwall and Lincoln all achieving upper quartile
length of stays for hips and knees, but EOCs in Gloucester and Nottingham

performing at below national average.

The PCBC states that activity growth assumptions have been based on the
GLA's population projections to 2029. Correspondence from NWL ICS to the
GLA further explains that these projections have been weighted in line with
the age breakdown in NWL elective trauma and orthopaedic activity in 2019,
which saw the largest shares of activity in patients aged between 55 and 79.
This produces a projected increase in demand of around 19% by 2029.25 NWL
states that the proposed EOC will be able to cater for this level of demand
increase in inscope activity, with potential for activity levels to increase
above this level if day case rates increase and the EOC were able to run
theatres 7 days a week . ®

Itis not yet clear how capacity to deal with out-of-scope demand and activity
will be affected by the changes, or how the trajectory of demand for such

* https:/fwww._england .nhs. ukpr{ontent,fup\oadsfzoleosfplannlng—assunng—delwenng serwce-:hange-vs—l pdf

* The PCBC uses the GLA's housing-led population projections
increase referenced here is based on Nuffield Trust's caloulations, using age weights provided by NWL ICS and the GLA's populamn projections.

¥ personal communication NWL ICS to GLA, January 2023

The 19% weighted demand

17

Supplementary guestion 4: Have the proposals
used the NHS bed capacity modelling tool?

activity might differ {or not) from the trajectory of demand for in-scope
activity.

For context, NHS England’s current target is that overall elective capacity
increase to 130% of pre-pandemic levels by 2024-25 and to permanently
sustain the level of emergency care capacity put in place over winter 2022/23
(the equivalent of 7,000 beds nationally). ** By contrast, NWL's plans are for
elective orthopaedic activity to increase to 110% of pre-pandemic levels by
2024 and for this to be partly achieved by strictly ringfencing clinical capacity
that is currently used to deal with surges in demand for emergency care. It
may be that other factors not made explicit in the PCEC mean that NWL faces
a smaller challenge than the national challenge implied by NHS England.
Alternatively, it may be that locally (as well as nationally) available staffing
and financial resources are insufficient to meet national goals. More darity
on NWL's position on this would be useful.

Test 3: Financial investment and savings

Background Commentary Things for the Mayor
‘to consider {to come)

Supplementary question 1- Have plans The preferred location of the EOC is Central Middlesex Hospital, which is ran by

secured capital and revenue investment to | London North West University Healthcare NHS trust which includes the Brent

deliver in full, and are the sources of Emergency Care and Diagnostic Centre (BECaD) which was completed in 2007

funding credible? under a Private Finance Initiative scheme.

The PCEC future reports that the EOC can Out of 10 existing NHS local sites considered for the scheme, only one other—
be established at the CMH with £9.4m in Mount Vernon Hospital, situated on the outer northern edge of the ICS geography
capital investment, which is fully funded in | — fit with the dlinical criteria required for the scheme; namely the ability to strictly

% https:/www_england nhs uk/wp-content/uploads/2022,/12/PRND0D021-23-24-prioriti d i planning-guidance-december-2022 pdf

Final Report Page 159



verve

the local acute capital programme. By way
of illustration of the capital cost relative to
revenue returns, the PCBC anticipates
annual revenue savings once the EOC is
fully established in the region of £4m.

Supplementary question 2: Are plans to
make efficiency savings sufficiently detoiled
and credible?

The ~£4m annual savings are estimated
using 2019/20 NHS reference costs (and
patient-level costing data from individual

separate elective and non elective patients. As Mount Vernon Hospital is currently
unable to absorb additional patient volumes without significant disruption and
investment, it was rejected as an option (the site was also viewed as posing more
travel difficulties than others).

By contrast, CMH has historically been underused, and despite the name, its
BECaD does not undertake emergency care {with the exception of an Urgent
Treatment Centre for minor injuries and illnesses) as the hospital’s ARE was closed
in 2014. Under the terms of the PFl contract, the Trust is currently paying in the
region of £12m a year in charges, connected both to the borrowing and build
costs, but also for ongoing services such as cleaning and fadilities management. PFI
contracts typically last in the region of 30 years and in CMH's case, charges are
uplifted each year through reference to a price index linked to inflation.®

The PCBC reports that bed occupancy at CMH is currently at only 50%. The
establishment of an EOC at CHM therefore presents an opportunity for the NHS to
better use assets it is already contractually committed to paying for over many
years.

There are a number of material uncertainties in NHS funding and finance at
present that are not unique to NWL but which make projections of future cost and
income difficult. This includes an approximate 30% increase in elective care unit
costs between 2019-20 and 2020-21 reflecting both the increased costs of the
pandemic but also lower activity rates see since that time *

The figures used in the PCBC medel do not use these higher actual unit costs, but
instead uplift 2019-20 costs by around 3%. Actual costs and savings in year one
and two of the EOC will depend on how fast each trust and hospital site is able to
reduce its cost base down to pre-pandemic levels_

* LNW NHS Trust annual accounts, 2021-22 https:/fwww.Inwh.nhs.uk/download_.cfm?doc=docmS3jijm4n9ggg

* Nuffield Trust analysis of NHS National Cost Collection data 2020-21, https://www_england.nhs_uk/publication/2020-21-national-cost-collection-data-publication/

15

trusts) which are uplifted to current prices
to give a “no change” total cost of relevant
orthopaedic care in NWL of £33m.
Modelling for the PCBC anticipates that
efficiencies gained through the
establishment of the EOC — including
moving to upper quartile performance on
length of stay —will reduce the total cost to
£29.6m, with savings to be distributed
between the four trusts.

Planning guidance for 2023-24 has stated that the contract default for elective care
activity for the next two years is that it will be funded on a unit cost basis, with
reference to the national tarif™*. Funding on a unit cost basis may provide some
stability for elective care providers, but may also expose the commissioning budget
to pressures should activity growth outstrip funding growth. As the elective
orthopaedic case mix will substantially change at referring hospitals in particularly,
this could also expose those trusts to financial pressures — for example if national
tariff prices do not reflect the average cost of units of that activity — bearing in
mind that patients remaining at referring hospitals are likely to be of a higher
complexity and with longer than average length of stays. The provider
collaborative will need to grapple with these issues and develop sufficiently
flexible mechanisms for ensuring that unforeseen changes in the distribution of
costs and savings, as well as unavoidable higher costs where they occur, are
appropriately covered.

A more significant overall risk is the £17m of worth of elective orthopaedic activity
that is proposed to move from Imperial College Healthcare Trust, The Hillingdon
Hospitals Foundation Trust and Chelsea and Westminster Hospital Foundation
Trust to the EOC ran by LNW NHS Trust. Although the PCBC models anticipates that
activity can be performed at a lower cost at the EQC, realising those potential
savings ICS-wide will be dependent on the three “referring” trusts being able to
either export the full cost of those patients out of their own cost bases when the
activity is moved (which would typically involve transferring staff) or productively
re-use it for other forms of patient care. Their ability to do this represents the
largest financial risk in the plans and is acknowledged in the PCBC. In the current
funding context in particularly, it is important to note that re-purposed hospital
capacity will not only need to be actively employed in patient care, but will need to
be done soin a way that is fully funded. By way of understanding the relative
significance of this ~£17m cost to the NWL health economy, it is the equivalent of

K nie

wrww england nh v
hittps:/ fwww.england.nhs.uk/wp-content,/upl

Final Report

loads/20.

] E 021- ities = gtional-pla
P5-Consultation-A-Policy-proposals. pdf

22/12/23-25NHS!

Page 160




verve

optimistic

The PCBC outlines a number of financial
risks which the plans face if assumptions Trust staff. However, as some of these staff will transfer from NWL trusts that

about staff pay rates, use of agency staff, currently attract the inner London pay weighting, it is possible that the EOC will
and clinical efficiencies prove overly

just under 0.5% of the Integrated Care Board's recurrent resource allocation for
2022-23, at a time when core ICB funding allocations are flat in real terms.

The total downside risk modelled is for costs to be £7.9m higher than anticipated,
which exceeds the total £4m modelled savings in the base case. However the PCBC
states that the ICS is confident that not all these risks would materialise, or that
where they to, they would be significantly less extensive in value.

The following risks are briefly set out in the PCBEC:

Staff pay and London weighting: the modelled savings assume that staff working at
the EOC are paid the outer London weighting, as is currently the case for all LNW

only be able to recruit and retain staff if it pays at the inner London weighting rate
also. If this were the case, the PCBC states that IC5-wide costs would be in the
region of £0_.8m higher. There is a further risk referenced in the bed test above
that higher pay rates paid at the EOC might undermine recruitment and retention
at other “outer London” hospitals, including other, non EOC services ran by LNW
Trust.

Use of agency staff: The PCBC anticipates a 14% workforce gap at the EOC, of
which 10% would be filled using bank staff and 4% using agency staff. It models a
maximum risk of £2 8m higher costs if all of the vacancies were alternatively filled
with agency staff, which are more costly than bank staff.

Length of stay reductions: The PCBC assumes an average length of stay at the EOC
of 2.3 bed days. The PCBC anticipates that for every 0.2 days excess above the
average LoS target, the EOC will face additional ward staff costs of £0.2m, up to
£1.3m higher than planned costs if average LoS at the EOC is 3.5 days.

Theatre utilisation: If theatre utilisation rates do not meet GIRFT case-per-theatre
session standards, the PCBC models higher costs of up to £2m, representing the

1
cost of “waiting list initiatives” such as overtime theatre sessions. However the
PCBC states there is a high confidence of meeting GIRFT theatre productivity
standards due to the relatively low-complexity of patients who will be treated at
the EOC.
Test 4: Social Care Impact
Background Commentary Things for the
Mayor to consider
The PCBC does not set out how the This is a gap in the plans that needs to be filled. At a minimum, plans need to consider:
proposals will affect adult social care 1. Current discharge destinations of elective orthopaedic patients treated at the
services, either operationally or four hospital trusts and differences between the HVLC cohort and more
financially. complex patients;
2. Current adult social care capacity (including reablement and home equipment
services) within NWL boroughs and gaps within this;
3. How the plans to substantially increase elective orthopaedic activity and
change the location of surgery will increase and change the profile of demand
for post-operative adult social care services in the area;
4. How demographic changes (including the aging population but also increased
longevity in people with life-long disabilities) will also change the shape of
demand for adult social care and elective orthopaedic surgery;
5. How existing and future modelled shortfalls in social care support can be
addressed;
6. What the optimal integration of adult social care into the elective orthopaedic
pathway (including pre-operating care and “pre-habilitation”) locks like and
what is needed to achieve this;
7. A down-side scenario whereby gaps in social care support are not filled,
modelling the impact this will have on both the EOC and elective orthopaedic
activity and the other hospitals (for example delayed transfers of care
impacting on ability to undertake elective activity and increased inequalities if
22

Final Report

Page 161



verve

more complex patients are unable to access pre-operative support and pre-
habilitation)

Further, the plans envisage a substantial shift in patients from multiple NWL hospitals
to CMH for their operations. This is likely to require CMH to develop relationships with
significantly more adult social care departments and providers than it has at present. It
is not clear if the workforce model for the EOC includes the capacity to do this.

The Equalities Impact Assessment This point is noted in the Equalities Impact Assessment as it is viewed as potentially
notes research finding that single and | relevant to the protected characteristics of “marriage and civil partnership”, with the
widowed patients are more likely than | assessment proposing that experience against marital status be monitored as the plans
those living with a potential carer to are implemented. However the point requires more direct consideration in the care

be discharged from orthopaedic pathway as it highlights the centrality of social care and support for optimal post
surgery into long-term residential operative recovery.* This is especially the case for female patients who are more likely
nursing care, rather than into their to be widowed and/or without adequate unpaid carer support at home and who make
own home. Such patients also up the larger proportion of elective orthopaedic patients.

experience longer lengths of stay

32 In addition to the recent 2020 research on orthopaedic trauma surgery cited in the PCBC, see also, on elective orthopaedic surgery- de Pablo P, L E, et al “Determinants
of discharge destination following elective total hip replacement”, Arthritis Rheum. 2004 Dec 15;51(6):1009-17. doi: 10.1002/art 20818. PMID: 15593323,
hittps://onlinelibrary wiley com/doifepdf/10 1002/art 20818

3

Final Report Page 162




verve

Consultation Response
North West London NHS Elective Orthopaedic Centre

It is welcome that there will be an increase in healthcare resources directed to
orthopaedics and the setting up of a specialist centre to focus on a reduction in the
current waiting list for elective surgery in orthopaedics. Not having surgery often
means patients have to live with a condition which can cause discomfort and their
quality of life is affected.

However, the select committee has a number of concerns and it would like the
consultation to consider the following points very seriously at this stage, so we can
ensure there are no barriers to access this care for any of our residents, particularly
our most vulnerable:

e Transportation, particularly for those using public transport, is a barrier to
accessing healthcare and patients in an inner London borough such as the Royal
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea will be more likely to face this barrier
because they are further away from the proposed site at Central Middlesex
Hospital.

¢ The business case does outline mitigations to transportation barriers such as
dedicated transport provision to the centre and encourage people to apply for
travel reimbursement, but these need to be explored in more detail as part of the
final implementation.

* Some residents in the borough may also be additionally affected because of
physical and financial barriers to accessing transport services.

e Patient choice is valued and it is welcome the business case sets out that
patients will still have the option to have elective surgery at a local hospital trust
rather than travel to the Elective Orthopaedic Centre. However, if it is the case
that the local option may take longer than having a procedure done at the
Elective Orthopaedic Centre there will need to be careful monitoring of waiting
lists at local acute Trusts as part of the implementation.

* The business case acknowledges that deprivation can be a barrier to access to
healthcare. The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea has a concentration
of deprivation in areas in the north of the borough. However, the demographic
spatial analysis, based on the index of multiple deprivation, in the business case
shows there are also deprived areas in the south-west and south of the borough
as well.

Adult Social Care and Health Select Committee

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea

Final Report Page 163



verve

4.10 APPENDIX — COMPLIANCE WITH STATUTORY GUIDANCE

9T abed

Requirement Commentary

Working in Partnership with People and Communities - Statutory Guidance

1. Ensure people and
communities have an active
role in decision-making and
governance

2. Involve people and
communities at every stage
and feed back to them about
how it has influenced
activities and decisions

3. Understand your
community’s needs,
experiences, ideas and
aspirations for health and
care, using engagement to
find out if change is working

Final Report

The consultation provided a range of channels through which people could participate, which included
tfargeted community engagement to reach communities identified as likely to be particularly impacted
and bespoke sessions for those groups scoped in through the Equality Impact Assessment.

Within this, the consultation programme included structured, facilitated ‘deliberative’ sessions to ensure
that participants were able to test the case for change and model as well as respond to consultation
questions, and to actively suggest solutions and mitigations.

The main programme governance group includes a lay partner as a formal member.

The consultation engagement built on work undertaken during pre-consultation to inform development of
the PCBC.

Independent reports analysing and summarising responses were commissioned for decision-making
meetings. The pre-consultation engagement report was published in the PCBC.

This report is expected to be made public with the decision-making business case, and NHS North West
London has indicated that summary versions which include responses to questions asked during the
consultation and reports back on decisions of the ICB will be produced.

During pre-consultation the focus was “what good looks like” while consultation engagement focused
more clearly on the clinical model and preferred location.

This report contains analysis and insights gathered during the consultation and which focus specifically on:
The proposal fo develop an elective orthopaedic centre, and
The preferred location at Central Middlesex Hospital.



GoT abed

verve

Requirement

4. Build relationships based
on trust, especially with
marginalised groups and
those affected by inequalities

5. Work with Healthwatch and
the voluntary, community
and social enterprise sector
as key partners

Final Report

Commentary

The data to inform this was drawn from the extensive consultation engagement programme detailed in
this report, which included quantitative and ‘free text’ responses captured through the questionnaire, as
well as comments from structured engagement events across eight boroughs with:

Residents and patients

Staff

Groups sharing protected characteristics or at risk of inequality, prioritised through the Equalities

Impact Assessment published with the PCBC.

This report lists specific questions asked and practical suggestions (‘actionable ideas’) collected by Verve
and the Collaborative. Although these have not been evaluated or validated, they provide a ‘checklist’
of potential issues to be considered during decision-making.

It was recognised that some groups of residents may sfill find barriers to participation or may bring specific
experience or perspectives which it was important to ensure were included and heard during the
consultation.

The consultation provided an opportunity to further develop relationships, and a wide variety of local
groups were approached, informed by the networks maintained by the NHS North West London
engagement feam.

Community outreach activity detailed in this report sets out how NHS North West London and the
Collaborative worked together to invite involvement from groups working with marginalised communities
and those affected by inequalities.

Healthwatch were formally invited to make responses to the consultation.

The consultation was supported by community oufreach organised at a borough level, engaging with
partners in the voluntary and community sector, for example offering to send speakers to local meetings

and attending events to encourage people to complete the questionnaire.

A list of all groups contacted is appended to this report.



99T abed

verve

Requirement
6. Provide clear and
accessible public information

7. Use community-centred
approaches that empower
people and communities,
making connections to what
works already

8. Have a range of ways for
people and communities to
take part in health and care
services

Final Report

Commentary
The Collaborative website included a summary of the case for change, clear information about the
proposals and the rationale behind them and details of the consultation and how to take part. This
information was also contained in a consultation booklet which could be downloaded and was also
distributed in print format.
At engagement events, clinicians gave scene-setting presentations with a clear and concise slide deck
and were on hand to answer any questions.

Support was made available to those who needed it to access information or compete the
questionnaire. This included:
Translated versions or access to interpreters for people for whom English is not a first language or who
need a BSL signer
The consultation booklet was also available in audio, large print, Easy-Read or Braille formats
Support was offered to people with a learning disability or difficulty in communicating.

For people interested in understanding the proposals in more depth, the full Pre-Consultafion Business
Case and an Executive Summary could also be found on the site.

A flexible approach was taken, particularly to engaging seldom heard groups, providing choices for
participation to suit them - for example working with and through frusted organisations and organising
events where people are, rather than expecting them to “come to us”.

Given the diverse nature of North West London’s population, the consultation engagement was designed
fo be as accessible as possible and offer a wide range of ways in which people could participate. This
included high-profile promotion of events, outreach through community organisations and trusted
networks in order to engage patient groups and communities who may otherwise not participate, and
flexibility of engagement, for example offering 1:1 interviews.

Promotion of the engagement emphasised that feedback was welcome through many different
channels, specifically:
Questionnaire (online or printed, with Freepost available)



/9T abed

verve

9. Tackle system priorities and
service reconfiguration in
partnership with people and
communities

10. Learn from what works
and build on the assets of all
health and care partners -
networks, relationships and
activity in local places

Gunning Principles
Consultation must take place
when the proposal is still at a
formative stage

Sufficient information and
reasons must be put forward
for the proposal to allow for
intelligent consideration and
response

Adequate time must be given
for consideration and
response

Final Report

Feedback by direct to the Collaborative team via telephone (0203 number)
Email to dedicated consultation inbox or post, with Freepost.
The consultation and this report relate to reconfiguration of orthopaedic surgery in North West London.

The approach taken by NHS North West London, working with the Collaborative, to partnership with
people and communities during the consultation period is detailed in this report.

This was one of the largest service change programmes in North West London since the creation of the
ICB, and the first since the establishment of the Collaborative.

It was therefore the first ‘system-wide' engagement. With the mix of clinical leadership, staff
engagement, qualitative and quantitative feedback from residents and targeted outreach to priority
groups and communities, the programme benefitted from bringing together networks and relationships
for the first time. This has provided a real opportunity to test new ways of working and to learn from each
other.

In the pre-consultation period the project benefitted from significant input from stakeholders, staff, and,
increasingly, patients and the public. Overall, engagements were considered valuable in aiding
development of the proposal for an elective orthopaedic centre. The concerns raised during pre-
consultation highlighted the need to fully contextualise information for groups and concerns raised were
incorporated into the formal public consultation.

This report details the information which was developed to inform the consultation, including the formats
and support made available for people to participate.

The consultation period ran for 13 weeks, which included the Christmas period.

Traditionally, 12 weeks has been considered reasonable for a public consultation process, having
originally been proposed in the Code of Conduct.



verve

Requirement
The product of consultation
must be conscientiously
taken into account

89T abed

Final Report

Commentary
The Pre-Consultation Business Case was agreed at the NHS North West London Public Board on 27
September.

This consultation engagement report is expected to be included within the Decision-making Business Case
and considered by NHS North West London.



Agenda Item 7

O

Integrated Care System

North West London Joint Health
Overview Scrutiny Committee

North West London March 8 2023

Report from the North West
London Integrated Care System

NW London ICS update report

No. of Appendices: 0

Background Papers: None

Contact Officer(s):

(Name, Title, Contact Details)

Sarah Bellman, Assistant Director,
sarah.bellman@nhs.net

1.0

11

1.2

2.0

2.1

Purpose of the Report

To provide a report updating members on a number of current work streams
being delivered across the North West London Integrated Care System.

Areas covered in this paper are:

Workforce/Staffing issues

Critical care bed capacity

General & acute bed capacity

Avoidable admissions to hospital

Delays in discharge from hospital

A&E waiting times

Ambulance handover times

Acute respiratory infection

NWL volunteering- help force & back to health funding proposals
Potential for new Musculoskeletal model of care in NW London
Ophthalmology service changes

Butterworth Centre changes

ICS Strategy

Community insights

Recommendation(s)

To note the report

Page 169



mailto:sarah.bellman@nhs.net

3.0 Detalil

3.1  Workforce/Staffing issues

The workforce strategy is currently under development. We have two strategic aims:
to ensure NW London is a ‘Great Place to Work’ for all of our staff, and to ensure we
‘Transform for the Future’ so that we can respond to changing service models and
increasing demand. Under ‘Great Places to Work’ we will develop quality health and
wellbeing support reaching all staff, develop organisational cultures, and ensure our
organisations reflect and champion the diversity within our workforce. Under
‘Transform for the Future’, we will deliver initiatives to grow our current workforce
base, enhance and develop our strategic workforce planning capabilities, and create
a culture of collaboration across social care and primary care. We are reviewing our
priorities based on current work and new strategic objectives, and will test this out
with stakeholders over the coming month.

We are concurrently completing the HEE annual workforce return, which will include
a five year forward workforce plan. We are working with finance and operational
colleagues to triangulate returns and support increased productivity, in the main
focusing on how new roles can support demand.

The main risks remain turnover, industrial action and the cost of living, followed by
the filling of hard to recruit roles and the diversity of our senior workforce.

A NW London Health and Care Skills Academy launch event and careers festival
took place on 28" January in Hounslow. This event encouraged our local
populations to enter into training and education, and speak to teams from our health
and care organisations in the sector to discuss employment opportunities. We have
retained 35% of our vaccination workforce into other employment in NW London and
continue to develop our retention programme across the sector. Our Care, Lead and
Include pillars are developing their offer across the ICS and planning best practice
sharing events to support all organisations.

The vacancy rate increased to 11.4% at the end of December with a total of 6,824
WTE vacancies across Trusts. All ICS Trusts mitigate roster gaps through bank,
agency and locum use and re-deployment of staff from other areas. Targeted
recruitment activity has increased across the sector to fill existing vacancies and
mitigate rising levels of voluntary turnover across the staffing groups. Covid sickness
numbers have remained steady, although the overall sickness absence rate has
increased in-month related to the expected seasonal rise.

3.2 Critical care bed capacity

As per the below daily SitRep trend graph, Critical Care beds across the four acute
providers in NW London (Imperial, ChelWest, London North West, Hillingdon) have
been consistently occupied above the recurrently funded baseline. As such the non-
recurrently funded in 2022/23 have been in consistent use. Covid numbers have
reduced recently but other respiratory issues such as influenza and Strep A have
meant that the demand has been consistent. Units are under pressure but
managing without significant need to decant patients to other sites.

Page 170



mmm Confirmed Covid Patients mmm Non-Covid Patients mm Allocated Empty Beds

Available Staffed Empty Beds Additional Physical Beds — Funded Baseline Beds

3.3 General & acute bed capacity

NW London has fully implemented and is currently utilising all acute beds which were
set to launch over the winter period. NW London is also on trajectory for other areas,
including non-acute beds. Over the past year we have seen a steady increase in our
G&A bed occupancy (see graph below). Extensive monitoring and reporting
mechanisms are in place to facilitate decision-making. This is complemented by
initiatives in place across the whole patient journey that shorten length of stay and
increase the availability of beds. This includes adopting initiatives developed further
afield to maximise ward space.

Bed occupancy %

4%

TT-um[
1204
TT-®N
TT=hoy
el
TZ-unr
TZ-nr
TZ-Bny
TZ-0es
TER0
TE-A0N
TE-25]
LI-uer

Pty
frady
e
Ln
Tz
To-iny

]
B

furatg o

Graph: Adult General & Acute (G&A) Type 1 bed occupancy (adjusted for void
beds)

3.4  Avoidable admissions to hospital

In addition to opening additional bed capacity, NW London continues to focus on
developing alternative care pathways such as Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC),
Urgent Community Response (UCR) and maximising virtual ward utilisation. In
collaboration with partners in adult social care, our shared objective is to ensure
patients are safely discharged from hospital with plans in place to support the

Page 171



continuity of patient care closer to home. Close working with our Directors of Adult
Social Services (DASS) has facilitated collaboration and resolution of bottlenecks in
the patient pathway.

All our acute sites have well developed Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC) services,
offering multidisciplinary (MDT) care to patients who don’t require admission but need
more time and specialist input than the emergency department can offer. There will be
a continued focus throughout the year on broadening the clinical pathways SDEC can
provide ensuring that patient risk is appropriately shared across urgent and emergency
services. This includes establishing direct pathways from the LAS and primary care,
to which we are reporting an increase, along with ensuring that more people are
streamed straight to SDEC from the front door. Alongside SDEC, we continue to
enhance access to specialty services through the expansion of hot clinics.

Efforts have been made to strengthen our urgent community response care team
which releases capacity back to the system through the provision of social care in the
patient’s home and allows for a full social care assessment. By improving the current
discharge arrangements, we now offer a more streamlined process to enhance patient
flow from hospital to home and reduce the number of people going into long-term care.

Through the effective management of people within the community, we reduce the
need for a hospital admission. NW London rapid response services are already ‘best
in London’ — the provision within these services has supported both local initiatives
and trials for facilitated admission avoidance. Quick turnaround discharge schemes
have also contributed to system resilience for strike days and made support for LAS
easier.

We have committed to deliver initiatives in collaboration with the Voluntary and
Community Sector (VCS) to support both prevention of admission and ensure we
discharge patients to a warm place. Such initiatives include:

e mental health crisis support

e bereavement counselling

e rapid falls response

e extra care housing

e take home and settle

e navigators to help patients living with dementia access appropriate services.

Adult social care partners have recruited additional staff to provide 7-day services,
increasing social care capacity to support hospital flow and discharge. Additionally,
DASS and Health partners have been meeting fortnightly to ensure a positive impact
from any service changes, and to build long-term strategies to enhance care for our
residents.

We have invested in additional district nursing capacity to support people in care
homes. We have collaborated with primary care and vaccination colleagues to launch
a number of campaigns for the early detection, prevention and management of
potential admissions to secondary care. NW London has rolled out a number of
dashboards and data tools to support primary care to use data to identify and target
individuals and populations through evidence-based interventions.

Page 172



All places within NW London are delivering winter resilience schemes that increase
capacity within primary care at scale. Each borough has one scheme for provision of
additional appointments with some boroughs specialising the offer for Paediatric or
High Intensity Users appointments.

Borough teams are working with their primary care networks (PCNs) to ensure the
sustainable delivery of their winter schemes, which includes determining scale of
provision i.e. PCN or place level, mode of appointments and location of service. The
additional appointments we have offered will support redirection capacity for 111 and
UTCs. The Extended Enhanced Access provision will also support winter pressures
and is operational across NW London.

For patients with Long-term Conditions (LTCs), we have a complete Primary Care
Quiality and Outcomes Framework (QOF) as we go into winter, for checks and disease
finding to support increasing prevalence of condition identification.

Alternatives to A&E attendance/admission for people in mental health crisis are
available in every NW London-borough. We continue to advance place-based
integration of secondary care mental health and PCN-level services with 24/7 support.
Liaison psychiatry teams are operating in all NW London’s acute hospitals with
additional capacity over winter at pressured sites.

We are developing a high intensity user dashboard across NW London, at acute and
practice level as a method of cohort identification using risk stratification tools. We
continue to embed MDT and case management models bringing together medical,
psychiatry and external partners. Nominated PCN-led schemes are underway to
deliver proactive personalised care, provided by Social Prescribing Link Workers,
Health and Wellbeing Coaches and Care Coordinators.

35 Delays in discharge from hospital

Efficient hospital flow is vital for urgent and emergency care pathways to work
effectively. Over winter, discharge processes are supported by increased medical,
therapy and pharmacy support, including focussing on more seven-day delivery, with
the goal of achieving discharge rates for pathway zero patients (where limited or no
out-of-hospital support is required) that are more consistent with weekday rates.

We have implemented a wide range of schemes including additional medical staffing,
enhanced integration with virtual wards to support with hospital flow and facilitate early
discharge, additional pharmacy and therapy support and bolstering front door
arrangements.

There has been a noticeable drive to embed consistent ward round routines and
expedite hospital discharges via our complex discharge teams, with appropriate
escalation processes to make sure our hospitals facilitate a safe and effective patient
discharge. We have reviewed our acute hospital repatriation process by bringing
together key operational and clinical stakeholders across our NW London trusts to
address areas of escalation, in addition to introducing a new Standard Operating
Procedure (SOP) for hyper-acute transfer of patients between hospitals to make sure
they have the best possible care.

Page 173



Schemes to support hospital flow and discharge have been developed in tandem with
out of hospital services. We are in the process of creating a discharge dashboard
which will increase data quality and help to identify blockages in hospital flow and
discharge more accurately.

3.6 A&E waiting times

Measuring the number of people waiting more than 12 hours in A&E has been
prioritised by NHS England throughout 2022 as a principle means of understanding
safety and effectiveness within emergency departments. The national target is that
no more than 2% of patients should wait more than 12 hours.

The number of patients waiting in A&E over 12 hours has been increasing, and links
to the flow through the hospital as well as those waiting for beds outside the hospital.
Waits for patients presenting with mental health conditions have been a significant
factor. The recent opening of the Mental Health Crisis Assessment Service (MHCAS)
at St Charles in line with other initiatives has alleviated some of those longer waiting
patients out of the Acute A&E environment. All hospitals are driving the continued use
of Same Day Emergency Care, effective ward rounds and the improved number of
daily discharges before 5pm, which have a direct impact on waits in the emergency
departments.

Waits for patients with mental health conditions remain a concern but do not act as the
principle driver of overall waits. Mean time in department for non-admitted patients
remains stable whilst admitted patients continue to wait longer, peaking at >12 hours
in mid-December 2022 before sharply decreasing in early January 2023.
Improvement plans are developed to build on the FOCUSED and Patient FIRST
audits that ran across August and September 2022. These desktop processes are
being supplemented by an on-site, clinically led peer review of emergency
department (ED) services across NW London which was discussed at an urgent and
emergency care quality summit in December 2022. The themes and outcomes of the
guality summit are being addressed through a series of breakout rooms which are
set to take place throughout February 2023. All actions following the breakout rooms
will be monitored locally and apportioned to the most suitable work stream.

The results of ‘missed opportunity’ audits conducted at ED sites across NW London
up to October have been reviewed on a sector wide basis and take account of
opportunities to direct patients to alternative locations. Actions to ensure that
discharge resources in the community remain in place are being taken at sector level
and are aligned with winter funding initiatives. Actions continue to be taken on a daily
basis to support LAS conveyances across NW London, and specifically in response
to challenges at local sites. We continue to collaborate with LAS to understand the
acuity of patients conveyed and alternative ways of managing low acuity.

3.7 Ambulance handover times

A range of winter funded schemes are introduced in order to improve ambulance
handover times. For NW London, our average ambulance response times have
increased when compared to the previous year. A major factor in this was handover
waits outside of hospitals - which have increased over the past year - and is currently
one of the highest national priorities for the NHS.

Page 174



However, ambulance response times in two NW London trusts are considerably
quicker in comparison to the NW London average. This is partly due to the actions the
LAS are undertaking to increase staffing resilience in order to avoid conveying patients
to A&E where possible, and assist ambulance handover and departure times from
hospitals, including grouping patients under the care of a single paramedic team,
known as cohorting. The A&E departments have also taken multiple actions to reduce
handover waits by increasing patient throughput through A&E and hospital wards,
internal cohorting within A&E and the use of alternatives to A&E such as SDEC.

NW London has conducted an extensive peer review exercise to identify the best
approaches to managing A&E departments and supporting handover, with learning
shared and adopted across hospitals within the sector. To extend this further, more
initiatives are being introduced across NW London to improve ambulance handover
times. These include the introduction of Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officers (HALOS)
and a pilot trial of the Remote Emergency Access Coordination Hub (REACH) model.

3.8  Acute respiratory infection

During winter there continued to be pressure on the system due to the number of
patients presenting with covid and influenza.

As part of our covid and flu vaccination planning for next year the ICB is currently
considering how we can continue to make improvements in the general uptake of
these vaccinations including looking at using the opportunity to vaccinate patients
when they are admitted to hospital.

3.9 NW London volunteering- help force & back to health funding proposals

The Back to Heath funding proposal to support phase one of the project in the two
identified PCNs (within the boroughs of Brent and Hillingdon) was submitted to the
health inequality transformation funding additional schemes panel held on 13
February. The panel approved the proposal and it has been passed to the NHS NW
London Finance team to review to confirm final approval.

3.10 Potential for new Musculoskeletal (MSK) model of care in NW London

The provision of MSK services in Primary Care and the community has significant
benefits in providing a more convenient service to patients and helping to relieve the
pressure on secondary care services and focusing on the most complex MSK
diagnostics and treatment in secondary care.

MSK services analysis of the MSK pathway across NW London has highlighted a
significant opportunity for a new model of care to address existing inefficiencies,
optimise existing resource, tackle inequality and differential access to services and
focus on the right care, particularly for those with the biggest modifiable risk factors.
This will improve the quality of care, patient outcomes and value for money.
Current MSK services across the eight NW London boroughs in NW London are
being provided by different service providers and the majority (five) of the current
contracts will be coming to an end on the 315t March 2023. With this in mind NHS
NW London has now signed off and agree the MSK Business Case to procure all

Page 175



the expiring contracts in order to enable seamless continuous care.

The procurement will address the current inconsistencies in the MSK pathways
across the eight Borough, fully realising local aims and ambitions and eliminate
inequality in service provision across NWL.

These changes will further be enabled and supported by the system working in a
more cohesive and integrated fashion to deliver the following aims and core
principals of the new model:

The core principle of this service, (defined in the service specification), is to
reduce the unwarranted variation in service provision and access to MSK
services across North West London.

To ensure that all people registered with a GP Practice in North West
London have equal access to standardised, high quality, clinically effective
community MSK services, whilst reducing inequalities in outcomes and
experience for the population of North West London, and to introduce First
Contact Practitioners (FCP) into MSK services across NWL.

Personalised care; Education and self-management; Addressing health
inequalities; Evidence based practice; Self-referral; Population health
approach and a focus on prevention will form the basis of the MSK Service
provision across all Boroughs.

The procurement will further support the delivery of the NW London Integrated
Care System’s objectives:

Improve outcomes in population health and health care — through
improvement of our community MSK offer across 8 boroughs;

Prevent ill health and tackle inequalities in outcomes, experience and
access — increasing proactive, holistic and preventative triage into our
community MSK offer to avoid hospitalisation procedures and further support
recovery;

Enhance productivity and value for money — moving towards a
standardised specification and payment mechanism that incentivises early
resolution (i.e. getting it right first time) and integrated working across ICP
partners;

Support broader economic and social development — promoting
development of non-clinical roles (entry roles), anchor institution employment
and enabling residents. Over 30 million working days are lost due to MSK
conditions every year in the UK. An improved MSK offer will enable improved
recovery and support allows residents to better contribute to economic
activity.

On approval of the business case, the NWL Integrated Care Board will be able to
work with new and existing providers to further agree and develop measurable and
deliverable outcomes around user involvement, optimisation, surgical, service
delivery, sustainability and value for money.

The proposed next steps:

Page 176



e Proceed with a competitive dialogue process to appoint new lead-provider for
expiring provision;

e Further development and mobilisation of end-to-end pathway and detailed
benefits realisation at place-based level,

e Further population health and inequalities research and analysis to further
shape and address inequalities and deprived population groups.

3.11 Ophthalmology service changes

Our ophthalmology community services were reviewed during 2022, we identified
significant variation in the standard of services provided across North West

London. This included some boroughs where there is no provision of community
ophthalmology services. In response to this review, the ICS is developing an
integrated community eye care service for the whole sector. This will ensure all North
West London residents can access an effective, optometrist-led, community
ophthalmology service, and will be procured and implemented over the next

year. The timescales for procurement reflect the contractual endpoints of several
existing services, supporting the continuity of services in these areas. Development
of this offering has a particular urgency for the boroughs of Ealing and Hounslow,
where the incumbent supplier will be exiting the market later in 2023. In these areas,
enhanced services will be established to reflect the maturity of existing services.

The new service is being co-designed with input from primary and specialist care
and patients to ensure that residents can access services for a range of eye
conditions. Formal engagement is commencing to understand the needs and views
of our communities, which will inform the design of the service. The service will
ensure that residents have access through high street opticians, enhancing the
accessibility of the service. The service shall address minor eye conditions (that may
otherwise have required a GP visit), optimise glaucoma referrals through additional
diagnostic tests, and ensure that patients referred for cataract procedures are
supported through a shared decision-making process.

3.12 Butterworth Centre changes

The Butterworth Centre is a 42 bed unit in St John’s Wood. It provides advanced
dementia care to a mix of patients from Westminster, Kensington and Chelsea and
Hammersmith and Fulham (some funded as mental health and some as continuing
health care; all either detained under the Mental Health Act 1983 or staying at the unit
under Deprivation of Liberty safeguards). The ICB’s lease on the building (from the
independent St John and St Elizabeth hospital) expires in 2026. Care is provided by an
independent provider, Sanctuary Healthcare.

Sanctuary Healthcare gave notice on their contract last year, and agreed to continue
providing the service to 31 March 2023. Despite two attempts to tender the service, no
alternative provider has been found, and NWL is intending to temporarily close the
service at the Butterworth from 31 March. As ensuring patients at the Butterworth
continue to receive the care they need is our first priority, work is ongoing to engage with
patients, their families and/ or advocates to secure suitable alternative provision for
patients at the Centre. We are confident that suitable alternative accommodation can be
found.

Page 177



In parallel, we will be engaging with local authorities and scrutiny committees on the
current situation. We will need to develop proposals for future provision for patients who
would have used the Butterworth. Depending on the extent of change in that provision,
these may require either formal consultation or enhanced engagement with the public.

3.13 ICS Strateqgy

Local authorities and the NHS continue to work together to develop our joint strategy
for health and care for the population of North West London. The strategy will set out
how we, collectively, work together to achieve the four aims of an integrated care
system — to improve our population’s health and wellbeing, to reduce inequalities in
outcomes, access and experience, to improve value for money and to deliver wider
social and economic development. The work has started from the borough joint
strategic needs assessments and joint health and wellbeing strategies and has
drawn on extensive input from local residents and communities that are published in
our monthly insight reports. Our last stakeholder event was held in January;
following that we are pulling all the input and feedback on the strategy into a working
draft, and are expecting further input from local authority colleagues. Once received,
we will integrate into a full draft for further engagement.

3.14 Community insights

We continue to work with local residents and communities in all eight boroughs, with
a strong focus on hearing from people who are furthest from decision-making. We
publish monthly insight reports reflecting what we have heard. All feedback is shared
with the relevant programme or borough for consideration and the insights are a key
tool in informing our strategy and building up a clear picture of what our communities
are saying.

Among the most consistent themes are GP access, communication with patients and
residents, mental health and services not being joined up. There is also a range of
specific feedback from different communities who feel we could do more to make
services meet their needs — these include people with disabilities, children and
young people, migrant communities, people with sensory impairment and LGBTQ+
people. Residents have also raised wider issues like the cost of living, public safety
and housing.

The insight reports are shared with JHOSC and published online every month.
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/borough-insight-reports

Page 178


https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/get-involved/borough-insight-reports

Agenda Iltem 8

Report to the North West London Joint Health Overview Scrutiny
Committee

Report Title: Inpatient Mental Health Bed Capacity across North West London

Purpose

To provide a report on current adult inpatient mental health bed capacity across
the North West London Integrated Care System.

Detail

Background:

The majority of inpatient mental health care for North West London residents is
provided by Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust and West
London NHS Trust, for those in need of support for severe mental health
difficulties or a mental health crisis. Our aim across North West London ICS is, and
always will be, to ensure that we provide the highest quality and most appropriate
care for people who need it across our boroughs. This includes inpatient facilities
that meet modern standards of acute mental health care, supporting patient dignity
and privacy. We follow the principle that mental health care should be in the least
restrictive setting and acute inpatient care should always be an absolute last
resort.

Current Capacity of Mental Health Beds in NW London:

Since the pandemic, the bedded mental health offer in North West London has
changed to focus more on patient flow and step down provision, whilst maintaining
occupancy levels. These changes to bed provision mean that North West London
ICS is in line with national and regional benchmarks for beds per 100,000
population and clinical thresholds have not changed during this time.

The following table shows a breakdown of adult acute, older adult, psychiatric
intensive care (PICU) and step-down beds provided by Central and North West
London NHS Foundation Trust and West London NHS Trust. The table compares
the number of beds between the pre and post pandemic periods.

Ward type Pre-covid status Current status
Acute MH 154 141
k7]
E Older people 56 56
{=
§ PICU 12 12
é Step-down 17 41
("]
2 WLT Total 239 250
— g Acute MH 256 195
£E7]
8 2 = { Older People 72 66

Page 179



PICU 47 45

Step-down 0 40

Rehab 167 167 + 8 triage beds
Crisis 0 15

CNWL Total 542 536

NWL Total 781 786

Acute bed total 410 336

Step down bed total 17 81

Both Trusts work to ensure that patients can be moved from an inpatient bed to
appropriate care in their local communities as soon as it’s clinically safe for them to
do so. This has meant investing in partnership with our Local Authority partners in
more ‘step down’ beds which provide care following discharge from the hospital
and before people move back to their own communities.

To support the changes that have taken place both Trusts have an established
approach to mental health bed management and improvement of patient flow,
which includes innovations such as:

* Improved local relationships to benefit flow — at both A&E and discharge;
* Implementation of reablement teams to support early discharge planning;

« Borough level MADEs (multi-agency discharge events) particularly focused
on rehab and long stay patients;

* Regular bed management calls across organisations and teams, and
increased mutual aid; and

»  Specific improvement work targeting ‘red to green’ wards and length of stay.

Changes to the bedded provision have taken place within a wider context of
transformation in the community offer and bolstering of crisis alternative provision,
as required by the NHS Long Term Plan. We have developed more community-
based mental health services, enabling people to receive care in their home or a
local clinic as much as possible. This means that the traditional pattern of long
admissions to mental health hospitals has changed and with it, the number of
inpatient beds needed.

This approach has been bolstered by major transformation in community teams
and crisis alternative provision since 2019, which has changed the service
landscape for mental health in North West London and shifted strategic focus
toward patient flow. This transformation has focused on:

* Developing local solutions to improve mental health flow by working in
partnership with urgent care delivery boards;

* Redesigned community crisis teams, including digital and productivity
focused work;

* Launching VCSE-provided crisis alternatives;

Page 180




* Launching 24/7 bed management to improve tracking of patient flow; and

* Testing and supporting community teams with caseload management and
flow.

Challenges:

Suitability of some of our estate poses a challenge for mental health bed capacity
in North West London. The physical environment of the wards where beds have
been temporarily closed is not fit for delivering modern health services. The wards
struggle to meet the equality, accessibility and quality standards to be able to
provide safe and effective clinical care. Patients who use acute inpatient services
generally stay 30 days+; poor estate with lack of natural light and open space, as
well as lack of access to outside space inhibits recovery.

Both Trusts continue to focus on managing services so that people who need an
inpatient bed have access to one within the boroughs that they service. For West
London NHS Trust, this means there have been no inappropriate out of area
placements, for over three years, even when wards are closed to admissions due
to outbreaks of Covid-19.

Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust has faced some
challenges with inappropriate out of area placements. However, since the end of
2022 these have reduced significantly and based on unvalidated data, North West
London ICS has already achieved its commitment of eliminating inappropriate out
of area placements by March 2023. As part of this and to support improved flow,
both Trusts have embedded Flow Programmes to focus on reducing average
length of stay.

Proposals for changes to mental health beds in North West London:

In March 2020, 31 beds in the Hope and Horizon wards (provided by West London
NHS Trust) in 1831 buildings at St Bernard’s Hospital were suspended to ensure
safe staffing levels and rigorous Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) measures
for patients and staff during the pandemic. Resources were diverted to open an
18-bed inpatient ward in Lakeside Mental Health Unit to provide dedicated care
and all other revenue funds were reinvested into alternative crisis provision.

Stakeholder engagement has been taking place since January 2022 with service
users, carers and voluntary and community organisations, to provide a
comprehensive insight into the issues experienced by patients, staff and carers on
the Hope and Horizon wards. Following guidance from NHS England, a further
period of enhanced engagement was conducted commencing on 18 October.

The Trust launched a web page (https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/ealingmhbeds),
which includes links to a summary document, an information video, a slide
presentation, a detailed full case for change and a full report on earlier stages of
engagement conducted between January and April 2022.

Page 181



https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/ealingmhbeds
https://www.westlondon.nhs.uk/application/files/3316/6626/8806/WLT_Ealing_Adult_MH_Inpatient_Beds_Business_Case_v0.10_28Aug2022.pdf

During this period of enhanced engagement, individuals are invited to provide
feedback to us in at face to face and online events, using an online survey, by post
or by telephone.

The process continues to be advertised across a number of targeted physical and
digital channels including:

* In GP surgeries

» Stakeholder newsletters across North West London with ICB support
« To our own staff, to patients visiting our wards and clinics

*  Online using our website and social media channels.

In addition, the Trust wrote directly to our stakeholder list, as well as to a list of 998
patients who had used the affected wards in the three years before they were
suspended (from all three boroughs, although the recipients were primarily made
up of people from Ealing).

As of the end of November we had:
» reached over 7,650 people/ organisations
* held or attended 9 public events, in Ealing or online
* received 68 responses to the online survey
» received 3 written responses by post/email

* had 1,249 interactions with social media content (like/share/retweet/click
link/view video)

« proactively contacted 42 organisations including Healthwatch in the three
boroughs, Ealing and Hammersmith & Fulham Save our NHS,
Homelessness services and VCSE organisations supporting BAME and LD
communities.

We recognised concerns raised that the engagement activities have not yet or
adequately reached communities in Hammersmith & Fulham, and Hounslow, and
that further work was required to ensure that the voices of families from minority
communities are sought.

As a result of this, we have:

1. Extended the period of engagement by a further 8 weeks to end of
February 2023 to ensure time was not lost to the Festive period, and to
permit a series of additional activities to improve the engagement approach.
This also ensured that Councillors in Hounslow have an opportunity to
scrutinise the proposal during the engagement window (the item was
reviewed at Scrutiny Panels in Ealing and Hammersmith during November
2022).

2. Additional public meetings/ events would be convened to take place in
Hammersmith and Hounslow, as well as in Ealing. These have been
advertised not only by the Trust, but in particular thanks to the efforts of
local campaigners and elected representatives on their social media

Page 182




channels, and in local news outlets including Ealing.News and Visit
Southall.

3. We have commissioned additional work to improve residents’ knowledge of
the proposals and improve reach into key communities including BAME
groups and are writing proactively to a wider cohort of inpatients from all
three boroughs who have been admitted in any of our Mental Health Units.

The extended engagement window closed on 28 February 2023 and the Trust is
now reviewing the feedback received.

Also in March 2020, 51 beds at the Gordon Hospital (provided by Central and North
West London NHS Foundation Trust) were temporarily closed to ensure safe staffing
levels and rigorous Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) measures for patients
and staff during the pandemic.

Since the temporary ward closures, Central and North West London NHS
Foundation Trust has remained committed to open dialogue across service users,
carers, staff and partners.

The Trust partnered with Healthwatch in 2021 to coproduce a citizen’s advisory
panel called The Voice Exchange to advise on the future model of care for mental
health provision. The recruitment of this panel was sought through direct
communication with interested members from the Healthwatch database.

This robust process, built trust, effective communication and maintained enhanced
levels of engagement throughout this work. Its purpose was to bring together a
representative group of people with a variety of experiences of, and views on, the
future model of care for mental health provision in Westminster and Kensington &
Chelsea.

The Project carried out nineteen focus groups and virtual drop-ins with service
users and staff. During this work they attended many stakeholder meetings,
including the Trust’s Patient Involvement Forum, the Westminster Partnerships
Forum, the Kensington & Chelsea Partnerships Forum, Young Healthwatch
meetings and the Trust’s Carers Council. The panel also spoke to several third
parties, including other NHS Trusts, voluntary organisations and the Metropolitan
Police.

Feedback from these engagement events was then used to facilitate reflection
sessions with 632 staff including senior management in February 2022, ahead of
the finalised coproduced report. The report was launched in a local community
venue involving both internal and external stakeholders. A summary of the report
is exhibited in local community mental health venues with the full report available
on the CNWL website.

The engagement process has included communication with the following
stakeholders:

» A series of open virtual Q&A’s for the public with Trust leadership.

Page 183




* Nine updates to Westminster Overview & Scrutiny Committee Meetings.

* Two presentations to the North West London wide Joint Health Overview &
Scrutiny Committees.

» Three site visits with local Clirs to closed Gordon wards and St Charles. One
site visit with Senior Leadership in the ICS.

*  Councillor Roundtable with Trust Executive Leadership.

+ Updates and engagement with North West London ICB and ICS and relevant
forums.

+ A series of internal Q&As for staff and updates at relevant staff meetings.

« Discussions with local teams including Borough AMHPs to understand the
needs for local service provision.

* Ongoing feedback via fortnightly forums with Local Authority Partners
including the local borough social care leads.

+ Bespoke meetings with the Local Authority Commissioner for supported
housing.

+ Engagement with Black/ African/ Caribbean patients detained under the
Mental Health Act (MHA)and presenting in crisis care pathways to hear their
experiences. Trust report available for reference.

The feedback from engagement work to date has indicated the need to reduce
reliance on the most restrictive interventions and work collaboratively and flexibly
in the community, further improve patient flow across acute inpatient wards, care
that advances Health Equality, joined up partnership working and greater reach
into the Westminster, Kensington & Chelsea and Brent communities.

As a result of this we have:

1. Opened the Mental Health Crisis Assessment Centre (MHCAS) in
November 2022 that supports improved patient flow.

2. Commissioned a data led project looking at the impact of detention under
the MHA and length of stay that will include BAME, Older Adults, Learning
Disability and Autism patients.

3. Collaborative Partnership Forums planned for March 2023.

4. Senior Community Partnerships and Engagement Lead postholder will
further reach into all communities to ensure all voices are included in this
consultation process.

These engagement activities continue to inform the work to develop a pre-
consultation business case in relation to the temporary closed beds at the Gordon
Hospital. Ahead of the launch of a formal consultation, Central and North West
London NHS Foundation Trust remains committed to open dialogue including this
body, service users, carers, staff, and other partners.

Page 184




Implications on service provision:

The enhanced engagement on the Hope and Horizon wards and the work
underway to develop the pre-consultation business case for service change in light
of the temporary closure of the adult acute inpatient beds at the Gordon Hospital
considers the potential impacts that any service change will have on mental health
care and treatment for affected residents. Full equality impact assessments will be
completed.

As part of this, North West London ICS is committed to eliminating inappropriate
adult acute out of area placements; based on unvalidated data, this has been
achieved ahead of trajectory over recent months.

Mitigations

In early 2019, North West London ICS embarked on a journey to significantly
transform community mental health services in order to respond to local needs and
deliver the requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan. This included ensuring
appropriate community-based crisis care (clinical and non-clinical alternatives)
alongside a therapeutic inpatient offer. Over 2019 and 2020, as an early
implementer site, North West London ICS launched a new model of community
mental health care. In addition to this, crisis teams were expanded to provide 24/7
assessments within the community, and a range of community based crisis
alternatives to attendance at A&E and admission to inpatient care were developed,
providing non-clinical alternatives.

Amadeus Recovery | Harrow step down units | Northwick Park Lounge
House

The Cove - Harrow . Northwick Park Hospital
Hilingdon Hospital N ; Core 24, 24/7 MH team
24, 24/7 MH ; ;
Core 24, 24/ team i G - - - - | Brent step down units |
= One Stop Access / Cove [ ] The Cove — Brent + Crisis House
QF - Hilingdon (4 beds)
= ’ Hillingdon step down unit [ St Mary's Hospital
R % | P ST @ Core 24, 24/7 MH team
——d 4 . © i
Ealing Hospital [ L
Safe Space MH liaison team —to be |- =~ = ° The Cove KCW +$Lss'z
. I Core 24 (end of 22/23) g L) g
’ Ealing Safi ! KCW step down units
West Middlesex 32:?% ate i | d |
Hospital ~ fo-- ! i Chelsea & Westminster
Core 24, 24/7 MH team . " R Hospital
Circle Cafe — Ealing (CYP) i Core 24, 24/7 MH team

Hounslow Safe Space Charing Cross Hospital
i H&F Safe Space
Expanding to Core 24 s
D Cris rnative Acute site

24/7 adult Crisis Resolution and Home Treatment Teams operate across all 8 NW London boroughs Wt

24/7 all age Mental Health Single points of access across all 8 boroughs also accessible via 111

BWW Mind suicide postvention senvices across all 8 NW London boroughs

Next Steps:

As part of our developing ICP strategy, North West London ICS is committed to
providing the people who use our services with high-quality care as close to home
as possible by strengthening alternatives to admission and shifting provision to a
more community-based offer in line with national priorities. This includes
expanding existing and developing new provision available within the community
to ensure that care, support, and interventions are available and accessible locally.
If there is a need for a hospital bed, we will make sure it is for as little time and as
close to the patient’s home as possible.

Page 185




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9

Report to the North West London Joint Health Overview
Scrutiny Committee — 8 March 2023

North West London JHOSC Recommendations Tracker

1 - North West London JHOSC Recommendations

No. of Appendices: and Information Requests Tracker

Background Papers: None

George Kockelbergh, Strategy Lead — Scrutiny,
Strategy and Partnerships,

Contact Officer(s): Communities and Regeneration

(Name, Title, Contact Details) Brent Council

George.Kockelbergh@brent.gov.uk 0208 937 5477

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1 This report presents the North West London JHOSC Recommendations and
Information Requests Tracker to the North West London Joint Health
Overview Scrutiny Committee.

2.0 Recommendation(s)
2.1 The committee to note the contents of the report.
3.0 Detail

3.1 The North West London JHOSC Recommendations and Information
Requests Tracker tabled at the 8 March meeting relates to the 2022 — 2023
municipal year.

3.2  The North West London JHOSC, according to its Terms of Reference can
make recommendations to the North West London Integrated Care System
and its Integrated Care Board, NHS England, or any other appropriate outside
body in relation to the plans for meeting the health needs of the population.

3.3  The North West London JHOSC may not make executive decisions.
Recommendations made by the committee therefore require consideration
from the relevant NHS body. When the North West London JHOSC makes
recommendations to NHS bodies, the relevant decision maker shall be
notified in writing, providing them with a copy of the committee’s
recommendations and a request for response.

3.4 The North West London JHOSC Recommendations and Information
Requests Tracker (attached in Appendix 1) provides a summary of scrutiny

Page 187


mailto:George.Kockelbergh@brent.gov.uk

recommendations made during the municipal year, in order to track decisions
and any implementation progress. It also includes information requests, as
captured in the minutes of the committee meetings.

Page 188



68T abed

Appendix 1: North West London JHOSC Recommendations and Information Requests Tracker

Meeting

Recommendation

D Item / Information Detail Response Status
ate
Request

Information To receive details in writing about what

Request the full business case may look like. Pre-consultation business case shared separately as a PDF.

Information To receive details in writing of the A paper was brought to the December JHOSC meeting for

Request consultation & engagement. members to review.

Recommendation That the NHS considers the best strategy | Complete. Consultation closed on the 21st Jan. Further
for the consultation to reach as many information going to JHOSC w/c 30 Jan and discussion
people as possible, utilising key partners expected at March meeting. Final decision expected at ICB

Elective across NW London. Board of 21 March. Consultation plan been to JHOSC
Orthopaedic | Recommendation That the committee agrees to the NHS Consultation began in October after being delayed by one
Centre at embarking on a full consultation that starts | month
Central on the first week of September.
Middlesex Recommendation That a clear reference is made to how the | Complete. This is covered in the decision making business
Hosbital findings of the consultation will input into case that is going to JHOSC.
pita .
the business case.
20 July Recommendation That the full business case is brought Agreed. Expected to come to March 2023 meeting.
2022 back to a later meeting.

Recommendation That the NHS provide an effective Part addressed by the communication strategy within the
communication strategy to clearly set out | winter plan and also picked up within the ‘we are general
the pathway from primary to secondary practice campaign’ discussions. The NHS runs frequent
care for patients and residents across NW | national and local campaigns on these issues.

London.

Information To receive in writing the detail of the PowerPoint shared separately.

Request engagement that has already taken place
on this issue.

c . Information To receive projections and real time data The document above covers both information requests.
ommunity .
Diagnostic Request of centres impact on a number of key
performance indicators, and how it will
Centres impact local A&E services.
Recommendation That communications and messaging are | LNWUHT are in contact with Clir Crawford (Ealing) on the

clear for local communities; to make the
distinction between the new diagnostic

programme




06T abed

hub and existing diagnostic facilities at
Ealing Hospital and other Community
Diagnostic Centres clear.

Recommendation That decisions made in regard to Complete. Public engagement is planned as part of the
community diagnostic centres are made process of developing the centres and we are happy to work
with consideration of new data. with councillors on this.

Recommendation That NHS colleagues help to facilitate site | LNWUHT are apparently in contact with Clir Crawford on the
visits to the Ealing Hospital and other programme and site visits for local OSCs. Brent officer
Community Diagnostic Centres where discussed site visit in early 2023.
appropriate.

Recommendation That NHS colleagues are invited to Agreed.
relevant borough scrutiny committees

Recommendation That consideration is given to local Confirmed. The constitution has been amended to increase LA
authorities having a substantial role in the | partner voting members from one to three.
governance of the NWL ICS.

Recommendation That a robust plan is developed for Complete and covered in the performance reports shared by

North West tackling current waiting lists in NW Rory.
London - London. .
Integrated Recommendation That a framework is developed for In progress.
monitoring performance of subcontractors
Care System Lo
in primary care.
Update Recommendation That a financially focused paper is Financial focused paper brought to October meeting.
brought back to this committee for review

Recommendation That an Integrated Care System’s update | This has been actioned, and is included in each meeting’s
remains a standing item on each agenda. | agenda.

Information The committee has requested to receive Word document shared separately.

Request the impact dashboard and timescales for

North West implementation for health inequalities
London framework when available.
Health Information The committee has requested information | PowerPoint sent separately.
Inequalities | Request on variance between boroughs and wards
Framework on flu / COVID vaccination uptake.
Information Information to be shared on pathways into | PowerPoint sent separately.
Request NHS employment for volunteers.




Recommendation That NHS colleagues provide an annual Agreed. The inequalities framework is overseen by a steering
update on health inequalities to monitor group chaired jointly by an LA CEO (Niall Bolger) and Trust

progress being made. CEO (Carolyn Regan). They will be producing regular updates
on progress.

Recommendation That NHS colleagues commit to Agreed and already happening as part of inequalities
undertaking processes of benchmarking programme.

and utilising best practice in their
approach to tackling health inequalities.

T6T abed

Primary Care | Information To receive information on the current PowerPoint sent separately.
Strategy and Request primary care performance data, and for it
Performance to be shared monthly.
Information To receive financial implications on the
Request use of the Additional reimbursable roles There is an acknowledged issue with our ARRS
schemes. claims, which the Primary Care contracts team

are working hard to address, equally there is an
issue with the ARRS data on the NWRS system,
this is because they allocate ARRS
roles under the Patient Facing designation,
consequently in part due to the low GP
submissions, something we are addressing and
the way the NWRS collates the roles, the NWRS
12 October data does not reflect the actual numbers. At the
2022 end of Q2 it has for NWL approx. 157 FTE
ARRS roles. In fact we have 697.17 FTE as at
the end of Q2.

To mitigate the issue with robust workforce data
for the ARRS roles, until we can rectify the
above issues, the Primary Care workforce team
does an internal scoping of the roles each
quarter, this is cross referenced against the
NWRS and the claims data . This was initiated
so we have accurate ARRS data and involves
direct contact with the NWL PCN'’s to collate the
information. This is to date the most robust




26T abed

ARRS data we hold. The roles per borough are
as below:

- FTE/ Borough
- 99.33: Brent
- 54.60: Central
- 93.10: Ealing
- 99.17: Hammersmith and Fulham
- 76.93: Harrow
- 95.90: Hillingdon
- 103.35: Hounslow
- 74.81 West London
697.19: Total

Recommendation To recommend that JHOSC members are | Community insight reports are published monthly on the ICB
proactively consulted with and have website
oversight of stakeholder and public https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/download file/298
engagement activities to share with their 1/182
networks. -

Recommendation To recommend that the workforce model Being covered in the NWL workforce paper at the December
is appropriately balanced in order to 7, 2022, JHOSC meeting.
ensure that patients are receiving equity
of care across NW London.

Recommendation To recommend that wait times for a This will be published from 24/11 and can be found here:
routine GP appointment are collected and | Appointments in General Practice, October 2022 - NDRS
shared with the committee. (digital.nhs.uk)

Recommendation To recommend that the education and Is being developed and will be available early next year.
communication plan for navigating
primary care systems is developed and
shared when it becomes available.

Accident and | Information For the committee to receive performance | We will share monthly performance reports which will include
Emergency Request data from the trust board reports, and to LAS information.

Pathways receive data on a bi-monthly basis. The

and NWL ICS will take ownership for providing

Performance - the dat?- - -

including " | Recommendation To receive clear timescales and trajectory | (From Daniel Elkeles)

London for when London Ambulance Service Demand and performance update

performance will improve.



https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/download_file/2981/182
https://www.nwlondonics.nhs.uk/download_file/2981/182
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/appointments-in-general-practice/october-2022
https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/appointments-in-general-practice/october-2022

€67 abed

Ambulance
Service
performance

Between September and November, London Ambulance
Service has seen demand grow across our 111 and 999
services. We have been at REAP (Resource Escalation Action
Plan) level 4 since escalating to this level on 22 September.

We have also been working hard to prepare for challenges to
come by bringing together three strands of action to help us
meet demand across the winter:

1. The first of these is to recruit more staff. After recruiting
1,074 new starters since 1 April this year as part of our biggest
ever recruitment drive, we have already been able to increase
the number of ambulances on the road by up to 20 to 30 a day.
We are continuing our focus on recruiting and training more
call handlers and dispatch staff for our emergency operations
centres.

2. The second set of actions relates to setting up more
alternative care pathways to give our staff and volunteers
further options to ensure patients receive the care they need.
This is based on the success of schemes such as our six
mental health response cars (where we team our paramedics
with registered mental health nurses), which are now running
across the capital.

3. Lastly, we are recruiting many more clinicians to our
emergency operations centres to ensure patients waiting for
an ambulance are kept as safe as possible and our sickest
patients are prioritised. As the Service is an early adopter of
NHS England’s Category 2 segmentation pilot, our clinicians
are in particular assessing these calls to ensure patients who
are most in need receive the fastest response. This approach
will not delay our response for patients who still require an
ambulance. Instead, our expanded clinical team will be able to
better direct people in need to the right care services for them.

We are also continuing to work with our partners at integrated
care systems and hospital trusts to address delays in patient
handovers to emergency departments.




v6T abed

As you will be aware, we have been working incredibly hard to
move to a new Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system,
known as Cleric. Our new CAD is being used by staff in our
emergency operations centres to assess and prioritise 999
calls and to dispatch ambulance crews when they are needed.
We are working with other trusts to help our transition to this
new system and have set up processes to monitor patient
safety and performance.

The introduction of the new CAD has meant we have recently
been putting the data we generate and record under a
renewed level of forensic focus.

This new level of scrutiny has revealed some anomalies that
might be making some parts of our response time data
unreliable and not reflective of our actual response times. This
is not an issue with the new software but a general reporting
issue and it is clear we need to look into our processes.

As an open and honest organisation with a commitment to the
highest quality patient care, at the Service we know that we
have to take action to make sure we are recording data
properly and are doing everything we can to reduce our
response times. It is imperative that our patients and the
communities we serve can also see a full and accurate picture
of performance.

To do this as quickly, fairly and transparently as possible, we
have commissioned an independent review, in partnership
with NHS England and our commissioners, which will be
carried out by an expert external organisation that regularly
works with the NHS. Independence and transparency are
important to this process so that we can check we are doing
the right things and can all have full confidence in our approach
as we move forward.

In the meantime, we have to continue delivering for patients by
doing everything we can to improve our response times as we




G6T obed

head towards winter. That will mean a renewed focus on
Category 1 as well as Category 2 calls, getting the most
effective mix of clinicians on the road, ensuring we have the
vehicles available, and improving our processes for dispatch.

Community Recommendation To bring a paper summarising emerging Rory Hegarty has spoken with Jane Wheeler who confirmed
based findings from the Borough Based this will be addressed at a future JHOSC meeting.
specialised Partnership’s self-assessments tools to
palliative the committee
care
improvement
programme
North West Information To receive information on the meeting Rory to send as part of the regular fortnightly update including
London Request schedule and agendas of the ICB and a key meetings grid.
Integrated other meetings in order to share with
Care System relevant stakeholders
Update Recommendation For the JHOSC to be aligned with the ICB | The fortnightly update from Rory should address this.
in agenda forward planning.
West London | Recommendation To recommend that a meeting is set up Meeting took place 7 December 2022 at Royal Borough of
Changes to between Ealing and neighbouring Kensington & Chelsea
Hope and authorities to ensure that information on
Horizon this issue is shared across boroughs, and
to notify members when this meeting is
wards
set up.
Information To receive the data validation figures on Monthly performance report is now being shared with JHOSC.
Request waiting lists numbers, that the NWL
system has sight of to be shared with the
JHOSC.
Elective Information To receive details of best practice in terms | Sanjeet sending what they have for NWL wide but don’t have
7 Recovery Request of Breast Screening uptake broken down | breakdown via borough currently but this is being worked on
December and Cancer by place for the NWL system. this year.
2022 Care Backlog Information To receive data and information on best Elective recovery / elective care is included in the performance
Request practice in elective recovery in regard to report.
North West London.
Recommendation To recommend that JHOSC members and | Rory supplied JHOSC with Sanjeet’'s (Programme Director —

community leaders are utilised to

Breast Screening Recovery Programme) contact details on 7t




96T abed

feedback and share messaging on Breast
Screening and elective recovery with our
communities.

Dec for any screening questions councillors might have.
Sanjeet confirmed they are keen to share messages, key
campaigns and pilot projects.

Information To receive information on how additional Sarah Bellman has shared the winter materials during 7t Dec

Request winter funding will be used at a borough JHOSC.
level, and what the impact of this funding
will be for our residents.

Information To receive more information on the Sarah Bellman has shared the winter plan covering this item.

Request collaboration between the ICS and Local Liz to also share winter plan paper.

Authorities on winter planning.
Winter Recommendation To recommend that JHOSC members and | Agreed: Sent winter messaging, performance report and
Planning community leaders are utilised as a way involving chair and vice chair in discussions about ‘we are
of communicating messages to our general practice campaign’.
communities and for the NWL ICS to
review the opportunities to tackle
inequalities together.

Recommendation To recommend that information on winter | Complete: Sarah sent to JHOSC and shared with local
planning is distributed more widely than authority leaders/CEOs. Noted the recommendation for the
local authority communications teams. future.

Information To receive information on how NHS NWL | How NWL is tackling racism towards its staff as part of

Request is tackling racism towards its staff as part | its workforce strategy:
of its workforce strategy.

As part of the Great Places to Work portfolio, the Include

(Workforce Inequalities) pillar has adopted a multi-dimensional

approach to tackling racism across NWL ICS, which

recognises disparity between white and Ethnic Minority staff in

North West their experiences and senior-level representation. This is a
London data-driven approach, which draws on insights from the
Vé(t)rr:tfgg;(;/e Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) to shape system-

wide interventions and seeks to address inequality through
targeted interventions focused on organisational culture,
leadership and structural processes.

A current priority is reducing bias in the recruitment and
selection process. To address this, we have rolled out the De-
Bias Recruitment Toolkit across the system, which is designed
for recruiting managers and presents a set of measures to




/6T abed

improve the fairness and diversity at each stage of the
recruitment process. The embedding of these inclusive
recruitment practices is intended to increase diversity of
representation at senior levels.

The ICS has also taken action to reduce the disparity between
Ethnic Minority and white staff entering into formal disciplinary
processes, by supporting system partners to adopt a just and
restorative culture, focused on rebuilding relationships and
learning from mistakes, in place of punitive action.

At a senior level, this cultural change programme is
complemented by the Building Leadership for Inclusion
Initiative, soon to be delivered with the ICB Board, which will
work with the Board members supporting them to undertake
their role as inclusive leaders, in recognition of their individual
and collective influence over organisational culture and
structures. This programme has a particular focus on systemic
racism and social justice.

The Include (Workforce Inequalities) Programme has taken
steps to ensure accountability for anti-racist actions at a local
and system level, by establishing London’s first independent
Inclusion Scrutiny Panel, which acts as a critical friend to the
Staff Inclusion/Workforce Inequalities Programme Board. We
are also fostering ‘Safe spaces’ across the system, through
the establishment of Freedom to Speak up Guardians across
Primary Care, and there has been dedicated work to
empower staff networks and amplify staff voice to ensure it is
captured and incorporated into system-wide decision making.

Finally, the Include/Workforce Inequalities pillar also assures
progression across the system against WRES action plans to
ensure sustained improvements to address workforce
inequalities throughout Trusts, Primary Care and the ICB.
Work is underway to align actions with Local Authorities as
well.




86T obed

Recommendation To recommend that tackling racism Bashir Arif has provided the paragraph above in response to
towards NHS staff to be included and the request from the JHOSC meeting for additional
highlighted as an explicit part of the NHS information relating to tackling racism. We include the points
NWL workforce strategy. he has made within our strategy as part of our NWL People

Plan.

Please also note that organisations have their own policies
that set out how racism is managed, whether it is from
service users or visitors abusing staff through to incidents
between employees. In summary, it is not tolerated, and
processes are in place to ensure full investigation and follow
up action is implemented.

Information To receive information on the proposed These contracts are part of an overall single with different

Request lengths of contracts as set out in the specifications for the services listed below — all of which ends
procurement update on 3.9 of the update | of the 30 Sept 2023 except ADHD which is currently not
report. commissioned with Harrow Health CIC.

North West There are ongoing discussions with the ICB and Harrow
London Health CIC regarding the future commissioning of ADHD
Integrated services, but no decision has been made yet.
Care System | Recommendation To recommend that the committee is In progress. Campaign hasn't started yet. Involving chair and
Update consulted with on plans for the upcoming | vice chair in discussions about ‘we are general practice

primary care campaign. With a focus
group of JHOSC members explored as
one of the methods of delivering this
consultation piece.

campaign’. This campaign will focus on how primary care has
changed, explaining some of the challenges and new roles
and helping residents get the best from primary care.

We also propose to run a deliberative inquiry on the future of
primary care in NW London.




Agenda Item 10

Report to the North West London Joint Health Overview
Scrutiny Committee — 8 March 2023

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme Update

No. of Appendices: 1

Background Papers: None

George Kockelbergh, Strategy Lead — Scrutiny,
Strategy and Partnerships,

Contact Officer(s): Communities and Regeneration,

(Name, Title, Contact Details) Brent Council

George.Kockelbergh@brent.gov.uk 0208 937 5477

1.0 Purpose of the Report

1.1 This report updates members on the changes to the committee’s work
programme for 2022/23.

2.0 Recommendation(s)

2.1 The committee to note the contents of the report and changes to the work
plan outlined in Appendix 1.

3.0 Detail

3.1 The work programme sets out the items which the North West London Joint
Health Overview Scrutiny Committee will consider during the municipal year.

3.2  The work programme of a scrutiny committee is intended to be a flexible,
living document that can adapt and change according to the needs of a
committee. The changes set out are reflective of this.

3.3  The work programme has been updated to reflect the changes to the agenda
for the 8 March 2023 meeting hosted by the London Borough of Ealing.
Where the estate strategy has been deferred to a future meeting. The
meeting’s agenda has also been updated to include two items: a North West
London Integrated Care System Update and the Elective Orthopaedic Centre
— Summary of Consultation and Proposal. The original Mental Health item has
now been refined and will focus on Inpatient Mental Health Bed Capacity
across North West London

3.4  The committee’s updated work programme for the 2022/23 municipal year is
detailed in Appendix 1.

Page 199


mailto:George.Kockelbergh@brent.gov.uk

Appendix 1 — NWL Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

20 July 2022
Agenda Item NHS Organisations Host Borough
ICS Update TBC Brent
Community Diagnostic Centres TBC Brent
T
Q
«Q
@
N Health Inequalities Framework TBC Brent
o
o
Elective orthopaedic centre — Central TBC Brent
Middlesex Hospital Business Case
NWL JHOSC 2022-23 Work Programme | TBC Brent

& Meeting Arrangements

14 September 2022




TOg abed

Agenda Item

NHS Organisations

Host Borough

Primary Care Performance and Strategy | TBC Richmond Upon Thames
including GP access

A&E pathways & performance. Combined | TBC Richmond Upon Thames
with LAS performance

Palliative Care Review TBC Richmond Upon Thames
ICS/ICB update TBC Richmond Upon Thames

7 December 2022

Agenda Item

NHS Organisations

Host Borough

Winter Planning

TBC

Kensington & Chelsea




20z abed

Elective Recovery & Cancer looked at
with pan NWL remit.

TBC

Kensington & Chelsea

Workforce strategy.

TBC

Kensington & Chelsea

8 March 2023

across North West London

Agenda Item NHS Organisations Host Borough
Elective Orthopaedic Centre — Summary LNWHT Ealing

of Consultation and Proposal

North West London Integrated Care NWL ICS Ealing

System Update

Inpatient Mental Health Bed Capacity West London NHS Trust Ealing




	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE
	A3.	MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 12 OCTOBER 2022

	6 Elective Orthopaedic Centre - Summary of Consultation and Proposal
	Appendix 1 NWL JHOSC EOC Proposal
	Appendix 2 NWL Elective Surgery Consultation Report

	7 North West London Integrated Care System Update
	8 Inpatient Mental Health Bed Capacity across North West London
	9 North West London JHOSC Recommendations and Information Requests Tracker
	10 North West London JHOSC Work Programme Update

